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ABOUT THE GROUP
FARAKE

ABOUT THE GROUP

TIBET WATER RESOURCES CO., LTD. (stock code: 1115) is a Chinese premium
drinking water company that upholds the mission of providing healthy, high-
quality, Tibetan-style products to the world. Since its establishment in 2007,
by virtue of Tibet's high-quality natural drinking water resources and Tibetan
cultural advantages, the Group is mainly engaged in the manufacture,
marketing and brand management of packaged drinking water and was listed
on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange on 30 June 2011.
The “5100 £2/22" prand under the Group is a well-known premium mineral
water brand in China. The water source located in the Nyaingentanglha
Plateau in Tibet at an altitude of 5,100 meters is the world’s cherished
compound-type mineral water source, not only recognized as China’s high-
quality mineral water source and but also China’s geographical indications
protection product(s), which have an extensive distribution network in
mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau. In the course of development,
the Group has further diversified its product portfolio and acquired the
business of premium Tibetan specialty beer in 2012. At present, a number

of well-received Tibetan specialty brands have been launched, namely
”Zhuoma Spring EBR" “Gesang Spring ’TE%JK”, “Green Barley Beer

" and “Tibet Beer x¥rsf=ay ",

By adhering to the most stringent quality control, we provide the healthiest
specialty products with the best quality globally. With our origin in Tibet,
we reach out to the world and are committed to being a world-class
premium drinking water company.
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OUR BUSINESS PRINCIPLES
RIMARBE T &

OUR BUSINESS PRINCIPLES EALCE S Y Ry
We are passionate about our customers, our people, our business and our  HFIUES - 8T « EH M REFTHEL
brands

We honour our commitments, and we value long-term relationships over BMBTAR  URAGEUREBENEER
short-term gain RSB

We value diversity, and we treat everyone with dignity, respect and equality ~ H{FIEERZ L UBE  BEMAFHEE
of opportunity RAEFEEA

We are dedicated to serving the best quality drinking water to the world BB M 2t AR & T KR




RODUCT PROFILE
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TIBET GLACIER MINERAL WATER CO., LTD.
BRIk RRABRAF
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UNIQUENESS e PURITY
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PREMIUM GLACIAL MINERAL WATER
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PRODUCT PROF
EmEN

TIBET TIANDI GREEN BEVERAGE DEVELOPMENT CO., LTD.
ARXtSeRmRRERAR

PREMIUM TIBET HIGHLAND BARLEY BEER
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‘ZHUOMA SPRING”
NATURAL DRINKING WATER
TERR ] RARKAK

‘GESANG SPRING”
NATURAL DRINKING WATER
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NAEH
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(appointed on 8 July 2022)
Mr. LO Wai Hung
Ms. LIN Ting
(appointed on 8 July 2022)

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Mr. WANG Dong

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. CHOW Wai Kit
Mr. YAN Qingjiang

INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL AUDITOR

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

LEGAL ADVISOR — AS TO HONG KONG LAW
Sit, Fung, Kwong & Shum Solicitors
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LEGAL ADVISOR - AS TO CAYMAN ISLANDS LAW

Conyers Dill & Pearman

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT

Kredito PR Consultancy Limited

Unit 303, 3/F., New East Ocean Centre,

No.9 Science Museum Road Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Phone: +852 2248 1188

Fax: +852 8148 8400

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit D, 23 Floor, United Centre
95 Queensway, Admiralty,
Hong Kong

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F.,

Two Chinachem Exchange Square
338 King's Road,

North Point, Hong Kong

Phone: +852 2849 3399

Fax: +852 2849 3319

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

WEBSITES TO ACCESS COMPANY INFORMATION*

http://www.twr1115.net
http://www.hkexnews.hk

STOCK CODE ON MAIN BOARD OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
1115

* contents of the websites do not form part of this Annual Report
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Dear Shareholders,

The Board presents this Annual Report of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 for your review.

2022 is full of challenges for us. The on-going COVID-19 pandemic over
the past three years has significantly disrupted business activities and
supply chains across all industries around the world.

China, being the key region for our products, has been deeply affected
by this pandemic as well, with decreased willingness to spend, volatile
incomes and a slowdown in economic activities. The implementations of
the various lockdowns measures, especially those in Tibet region, have
posed a variety of challenges for the Group. For the 2022 annual results,
please refer to the financial information and analysis in this Annual Report.

DESPITE CHALLENGES, OPTIMISTIC ABOUT THE FUTURE BUSINESS

Despite these challenges, the Group remains optimistic about the future of
the business and remains confident in the ability of the Group to navigate
these uncertain times and emerge stronger in the coming years. Since
December 2022, Chinese government has gradually lifted various COVID-19
control restrictions and social and economic activities have been returning
to normal. While we expect it will still take some time for the Group's
business to return to the pre-pandemic levels, we remain positive on the
outlook. The Group is committed to expanding its existing customer base
through business development and cooperation opportunities. The Group
is currently undertaking cooperation discussion with some new potential
distributors of fast consumable goods. Thus, while maintaining its existing
customer base, the Group is exploring new distribution channels to sell our
products and expects to witness an increase in customer orders during the
year 2023. With the easing of the pandemic around the world, and the
adoption of new distribution channels, the Group is likely to record growth
in revenue for the year 2023 as compared with that for the year 2022.

In order to further replenish working capital and improve liquidity of the
Company, the Company has carried 2 fund raising exercises in July and
December 2022 respectively.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
BURRER 1

At the same time, the Company has strengthened the accounting and
analysis of the operating costs of all operating projects and actively sought
appropriate and reasonable room for cost control, so that the increase
of management expenses and operating expenses could be reasonably
controlled.

A NEW JOURNEY AHEAD

In the coming year, we will continue to follow the established strategic
plans and continue to enhance our brands, insist on being product-based
and pursue further opportunities in various markets and distribution
channels enhancement. We will vigorously promote our products and
other aspects to build business capabilities, grasp market opportunities
and propel business recovery. Meanwhile, we will continue to optimize
our organizational structure and strengthen our team capacity building.
We believe that with the solid foundation established in the past together
with an effective implementation of the above measures, we will steadily
enhance the Group's brand influence, increase competitiveness through
product differentiation and continue to provide services to consumers
pursuing high-quality products. We believe that with these continuous
efforts and commitment in striving for the best, we will strengthen our
business and create new breakthroughs in the post-epidemic era, while
maximizing our shareholders’ value.

30 March 2023
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MERERTEUBHEE

Year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—-HLEE

2022 2021 Change
—g--f -T-—F g
Revenue (RMB million) WAAREEHETT) 312 456 1 31.6%
Operating (loss)/profit (RMB million) &% (E518),/ 78 (84) 37 N/A
(ANREBET) TE R
Adjusted EBITDA*(RMB million) HEESVITE REHEA (35) 109 N/A
B (ARKBET) NEH
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners AAEEE AESL(ER),/ (102) 47 N/A
of the Company (RMB million) MEAREBRET) THEA
(restated)
Earnings per share FREF| (K&575)
- Basic and diluted (RMB cents) — EXR#EEARED) (3.69) 1.87 N/A
TE R
Gross profit margin EF= 29.1% 419% | 12.8% point
BOE
(4
As at 31 December
Wt+t=B=+—H
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
(RMB million) (RMB million) Change
(AR¥BER) (AR¥EBET) -
Total assets BEEE 4,140 4,149 | 0.2%
Equity attributable AREHE ANELER
to owners of the Company 2,859 2,831 | 1.0%
* Adjusted EBITDA is not accounting measures under IFRSs which should be read in * SRR ST E N 8 AT RR O 3 BUBR B S

conjunction with Note 6(b).

WMERMATHO R REHE - FEME6(D)
— LR -

ARXERERAT | Fi§ 2022 11



—

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AND FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BHRERLFHBHE

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=T-HLHE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
“B-CE R CZECIEE . ZE-NE ZE-NE
PROFITABILITY DATA (RMB million) EfgR(ARSRET)
Revenue WA 312 456 493 721 881
Gross profit 7 91 191 215 404 480
Operating (loss)/profit me(ER),/ (84) 37 81 133 342
(Loss)/profit for the year EE(BR)/FH (102) 47 17 (745) 318
PROFITABILITY DATA (%) BFIEE (%)
Gross profit margin Yk 29.1% 41.9% 43.6% 56.0% 54.5%
Operating profit margin BEfEx N/A RE R 8.2% 16.4% 18.4% 38.8%
Net profit margin FFEE N/A TR 10.3% 34%  NATER 36.1%
Return on total shareholders’ equity RE G EEEGE N/A FiEH 1.7% 06%  NATER 9.2%
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES DATA EERERYE
(RMB million) (A\R®HET)
Non-current assets ERHEE 2,605 2,631 2,115 2,305 3,278
Current assets MEEE 1,535 1518 2,037 1,958 1,635
Current liabilities nBERE 954 929 1,280 1,376 1177
Non-current liabilities FnBEE 327 389 150 184 276
Fquity attributable to owners of YNZIE 2N
the Company fElh R 2,859 2,831 2,722 2,702 3,459
ASSETS AND WORKING EEREEECHE
CAPITAL DATA
Current assets ratios MBEELX 37.1% 36.6% 49.1% 45.9% 33.3%
Gearing ratios BRGREIE 21.1% 21.3% 25.1% 27.1% 25.1%
B3 -

note:

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENRE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, the Group continued to be committed to the development of
Tibet's water resources industry and beer industry, strived to enhance
customer experience and optimized channel construction so that Tibet's
unique and quality products could reach more consumers and potential
consumers.

In 2022, the third year of the ongoing spread of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the more infectious Omicron virus swept through Mainland China, with the
COVID-19 pandemic showing a trend of spread and frequent outbreaks,
and the Group’s business in key market channels such as airlines, hotels,
cinemas, restaurants and entertainment venues continued to face
challenges. In particular, since the outbreak of the pandemic in Tibet
in August, Lhasa had begun to implement static management and the
production and supply of the Group’s packaged drinking water and beer
products were suspended, which dealt a heavy blow to the Group's sales
business. Although the Group gradually resumed the supply of products
through closed-loop production in late November, the damage caused by
the pandemic to the Group’s production and operations was irreparable
and the Group's businesses in both the packaged drinking water and beer
segments failed to achieve the expected growth targets.

In 2022, the scale of the Group's bank financing in Tibet continued to
remain stable. In the face of the sudden impact of the pandemic, the
Group also actively utilized and leveraged the advantages of its overseas
financing platform as a listed company and successfully completed two
equity financings in 2022 and early 2023, providing strong support to
stabilize the Group's business operations and effectively alleviating the
financial pressure brought about by the impact of the pandemic and gained
time and space for the Group’s post-pandemic development planning.
The shareholders of the Company have demonstrated their recognition of
and confidence in the Group’s future development through their active
participation in financing activities and their actual investment. After three
years of severe testing by the pandemic, the management of the Group has
always believed that, with the return to the products as the cornerstone,
the enhancement of customer experience as the goal, the deep cultivation
of brand value as the guide, and the maximization of return for
shareholders as the core, the Group will be able to gather momentum and
plan for the future. With the release of the “New Ten Rules” in December
and the adjustment of the pandemic prevention and control policy, the
Group will be able to usher in new development opportunities.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

REVENUE ANALYSIS
In 2022, due to the reasons mentioned in the “Business Review” section
above, the total revenue of the Group amounted to RMB312 million,

‘

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBHRRAAT

8175 o B8
WADH
E-Z-F R LR RBOE TR
EHRE  AEENBERAESARKE3.12

representing a decrease of 31.6% in comparison with 2021. B BT —FTRT31.6%-
The revenue generated from our water business segment was RMB66 — KEBD KA BARE6,6008 7T * 18
million, representing a decrease of 55.6% in comparison with 2021. As [t =ZT = —F T T55.6% o @0 EATI + /A
mentioned above, due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the BQCOVID-19FI%%%bk%i‘%“*ﬁﬁﬁézzfﬁ
important sales channels of the water business segment, the sales of water KEmMMEERE TR ARHE
products have declined significantly, and gross profit has also dropped due fﬁ’%%m”“ NIBRER T
to smaller scale of sales.
For the beer business segment, the year over year change is as follow: EREEEBHE - AL T :
(4
2022 2021 % change
—E-—f —E-—F o 25

Volume (hectoliter) HEe (B7) 364,717 422,217 | 13.6%
Revenue (RMB'000) WA (ARETTT) 246,442 308,557 | 20.1%
Adjusted EBITDA* (RMB'000) FEEROTITE REHETE

(AR®ETTT) 93,037 142,420 | 34.7%
* Adjusted EBITDA is not an accounting measure under IFRSs which should be read * TR SR E 8 AT R 3 3EBIBR B S

in conjunction with Note 6(b).

In 2022, the overall gross profit margin of the Group was 29.1%, which
decreased by 12.8 percentage points when compared to 2021. The gross
profit margin of the water business segment was 11.2%, which decreased
by 30.3 percentage points when compared to 2021. The gross profit
margin of the beer business segment was 33.9% in 2022, which decreased
by 8.1 percentage points when compared to 2021. The decrease in the
overall gross profit margin was mainly due to a higher fixed cost allocated
based on a smaller sales volume, as well as a decrease in the average

selling price.

WEERBE IO EERE
—eRaE -

5 E2P L 6(b)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRRAA

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION COSTS AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

In 2022, the selling and distribution costs decreased by 44.3% to RMB30
million from RMB53 million in 2021, mainly due to the decrease in water
sales volumes, leading to lower transportation costs and promotion
fees. The overall decrease was also due to less amortisation expense of
intangible assets as a result of certain acquisition related intangible assets
for the beer segment having been fully amortised. The administrative
expenses increased by 3.6% from RMB72 million in 2021 to RMB75 million
in 2022, mainly due to the increase in headquarters related expenses.

ALLOWANCE FOR ECL ON FINANCIAL ASSETS

Allowance for ECL on financial assets mainly included the allowance for
ECL on trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost. The
allowance for ECL on trade receivables was RMB87 million in 2022 (2021:
RMB31 million). The increase was due to the slowdown in the collection of
receivables from customers that have been more affected by the COVID-19.
The allowance for ECL on other financial assets at amortised cost was
RMB2 million in 2022 (2021: RMB23 million).

OTHER GAINS, NET

In 2022, other gains, net was RMB18 million, which decreased by RMB8
million compared to last year. The decrease was mainly due to a decrease
of RMB8 million in government grants.

FINANCE INCOME, NET

In 2022, the Group incurred finance costs of approximately RMB38 million
and gained finance income of RMB35 million. Compared with 2021,
the finance costs increased by RMB2 million. It was mainly because the
Company started to recognise the interest expense of the Convertible
Bonds in March 2021, while in 2022, interest expense for twelve months
was recognised, resulting in an increase of RMB6 million compared to
2021, offset by the decrease in interest cost on bank borrowings and
interest cost on loan from third parties of RMB4 million. Finance income
decreased by RMB21 million, mainly due to the accrual at a higher annual
interest rate on other receivables from loan to third parties in 2021.
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SHARE OF RESULT ON INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD

In 2022, the share of loss on investments accounted for using the equity
method was RMB11 million (share of profit in 2021: RMB8,000). The
increase in share of loss was mainly due to the combined share of loss
of associated companies, whose losses all increased due to lower sales
volumes for the similar reasons above for our water business segment.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

In 2022, the income tax expense was RMB5 million which decreased by
RMB6 million when compared to RMB11 million in 2021. This was mainly
due to the decrease in profit.

LOSS/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

For the reasons mentioned above, in 2022, the loss for the year was
RMB102 million compared to net profit of RMB47 million in 2021.

OTHER FINANCIAL POSITIONS

As at 31 December 2022, investments accounted for using the equity
method of the Group amounted to RMB1,444 million compared to
RMB1,416 million as at 31 December 2021. The increase was mainly due to
further expand the sales channels of the Group’s water business, the Group
further acquired 18% equity interests in Tibet Life Water Marketing, at a
consideration of RMB54 million in December 2022. Prior to the acquisition,
the Group already held 20% equity interests in Tibet Life Water Marketing.
Upon completion of the acquisition, the Group held 38% equity interests
in Tibet Life Water Marketing, this was offset mainly by a share of loss on
investment accounted for using the equity method of RMB11 million.

As at 31 December 2022, inventories of the Group amounted to RMB107
million compared to RMB91 million as at 31 December 2021. The increase
was mainly attributable to an increase in raw materials inventories.
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As at 31 December 2022, net trade receivables of the Group amounted to
RMB190 million compared to RMB255 million as at 31 December 2021.
The decrease was mainly due to the increase in allowance for ECL of trade
receivables. The Group maintained regular contact with our major debtors
through meetings and telephone conversations and paid regular attention
to public information about our major debtors to understand the status of
their operations, their continuing business needs and the ways in which
the Group can improve its services. As at 31 December 2022, allowance for
ECL on trade receivables was RMB94 million.

As at 31 December 2022, prepayments (current portion) of the Group
amounted to RMB199 million compared to RMB130 million as at
31 December 2021.
prepayment for plant upgrade projects and purchasing raw materials.

The increase was mainly due to the increase in

As at 31 December 2022, other financial assets at amortised cost, net of
allowance for ECL of the Group amounted to RMB980 million compared
to RMB987 million as at 31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2022,
other financial assets at amortised cost mainly included the amounts due
from third parties amounting to RMB942 million and other receivables
amounting to RMB67 million. As at 31 December 2022, allowance for ECL
on other financial assets at amortised cost amounted to RMB29 million.

As at 31 December 2022, contract liabilities of the Group amounted to
RMB35 million compared to RMB55 million as at 31 December 2021.
The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in advances received from
customers of the sales of water and beer products.
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As at 31 December 2022, accruals and other payables of the Group
amounted to RMB181 million compared to RMB167 million as at 31
December 2021. As at 31 December 2022, accruals and other payables
mainly included salary payables and welfare payables amounting to RMB24
million, payables for value added tax and other taxes of RMB19 million,
amounts received from a third party amounting to RMB73 million and
other payables amounting to RMB65 million.

As at 31 December 2022, the bank borrowings of the Group decreased by
RMB33 million when compared to 2021, which was mainly because of the
net repayment of principal of bank borrowings in 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, the liability component of the Convertible
Bonds issued by the Company amounted to RMB309 million, compared to
RMB276 million as at 31 December 2021. In March 2021, the Company
issued the Convertible Bonds with principal amount of approximately
HKD380 million (equivalent to RMB318 million) bearing interest at the rate
of 5.0% per annum. Further details of the Convertible Bonds are set out in
Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements of this Annual Report.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of employees of the Group was
347 compared to 349 as at 31 December 2021. Relevant staff cost of the
Group was RMB64 million in 2022 and 2021.

The Group's remuneration policies are formulated according to the duty,
experience, ability and performance of individual employees and are
reviewed annually. In addition to basic salary, employees are entitled to
other benefits including social insurance contribution, employee provident
fund schemes and discretionary incentive. Other fringe benefits, training,
and share options, if applicable, are also considered by the Group to solicit/
retain loyal employees with the aim of forming a professional and united
staff and management team that can bring the Group to higher levels of
achievements.
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The Group provided diversified on-the-job training in the production
plants based on the needs of the respective positions and talents of the
employees on a timely basis. The Group also encouraged the management
staff to participate in continuous professional development trainings
which are relevant to their professions. Apart from induction training, the
Company provides updates to the Directors and senior management on
the latest development regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure their compliance with
and to enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
These include attending in-house training, seminars, reading handouts,
newspapers, journals, the Group’s news, industry news, etc.

The Group provided diversified on-the-job training in the production
plants based on the needs of the respective positions and talents of the
employees on a timely basis. The Group also encouraged the management
staff to participate in continuous professional development trainings
which are relevant to their professions. Apart from induction training,
the Company provides updates to the Directors and senior management
on the latest development regarding the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock (the “Listing Rules”) and other applicable
regulatory requirements from time to time, to ensure their compliance with
and to enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.
These include attending in-house training, seminars, reading handouts,
newspapers, journals, the Group’s news, industry news, etc.

The Group adopted a share award scheme in 2017. Please refer to the
section headed “Share Award Scheme” on pages 65 to 67 of this Annual
Report for details.

The share option scheme adopted by the Company on 7 September 2012
expired on 7 September 2022. Please refer to the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” on pages 63 to 65 of this Annual Report for details.
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GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio is calculated as borrowings (including bank borrowings,
liability component of convertible bonds and borrowings from third parties)
divided by total capital. The total capital is calculated as “equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus borrowings
(including bank borrowings, liability component of convertible bonds and
borrowings from third parties). As at 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021, the gearing ratios of the Group were 21.12% and 21.29%,

respectively.

MERGER AND ACQUISITION

In 2022, the Group acquired 18% equity interests in Tibet Life Water
Marketing, a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited liability,
at a consideration of RMB54 million. Prior to the acquisition, the Group
already held 20% equity interests in Tibet Life Water Marketing. Upon
completion of the acquisition, the Group held 38% equity interests in Tibet
Life Water Marketing.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

In 2022, the Group acquired PP&E of RMB6 million (2021: RMB6 million).
Regarding the future development and outlook of the Group, please refer
to the section headed “Outlook” in this “Management Discussion and
Analysis” section.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had committed to purchasing PP&E
of approximately RMB5 million (31 December 2021: RMB45 million), and
RMB16 million). The funding
sources related to these commitments are expected to be disbursed from

no equity investment (31 December 2021:

the Group's own capital.

‘

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWRN
ﬁfﬁtl:i?é
Bk Bﬂ FBRBRITER - TRK
Tﬁ%é’\]ﬁt AME=NEFRAEBERE
R EZ’S VBRI AR A B ARK FTR
[ IMER(BRERITER  ATHRKE

WA ES DM %’EH%M)J%@
FIoFTZA=T-RRRZTZ—F
TZA=1t—H %% E(JJ LR DRI
21.12% $221.29%

FROtEE AR

EZZT-—F AEBELKREARS,400

BrlBarEEMRInEeBEREEA

TEHEEE B2 KE T 18% MR o AR IEE
AEECRAARES 2 KEH20% K

T/Eé o RRWEETA 8  AEBRBOR LD

ZIKE 5 38% R HE o

EARE

E-Z-_F AREREVE  BERRX
BRARBEOBL(ZT-—F: ARK
60087T) - R AEBERKNBERNRE
FL2HAEEER R RO INEERIR
ZMEL -

ERMEE
RZEZZF+=ZA=+—H AKEE
RAEBEME  BEKEREHAARKS00
En(ZZ=Z—F+=ZA=1+—H8: AR¥
4,50087) UM EBABERERE(ZT
—F+-A=+—8: AR¥16008
TC) o BEAEFIEARANE 2 KRB S
BAREEEERRREN

BAREAKERARLE | F] 2022 21



—

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBNRRAA

CHARGES (OR PLEDGES)

As at 31 December 2022, (i) a bank loan with a remaining balance of
RMB100 million and bank acceptance note of RMB60 million of the Group
were secured by the pledge of 35% of equity interest in Tibet Tiandi Green
Beverage Development Co., Ltd. and 7% of equity interest in Highland
Natural Water Limited; (ii) a bank loan with a remaining balance of RMB98
million of the Group was secured by the pledge of 15% of Highland
Natural Water's equity interests and by land use rights of a third party of
the Group; (iii) a bank loan with a remaining balance of RMB82 million of
the Group was secured by land use rights of a third party of the Group;
(iv) a bank loan with a remaining balance of RMB100 million of the Group
was secured by the pledge of 20% of equity interest in Tibet Shannan
Yalaxiangbu Industrial Ltd.; and (v) a bank loan with a remaining balance
of RMB72 million of the Group was secured by the Group's factory plant
with net book value of RMB53 million and land use rights with net book
value of RMB25 million.

As at 31 December 2022, the bank acceptance notes amounting to
RMB179 million were guaranteed by bank deposits of RMB19 million.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group provided financial guarantee net amounted to RMB265 million
to an associate as at 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2022, the
guarantee was provided for bank borrowings obtained by the associate
in the net amount of RMB135 million and for bank acceptance note in
the net amount of RMB130 million. The period of the guarantee for net
amount of RMB160 million is from 13 October 2022 to 13 October 2023.
The period of the remaining guarantee amounting to RMB105 million is
from 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2024.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group adopts a conservative approach to cash management and risk
control. The Group mainly operates in the PRC with most of its business
transactions denominated in RMB. However, the Group is exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from its cash exchange transactions, which
are primarily denominated in HKD. To mitigate the impact of exchange
rate fluctuations, the Group continually assesses and monitors its exposure
to foreign exchange risk. During 2022, management of the Group did not
consider it necessary to enter into any hedging transactions in order to
reduce the exposure to foreign exchange risk because the exposure, after
netting off the assets and liabilities subject to foreign exchange risk, was
not significant.

PRODUCTION CAPACITY

In 2022, the annual water production capacity and annual beer production
capacity are approximately 300,000 tonnes and 2,000,000 hectoliter
respectively, same as in 2021. The Group will assess its production capacity
periodically and consider increasing production capacity to meet the
demands of future development.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has adopted internal control measures to monitor the
continuous compliance with relevant laws and regulations such as the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the SFO, the Listing Rules and other rules
and regulations implemented in relevant jurisdictions. Also, as the Group's
major subsidiaries are located in the PRC, relevant regulatory requirements
on the Group include PRC government policies and regulations towards
the mineral water industry, PRC laws and regulations on environmental
protection, PRC laws on regulation of manufacture and sales of general
food products, PRC taxes, regulation of foreign currency exchange and
dividend distribution, and other relevant PRC laws and regulations. During
the financial year ended 31 December 2022, as far as the Board is aware,
the Group has complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and operation
of the Group. The Group continues its commitment to comply with the
relevant laws and regulations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

In order to maintain the quality and safety of our products, we have
established a “water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers around
our water source. No human activities are allowed in the most restricted
zone and the spring source has been secured in a fully enclosed facility to
prevent any potential contamination.

Our production facility generates and/or discharges wastes including waste
water, plastics, papers or air pollutants during the production activities.
We consider the protection of the environment to be of utmost importance
and have implemented procedures for waste storage, handling and/or
disposal. The Group aims to minimise the impact of our activities on the
environment and requires our staff to follow the same principle. We adhere
to the principles of low carbon emission, waste and emission reduction,
energy and cost saving and an overall environmentally friendly approach in
the way we operate.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Board believes in being people-oriented. The employees of the Group
are one of the most important assets of the Group and their contribution
and support are highly valued. The Group ensures staff are reasonably
remunerated with regular reviews on compensations and benefits policies
in accordance with the industry benchmark as well as the individual
performance of the employees. Other fringe benefits, training, employee
provident fund and share options, if applicable, are provided by the Group
to solicit/retain loyal employees with the aim of forming a professional and
united staff and management team that can bring the Group to higher
levels of achievements.

The Group seeks to maintain good relationship with its customers. The
Group maintains an after-sales call center to serve the end customers of
our products, and the sales personnel make regular visits and/or phone
calls to the regular distributors and sales outlets in the market. If there is
any complaint from customers, it will be reported to the management and
immediate remedial action will be taken. Thereafter, the cause of such
complaint will be studied, analysed and evaluated, and recommendations
will be made for future improvement.
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The Group also seeks to maintain good relationship with its suppliers.
During the year, there was no dispute in debts or unsettled debts. In
addition, whenever the Group places orders, our suppliers are willing to
accept our orders.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board is aware that the Group is exposed to various risks, including
some which are specific to the Group or the industry in which the Group
operates as well as others that are common to most businesses. The
Board has established a procedure to ensure that significant risks which
may adversely affect the Group’s performance and ability to deliver on its
strategies, as well as those which may present positive opportunities, are
identified, reported, monitored and managed on a continuous basis.

1. Risks relating to our industry

The Group could be affected by change in consumer preferences,
perception and spending patterns relating to bottled water and beer,
particularly premium bottled water and premium beer. The growth in
demand for bottled water products and beer products in the PRC has
been driven in part by the overall growth in the PRC economy and
disposable income of consumers. Any macroeconomic changes in the
PRC that adversely impact consumer consumption for the beverage
products could have a material adverse effect on our business and a
decline in the market share of our products.

The Group faces increasing competition from domestic and foreign
companies, which may affect our market share and profit margin. The
bottled water and beer industry in China is highly competitive, and
we expect competition to intensify. Our ability to compete is, to a
significant extent, dependent on our ability to distinguish our product
from those of our competitors by providing higher quality products
and services at reasonable prices that appeal to consumers’ tastes
and preferences. Some of our competitors may have longer operating
histories, may have substantially greater financial and other resources
and may be better established in certain markets.
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2. Risks relating to our Business

26

Our reliance on limited water source represents a risk to our business
if the mineral content and quality of the spring water from that
source are adversely affected due to changes in the surrounding
geological environment or contamination of the water source. In
order to maintain the quality and safety of our products, we have
established a “water protection zone” of 60 square kilometers
around our water source and also adhere to a strict quality control
system over all our operations.

As a premium products provider, we rely heavily on the product’s
brand names and our reputation to generate sales. Any event that
generates negative publicity for us could have an adverse effect on
the product’s brand names and our reputation, which in turn would
affect our ability to market and sell our products.

Our water products are bottled at water sources in Tibet, and our
beer products are also manufactured in Tibet. Our business may
be interrupted or otherwise affected if relevant transportation is
affected, and thus resulting in negative impact on our ability to
transport adequate raw materials to our production facilities and the
transportation of our products from Tibet.

Financial risks

The Group's activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, cash flow and fair value interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance. Details are set out in Note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS OF PLACING OF NEW SHARES

On 21 July 2022, the Company completed the placing of new shares
under general mandate. A total of 459,898,000 placing shares have
been successfully placed to not less than six placees at the placing price
of HKDO0.425 per placing share with net proceeds of approximately
HKD194 million for repayment of the external debts of the Group and for
general working capital of the Group. Further details were set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 24 June 2022 and 21 July 2022
respectively. As at 31 December 2022, the net proceeds from the placing
of new shares had been fully utilised.

FINAL DIVIDEND

No dividend has been declared by the Company in respect of 2022 (2021:
nil).

OUTLOOK

Water Business Segment

The Group will adhere to the “5100" high-end mineral water brand
as the core, increase its investment in and construction of the “5100"
brand, leverage on the advantages of the “5100" brand, seize the golden
opportunities of the rebound of the tourism and entertainment industries
and the rebound of consumer demand after the pandemic both at
home and abroad, concentrate its advantageous resources, deepen and
strengthen cooperation with domestic and international hotel brands,
airlines and cinemas, optimize the supply chain, jointly provide consumers
with quality products and services, and continue to enhance the image and
influence of the “5100” brand.

While steadily improving the performance of our e-commerce channels,
the Group will continue to actively seek and establish more strategic
partnerships in the community and household consumer sectors to
strengthen the construction of the private sector channels, so that
consumers can enjoy our products and services more conveniently and
quickly and Good Tibetan Water can reach more consumers.
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The Group will continue to invest resources to consolidate and strengthen
its strategic position in the Tibetan water industry, join hands with Sinopec
and PetroChina, leverage on the brand influence and strong sales network
of EASY JOY (5%) and uSmile Convenience Store (E®RIFEEFE), and
increase its investment in the development of sales channels and marketing
campaigns to jointly enhance the market influence of “Good Tibetan
Water”.

Beer Business Segment

The Group will leverage on the geographical and cultural advantages of
local brands in Tibetan areas to focus on and strengthen the sales and
promotion of beer products in Tibet. While doing a solid job of selling
in the major cities in the Tibetan region, we will also go deeper into the
Tibetan region to establish sales sites and consolidate and enhance the
market share of the Group's beer products in Tibet.

As the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic subsides, the Group will invest
significant resources to seize the opportunity of the resumption of tourism
growth in Tibet, combine Tibetan specialty culture and product experience,
and make active use of social media and internet resources to enable more
consumers to experience Tibetan specialty products while understanding
Tibetan culture. The Group will also step up its efforts in the research and
development of Tibetan specialty beer products related to and beyond
barley beer to actively adapt to the new consumer trends and demands
in the beer market. While sharing the advantageous channel resources
of the water segment, the Group will also boost the development and
construction of channels around Tibet and join hands with water segment
products to bring consumers a quality experience of Tibetan specialty
products.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Please refer to Note 46 to the consolidated financial statements of this
Annual Report for the events after the Reporting Period.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. YAN Qingjiang, aged 53, is an executive Director and the authorised
representative of the Company and was appointed to the Board on 27
May 2020. He is the chairman of the Risk Management Committee and a
member of the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
Mr. Yan also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
He was a director of Tibet Galaxy Science & Technology Development Co.,
Ltd.* (FESR AR EERAB AR A]), a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code:000752.5Z) from March 2002 to September
2017, during which he was the chairman of the board of directors from
March 2002 to June 2017.

Mr. CHOW Wai Kit, aged 55, is an executive Director, the company
secretary and authorised representative of the Company and was appointed
to the Board with effect from 1 January 2022. He joined the Group in
February 2011. Mr. Chow also serves as a director and company secretary
of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Chow accumulated extensive experience in corporate management,
corporate finance, financial management and accounting. Mr. Chow
began his career in the auditing profession and worked at Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu in Hong Kong from 1990 to 2000. After that, Mr. Chow was a
key financial officer of various listed companies for over seven years. From
2000 to 2002, Mr. Chow was registered with the Securities and Futures
Commission as an investment representative. From 2001 to 2002, he was
the qualified accountant and company secretary of International Capital
Network Holdings Limited (stock code: 8004). From 2003 to 2004, he was
the deputy general manager of Oriental Investment Corporation Limited
(stock code: 735, subsequently renamed as China Power New Energy
Development Company Limited). From 2005 to 2007, he was the qualified
accountant of Guangzhou Investment Company Limited (stock code: 123,
subsequently renamed as Yuexiu Property Company Limited). Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Chow was the project manager of Top Ease (H.K.)
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Sociedade de Turismo e Diversdes de
Macau, S.A., from 2008 to 2011.

30 TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

EEREREEERE

BITESE

HELIAE 535 ARAMITEE RIXHE
RE RZE-_TFRA-+LANAES
@ HELEARREEESSTEMIERE
SEREMEEGKE - BEERITERER
AETHBRARMNES - BT =
AZZZ—tFENABEEEERFIES
R EMHARMBPIRREREROHAERA
B(BZEARSE - 000752.52) M EE » £ 1tk
BERN_EE _F=-RAE_ZT—tF AL
FTEER -

\

1]

FIEGRE 555 AARMITERERA
AMEREEAR R-T-__5—-A—H
MABEE - BRR_ZT——F_AMALE
B AEERTEERATETHELARN
BEERRAWE -

BEERTGEER  bXRE  UBEEER
SHAEBRTEELR - ALER NN
TFEE_ZETFMMARNERESET
B UHBREBNEHSTMERAT - B
% ALELCRZHELETARETIEENS
FTERLF R _ETEFE_TT—F
A ATERESFRNESHEREZESH
MERERR -N_TT—FE_TT—

A HETHEEBEZERAERRARRMA
5% 0 8004) &5 BB GEAR A AIME - K=
TE=FE_TTNFEM - HBLERMIEK
BEAB(BRMRYE : 735 ER SR ATEH
BENHMEREREAR AR AELE - N
TERFE_TTLFM  REAUFRE
BERAB(BRMAIKE 123 HE SR AHS
HERNABRAR)EEREEED - MAK
EHF BEER _TTNFE_T——

B ARPIRERERNARARETZEF
NAIRE(BB)ERAFIIBE LR -



‘

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chow is a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He
is also a fellow of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and
The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators). Mr. Chow obtained a master
degree in finance from the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology
University in 1999 and a professional diploma in company secretaryship
and administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic in 1990.

Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing (former name: CHENG Henry Ming Chun), aged
46, is an executive Director and was appointed to the Board on 25 May
2022. He is responsible for overseeing the business development and
merger and acquisition affairs, and legal and compliance of the Group.
Mr. CHENG has extensive experience in the areas of e-commerce, real
estate, consumer goods, investments, corporate finance and merger and
acquisition transactions and legal and compliance. Mr. CHENG was a
senior legal counsel in Alibaba Inc responsible for the legal and compliance
aspects of AliExpress, the international e-commerce platform of Alibaba.
He was also a corporate finance partner of two leading international law
firms, Kirkland & Ellis and DLA Piper. He accumulated extensive experience
advising on initial public offerings, corporate restructuring and mergers
and acquisitions to various parties during his time as a corporate finance
partner in these international law firms since 2013. Mr. CHENG holds a
Bachelor of Engineering degree in Mechanical Engineering and a Bachelor
of Commerce degree from The University of Western Australia. He holds a
Postgraduate Diploma in Law from The College of Law, England and Wales
and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong Kong.
He was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong.

Non-Executive Directors

Ms. JIANG Xiaohong, aged 65, is a non-executive Director and was
appointed to the Board on 1 March 2011.
representative of our major subsidiary company, Tibet Glacier Mineral
Water Co. Ltd.,
equipment and production site management. She has over 31 years of

Ms. Jiang is also the legal
and is responsible for the operation, quality control,

experience in operational management. She graduated from Xinjiang
Vocational University (375858 T X2) with a diploma in Economic
Management, then from Jiangnan University (TEKZ) (formerly known as
Wuxi University of Light Industry (% T XZ) with a diploma of Brewery
Engineering, and from Xinjiang University (¥T138 KX2) with a diploma of
Analytical Chemistry.
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Mr. XIE Kun, aged 44, is a non-executive Director and was appointed
to the Board with effect from 1 January 2022. He obtained a bachelor’s
(EEEZ

B%) (currently known as Chongging Technology and Business University) in

degree in economics from Chongging College of Commerce*

2000, and a master’'s degree in law from East China College of Political
Science and Law* (ZERBUEZR) (currently known as East China University
of Political Science and Law) in 2003.

Mr. Xie has served as the general manager of the legal and risk control
department of Shenwan Hongyuan Group Co., Ltd. (stock code:
6806) since March 2020, and the general manager of the investment
management department of that company since May 2020. He has served
as a director of Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial Investment Fund Management
Co., Ltd* (MBRUEXREEZSEERRA

in the shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the

Al) (which has an interest

Company under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance), since
June 2020, and a director of Hongyuan Huifu Capital Co., Ltd.* (&R

ZEIZIEARR AT since July 2020. Prior to this, Mr. Xie worked in the
Iegal affairs department of the Shanghai management headquarter of
EHFAREER

to May 2007. He had served at different positions ranging from senior

Hengtai Securities Limited* ([EZ=& A]) from January 2004
manager of the risk management department, senior manager of the
legal and compliance department, assistant to general manager of legal
and compliance headquarter to deputy general manager of the legal and
*(BRBEBFKRNAE
R 27 from May 2007 to May 2015. He had also served as an employee
representative supervisor of Shenwan Hongyuan Group Co., Ltd. from May

compliance department of Hongyuan Securities Co., Ltd.

2015 to May 2021, and the general manager of the legal and risk control
department of that company from May 2015 to February 2017. He had
served as the deputy director (headquarter general manager level) of the
compliance and risk management center cum general manager of the legal
and compliance headquarter, and the general manager of the internal
review and appraisal headquarter cum manager of the review and appraisal
department of Shenwan Hongyuan Securities Co., Ltd.* (B RRESAR
7)) from February 2017 to March 2020.
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Mr. WEI Zheming, aged 40, is a non-executive Director and was appointed
to the Board on 25 May 2022. He was a non-executive Director from 31
December 2019 to 30 June 2020. He graduated with a bachelor degree in
law at Xinjiang University (%758 KX2) in 2005 and obtained a master degree
in business administration at Xinjiang University of Finance & Economics (7
SERTACRE) in 2013. He passed the National Judicial Examination in 2009
in the PRC and was qualified as a secretary of board of directors in May
2009, an independent director in October 2017 and a fund practitioner
in October 2018 in the PRC. Mr. WEI was the deputy general manager
and the secretary of the board of directors of Xinjiang Tianshan Wool
Textile Co., Ltd.* G KRILEHBERMDERADEF) (now known as Dezhan
Healthcare Company Limited (ZE K@ERDER A7)
000813.52)), a director of Xinjiang Zhilian Qushi Information Technology
Co., Ltd.* FIBEMBZEEMRARA
Investment and Construction Group Co., Ltd.* (IR IMGRERER

B AR AR, Currently, Mr. WEl is the director of Dezhan Healthcare
Company Limited (BEXERKMDERAT]) (stock code: 000813.52), the
deputy general manager of Xinjiang Financial Investment Co., Ltd.* (¥73&
TRREBRAT
Xinjiang Kaidi Investment Co., Ltd.

(stock code:

) and a director of Xinjiang

), the deputy general manager and investment director of
* (FrEslaiR EBREE AR, a director
of Xinjiang Kaidi Mining Investment Co., Ltd.* (FTiBslEEXRERNER
A7), a director of Huarong International Trust Co., Ltd* (EREIFREFEA
JREE/A7A]) and the chairman and general manager of Xinjiang Tianshan
Industrial Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd.* (Fi@8 KILEE£KREES
EIEAHRAF]) (which has an interest in the shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance).

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. ZHANG Chunlong, aged 59, is an independent non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
and was appointed to the Board with effect from 8 July 2022.
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He obtained a bachelor's degree in mechanical engineering from Dalian
University in 1986, a master's degree in business administration from
Hong Kong Baptist University in 2002 and a doctoral degree in enterprise
management from Dalian University of Technology in 2017. Dr. Zhang
successively worked in the Dalian representative office of Standard
Chartered Bank, China Railway Construction Investment Company* (F 8
B pREERKE QT and CITIC Shenzhen (Group) Company* (F{z/RII(E
E)727]) and has held various senior management positions, with more
than 35 years of working experience in financial institution and state-
owned enterprise. Dr. Zhang is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Bankers and a Certified Credit Risk Management Professional (Credit
Portfolio Management) (CCRP(CPM)) registered with the Hong Kong
Institute of Bankers.

Mr. LO Wai Hung, aged 63, joined the Group and was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 28 September 2021. He
is the chairman of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
and a member of the Remuneration Committee and Risk Management
Committee. He obtained a bachelor’'s degree in Commerce from James
Cook University of North Queensland, Australia in 1985. Mr. Lo is a
member of Chartered Accountants in Australia and New Zealand and a
fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Lo has over 25 years of experience in auditing, finance and management.

Mr. Lo is an independent non-executive director of Talent Property Group
Limited (stock code: 760), and China New Town Development Company
Limited (stock code: 1278), a non-executive director of SY Holdings
Group Limited (formerly known as Sheng Ye Capital Limited) (stock code:
6069), and also an independent non-executive director of Shandong
Weigao Group Medical Polymer Company Ltd (stock code: 1066) and C
Cheng Holdings Limited (stock code: 1486) from 10 August 2009 to 6
June 2022 and from 5 December 2013 to 3 April 2023 respectively. All
the aforementioned companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Ms. LIN Ting, aged 53, is an independent non-executive Director and
a member of each of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management Committee and was
appointed to the Board with effect from 8 July 2022.

She obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial enterprise management from
Shanghai University of Engineering Science in 1992 and a master’s degree
in technology management in information technology from The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in 2004. Ms. Lin was qualified as a
project management professional by the Project Management Institute in
2014 and was awarded the qualification certificate of board secretary by
the Shanghai Stock Exchange in 2017.

From March 2009 to April 2013, Ms. Lin successively served as the deputy
general manager of the business development department and the general
manager of the information department of China Cargo Airlines Co., Ltd.,
and the general manager of the information department of Eastern Air
Logistics Co., Ltd. (a company now listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 601156.SH)). From April 2013 to January 2015, she was
the general manager of logistics product department of the information
solutions department of China Eastern Airlines Co., Ltd. (whose H shares
(stock code: 670), A shares (stock code: 600115.SH) and American
depositary shares (stock code: CEA) are listed on the Stock Exchange, the
Shanghai Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange respectively).
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Ms. Lin was an independent non-executive director of Hang Tai Yue
Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Mobile Games and
Cultural Investment Limited and Interactive Entertainment China Cultural
Technology Investments Limited) (a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8081)) from December 2015 to June 2016 and a
director of Shanghai Changxin Technology Corp., Ltd. (a company whose
shares are quoted on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations (stock
code: 430611)) from March to August 2017. She has been an executive
director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (a company listed
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8018)) since June 2016 and
an independent non-executive director of UJU Holding Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1948)) since
October 2021. Ms. Lin was a director of Shanghai Yuefu Investment
Management Consulting Co., Ltd.* (E/EHEHREETEZMNERQT),
a company incorporated in the People’s Republic of China which was
engaged in the provision of investment management consultancy services,
prior to its deregistration on 7 February 2021.

Chief Executive Officer

Mr. WANG Dong, aged 57, was appointed as executive Director on 29 May
2017 and further appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company
on 18 August 2017. He retired as an executive Director on 30 June 2020.
Mr. Wang graduated with a bachelor of laws degree at Xinjiang University.
He obtained a master degree in engineering at Wuhan University and an
EMBA degree at the South China University of Technology.

Mr. Wang is qualified as a lawyer of the PRC since 1989, a senior
economist of the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China since 2001 and
a practitioner of the Asset Management Association of China since 2016.
He also received the "“Qualification as an independent director of listed
companies” from the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in 2016.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

From 1987 to 2012, Mr. Wang worked in the provincial branch office as
well as the case management department of the headquarters and the
regional branch office of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited.
During the aforesaid period, he served as the department head of the case
management department of the headquarters, general manager of the
legal affairs department of the provincial branch office, general manager of
the risk management department of the provincial branch office, general
manager of the regional branch office, as well as the president of the
regional urban finance society and regional banking industry association.
In August 2012, Mr. Wang served as the head of the legal compliance
department at the headquarters of Guangdong Nanyue Bank and a
member of the law committee of the Banking Association of Guangdong.
From September 2016 to August 2018, Mr. Wang was the director and
chief executive officer of Xinjiang Tianshan Industrial Investment Fund
Management Co., Ltd..

So far as the Company is aware, none of the Directors and the chief
executive officer of the Company has any relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with each other.

CHANGES OF DIRECTORS' INFORMATION UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF
THE LISTING RULES

The changes of directors’ information required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules since the date of the interim report of
the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2022 are set out below:

(@) Pursuant to a supplemental letter entered into between Mr.
YAN Qingjiang, an executive Director, and the Company, Mr.
Yan's director’s salary has been increased to HK$1,650,000 per
annum (exclusive of the additional fee of the chairman of the Risk
Management Committee of HK$20,000 per annum) with effect from
1 January 2022.

(b)  Mr. LO Wai Hung, an independent non-executive Director, resigned
as an independent non-executive director of C Cheng Holdings
Limited (stock code:1468) with effect from 3 April 2023.

Save as disclosed above or elsewhere in this report, there is no other
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board now presents this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s
annual report for the year under review.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is firmly committed to achieving and maintaining high standards
of corporate governance practices to enhance shareholders’ value and
safeqguard shareholders’ interests. Accordingly, the Board has considered
carefully the requirements of the CG Code and as described below, has
taken actions to further enhance corporate transparency and accountability.

The Board believes good corporate governance is one of the critical factors
for achieving sustainable long-term success. The corporate governance
principles of the Company emphasize on the importance of a quality Board
and its accountability to the Shareholders. The Board regularly reviews the
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with the principles
and code provisions as set out from time to time in the CG Code and strive
to maintain the long-term healthy development of the Company.

For the year 2022, the Company has complied with the CG Code, save for
following deviations.

Under Code Provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend general meetings
to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.
Mr. TANG Zeping, a then independent non-executive Director, did not
attend the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 25
May 2022 and the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30
June 2022 in light of his retirement as mentioned in the announcements
of the Company dated 23 June 2022 and 24 June 2022 respectively. Mr.
DAI Yang, a then independent non-executive Director, did not attend the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 June 2022 in light of
his retirement. Ms. JJANG Xiaohong, a non-executive Director, was unable
to attend the annual general meeting held on 30 June 2022 as she was
obliged to be away for the Group’s other matters.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board leads and supervises the overall direction and development
of the Group's business and affairs, with the objective of enhancing
Shareholders’ value including making and approving the Company’s
strategic implementation, considering substantial investments, reviewing
the Group’s financial performance and developing and reviewing the
Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance. The Directors
are responsible for, and has also delegated to the chief executive officer
the authority and responsibility to oversee the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. In addition, the Board has established four
Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of references.

Board Composition and Diversity

The Board currently comprises of nine Directors, comprising three executive
Directors, three non-executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the
success of the Company by directing and supervising the Group's affairs.
The Board has a balance of appropriate skill, experience and diversity of
perspectives to meet the requirements of the Group's business.

Executive Directors HITES Non-executive Directors E#{TES
Mr. YAN Qingjiang BBI%4E  Ms. JIANG Xiaohong — ZEEI &+
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit EEHEESE Mr. XIE Kun Wk

Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing ##7R5E4  Mr. WEI Zheming BEALLE
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There are four Board committees in the Company. The table below provides
the current constituents of each of the committees.

Audit

Committee

ENZEY

Mr. YAN Qingjiang BEIEE —
(executive Director) (M7EE)

Dr. ZHANG Chunlong (independent KEREL Member

non-executive Director) (BUFHNTES) 28

Mr. LO Wai Hung (independent ERETE Chairman

non-executive Director) (BUFHTES) TE

Ms. LIN Ting MERL Member

(independent non-executive Director) (B FTES) 25

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TERERRE

AARIEFGRIMEZE S - TREMHRSE
EEeNEEREELEEeRMEENE
fiI o
Risk
Nomination Remuneration  Management
Committee Committee Committee
REZEE FMzEE REREEZEE
Member Member Chairman
g8 - £33
Member Chairman =
g8 IE
Chairman Member Member
IR g8 w8
Member Member Member
g8 g8 =8

The list of Directors and their role and function is available at the
Company's and the Stock Exchange’s websites. Their profiles are set out in
the section headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” which is
on pages 29 to 37 of this Annual Report.

The Company currently has nine Directors, of which three are independent
non-executive Directors, in compliance with the requirements under Rule
3.10A of the Listing Rules.

The Company has in place effective mechanisms that underpin an
independent Board and independent views. The current composition of the
Board comprises one third of the independent non-executive Directors. The
Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee
are chaired by independent non-executive Directors. The remuneration
of independent non-executive Directors are subject to a reqular review
to maintain competitiveness and commensurate with, including but not
limited to, their expertise, experience, responsibilities and workload. The
independence of each independent non-executive Director is assessed upon
his/her appointment and annually.
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Following the retirement of Mr. TANG Zeping and Mr. DAI Yang as
independent non-executive Directors upon the conclusion of annual
general meeting held on 30 June 2022, (i) the number of independent
non-executive Directors had fallen below the minimum number required
under Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules and one-third of the Board as
required under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules; (i) the number of members
of the Audit Committee had fallen below the minimum number required
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules; (iii) the office of the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee as required under Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules had become vacant; and (iv) the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee no longer comprised a majority of independent
non-executive Directors as required under Rules 3.25 and 3.27A of the
Listing Rules respectively. Following the appointment of Dr. ZHANG
Chunlong and Ms. LIN Ting as independent non-executive Directors and
changes in composition of Board committees on 8 July 2022, the Company
has re-complied with the abovementioned requirements in that: (i) the
Board includes three independent non-executive Directors in compliance
with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules and the independent non-executive
Directors represent one-third of the Board in compliance with Rule 3.10A
of the Listing Rules; (i) the Audit Committee comprises three members
in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules; (iii) the Remuneration
Committee is chaired by an independent non-executive Director in
compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules; and (iv) the Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee comprise a majority of independent
non-executive Directors in compliance with Rules 3.25 and 3.27A of the
Listing Rules respectively.

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy in 2013 which sets out the
approach to diversify the Board. Under the said Policy, the Nomination
Committee reviews and assesses Board composition on behalf of the Board
and recommends the appointment of a new Director when necessary. In
suggesting the Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee considers
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Nomination Committee will also
consider factors based on the Group’s business model and specific needs
from time to time in determining the optimum composition of the Board.
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The profile of our current Board members are as follows:
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The Board currently has an appropriate mix of skills, experience and
diversity that are relevant to the Company’s strategy, governance and
business. The Board targets to maintain at least about the current level of
female representation, with the ultimate goal of increasing gender parity.

As at 31 December 2022, according to the information about the
production plants and facilities of the Group’s packaged water and beer in
Tibet of the PRC, the Group’s headquarters, the marketing and sales offices
and our Hong Kong Office, we had 347 full-time employees, of which
197 were male and 150 were female. The gender ratio in the workforce
(including senior management) was approximately 1 males to 0.76 females.
The total gender diversity of the Group is acceptable and the Group will
continue to maintain about such gender diversity in workforce. For further
details of gender ratio and initiatives taken to improve gender diversity
together with the relevant data, please refer to the disclosure in the ESG
report.

>5 years

>56 *

EXQABERELRIRE  EakEBE
BREE MK EREZEE -EFENAE
BRELRFAABNNZERTKT &
R BIRRIEIERIFSE -

R2022F 12318 AEEERBFERED
BEKAKRE BN EERE RS - RN5%
BEH LHEREERER  RPEESH
ERMNEHER  BKME347E2BIES -
Hp 1978 4B 1508 A%t - BT(8
ERREERE)THMRILL A AL 12 B
0.76 B - REB R BRI ZHEMERT
DEXH  AEESEERFEHNETS
RIS - BRI PIRE— BB
A% A B 2 1 1) 2 45 M T R ER 9 £2 48 A J2 48
MR F2HER  HekELBRETH
®E -

BEEXKERERAA | F& 2022 43



—

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELRRE

Chairman and Chief Executive

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. On 8 July 2022, Dr. ZHANG Chunlong
has been appointed as independent non-executive Director and chairman
of the Board. The office of Chief Executive of the Company is assumed
by Mr. WANG Dong. The Chairman’s primary responsibilities include
deciding on the meeting schedule and agenda, formulating Board policies,
ensuring Board effectiveness, promoting the Company and upholding
the Company’s corporate governance standards. The Chief Executive has
delegated authority from the Board and is responsible for managing the
Group's business, including the implementation of the strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board.

Operation of the Board

All the executive Directors are responsible for dealing with the business
of the Group in accordance with all applicable rules and regulations,
including, but not limited to, the Listing Rules. All Directors (including non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors) have been
consulted on major and material matters of the Group.

The Board supervises the management of the business and affairs of the
Group, including convening Shareholders’ meetings, reporting their work
in the Shareholders’" meeting, implementing the Shareholders’ resolutions,
determining the Group's business plans and strategies, formulating the
Group's annual budget and final accounts, formulating proposals for
dividend and bonus distribution, and determining duties as conferred
to it by the Articles of Association of the Company. In discharging its
responsibilities, the Board meets and communicates regularly and acts in
good faith, with due diligence and care.
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The Board meets regularly to review financial information, material
investments in new projects, dividend policy, major financings, treasury
policies and changes in accounting policies, where applicable. All Directors
have access to Board papers and related materials which are provided in a
timely manner. Directors have access to the advice and services provided by
the legal consultants of the Company and/or the Company Secretary with
a view to ensuring that the procedures applicable to Board meetings, and
all applicable rules and regulations, are followed. Draft and final versions
of the minutes of Board meetings and Board committee meetings, drafted
in sufficient detail by the secretary of the meetings, would be circulated
to the Directors for their comments and record. Originals of such minutes,
being kept by the Company Secretary, are open for inspection at any time
upon a reasonable notice period given by any Director.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board determines to be material, the relevant Director will
abstain from voting on the relevant Board resolution in which he/she or
any of his/her associates have a material interest and that he/she shall not
be counted in the quorum present at the Board meeting.

Under the respective appointment letters, the current non-executive
Directors and independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a
period of three years unless terminated in accordance with the terms of the
appointment letters. Their appointment may be terminated either by the
Company or by the Director by giving three months’ written notice to the
other party. All the current non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the coming annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with
the Articles of Association of the Company. The Company has received
from each independent non-executive Director an annual confirmation of
his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of its independent non-executive Directors independent.

At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or if their number is not a multiple of three, then the number
nearest to but not less than one-third) will retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

‘

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TERERRE

ErerHidRes URIFBES #
BEMBAKE BEBR EERE E
FHREMSABROLE(WER) - EF
X RBRXHNERERETAAESE
B - ERAEMARRERERR AAF
WENBRLRYE - BREFSREF KA
BERRARROIDESET - HSHANE
AHEENEFSERREFRES RN
SHLENIREREREIENESEX
DHREER R - AESHELHNER
AARMERT  AIHEMESAELARE
BAREERNFRER -

EEELEERRTERNFATES
ERABEANTAER - KEEHREL
EEMREARSEAMENAHEFER
HEHERE  ETEHANRNETER
HAVETE AR o

RESREFAMTES LB LIFMTESN
ZEE RENZEUOR/Y=F - IR
ZEENGRIELENEREI - WENZE
BRI mARRSEAEREERY TH L =E
AEEBAMAL - FREFATESEIE
UFRRTEFHARALFAABEZARIRN
AROBREAFAS LRFERE - WBEE
- ARFCEERBUFNMTESRIEL
MARAE I HEEHNFRBLIERERS -
ARBERBHBBLIFNTESIRBILA
+o

EBERREAFAS L BR=1-—NEZ
(EEABLF=0EH - BINFKEOLES
PR=D—WABBEREE HELE
LRASLE=FRERRAFAE LRFER

— [

NN
i

/!

o

St

BAREAKERARLE | F] 2022 45



—

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERELRRE

The Board believes that the balance between executive and non-executive
Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide sufficient checks and
balances that safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and the
Group. The non-executive Directors provide the Group with diversified
knowledge, expertise and experience. Their views and participation in
Board bring independent judgement and advice on issues relating to the
Group's strategies, performance, conflicts of interest and management
process, and ensure that the interests of all Shareholders are taken into
account. One of the independent non-executive Directors possess the
appropriate professional accounting qualifications or related financial
management expertise, which meets the requirements under the Listing
Rules. The opinions raised by the independent non-executive Directors in
Board meetings facilitate the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices.

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional Development

On appointment to the Board, each newly appointed Director will receive a
comprehensive induction package and training provided by the Company's
external legal advisor, covering business operations, policy and procedures
of the Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations
of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/
her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant regulatory

requirements.

The Company updates Directors on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements from time
to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. The Directors are reqgularly briefed on the
amendments to or updates on the relevant laws, rules and regulations. In
addition, the Company and the Company Secretary have been encouraging
the Directors and other management to enroll in a wide range of
professional development courses and seminars relating to the Listing
Rules, Companies Ordinance/laws and corporate governance practices
organized by professional bodies, independent auditor and/or chambers in
Hong Kong so that they can continuously update and further improve their
relevant knowledge and skills.
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From time to time, Directors are provided with written materials to
develop and refresh their professional skills. The Company Secretary also
coordinates, organizes and arranges materials/seminars on the latest
development of applicable laws, rules and regulations for the Directors to
assist them in discharging their duties. During the year, seminar materials,
articles and updates relating to the latest development of the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements have been provided to
Directors.

In addition, all Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Group's
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and
each Director to discharge their duties.

According to the information provided by Directors and records
maintained by the Company, the Directors have each received training
with an emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a director of a
listed company in compliance with the requirement of the CG Code on
continuous professional development during the year:

(3
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Types of training

EHIE R
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. YAN Qingjiang E)-pasd A B
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit BREEE A B, C
(appointed with effect from 1 January 2022) (BEE-ZS-—F—F—BRER)
Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing B8R EE A, B, C
(appointed on 25 May 2022) (RZZE__FRA-+HBEZE)
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong ZREIT 7+ A, B
Mr. XIE Kun (appointed with effect Fii) e A B, C
from 1 January 2022) (ZEB=Z-_F—A—BEEX)
Mr. WEI Zheming (appointed on 25 May 2022) REALE A B, C
(R=—ZE-_—FRA-+HBAEZT)
Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Dr. ZHANG Chunlong (appointed on 8 July 2022) REEBLT(R-_ZE-__F+AN\BEZT) A B, C
Mr. LO Wai Hung ERERE A, B
Ms. LIN Ting (appointed on 8 July 2022) MEL+T(RZEZ_F+ANBEEE) A B, C
Mr. TANG Zeping (retired on 30 June 2022) EEFTLEE(R_E-_FA=THEMT) A B
Mr. DAl Yang (retired on 30 June 2022) BHEAE(RZE-__FA=1THREML) A B
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A: attending training and/or seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading seminar handouts, newspapers, journals, the Group’s news, industry news
and updates relating to the ongoing compliance obligations, corporate governance
and other related topics, etc.

C: a comprehensive induction package and training provided by the Company's
external legal advisor

Delegation by the Board

The Board delegates day-to-day operations of the Group to the
management of the Company. The Board and the management have their
clearly defined authorities and responsibilities under various internal control
and check and balance mechanisms. The Board delegates matters to the
Board committee(s), executive Directors or management to the extent that
the ability of the Board as a whole to perform its functions would not be
significantly hindered or reduced.

There is a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to the Board
for its consideration and delegation. The Board has given clear directions
to management as to matters that must be approved by the Board before
decisions can be made on behalf of the Company.

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and to facilitate effective
management, certain functions of the Board have been delegated by the
Board to the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and Remuneration
Committee which were established with written terms of references
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The adopted terms of references
comply with the code provisions as set out from time to time in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Board has also set up a Risk
Management Committee for the main purpose of formulating policies and
making recommendations to improve the Company's internal control and
risk management systems.

Each board committee is required to report to the Board on its decisions
and recommendations, where appropriate. Each board committee is also
provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense according to
the Company’s policy, if necessary.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee meets at least twice per annum, according to its

terms of reference. Its key responsibilities include:

a)

to make a recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor, and
where applicable, to handle any questions relating to the resignation
or dismissal of the external auditor;

to review and monitor the external auditor's independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standard;

to monitor the integrity of financial statements of the Company and
the Company’s annual report, interim report and related financial
results (if prepared for publication), and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them; and

to review the Company's financial control, internal control and risk
management system.

All three Audit Committee members (including the Chairman) are

independent non-executive Directors.

The Chairman of the Audit

Committee possesses the relevant financial management expertise and

experience. The committee members, together with our external auditor,

met four times during 2022 and discharged their principal responsibilities

by:

a)

reviewing the interim results and final results of the Group and the
relevant financial statements and reports and significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them prior to the approval by
the Board and reviewing the external auditor’s report and findings
relating to the work that has been performed;

making a recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment
of the external auditor, approving the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and where applicable, handling
any questions relating to the retirement of the external auditor;
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c)  reviewing the external auditor’s audit plan and terms of engagement
for the work performed;

d)  reviewing the independence and objectivity of the external auditor,
and the service fee payable to the external auditor; and

e) reviewing the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the
Group including financial control, operational control, compliance
control and risk management.

Nomination Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a)  to review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
on a reqgular basis and make recommendations to the Board on any
proposed changes;

b) to recommend to the Board on matters relating to the selection,
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning
for Directors;

c)  to ensure sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates
are provided to the Board and Shareholders (when necessary) for
them to make decisions regarding the selection of Board members;
and

d) to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

All Board appointment will be based on meritocracy and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
the diversity of the Board. The Board has adopted a board diversity policy
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of the Board. Accordingly,
selection of candidates to the Board will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience and qualifications, skills,
knowledge and length of service, having due regard to the Company's own
business model and specific needs from time to time. Taking into account
the Company's corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity needed in the future, the Nomination Committee
is comfortable with the existing structure, size, composition and diversity
of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will ask proposed candidates to submit the
necessary personal information in a prescribed form. The Nomination
Committee may request candidates to provide additional information and
documents, if considered necessary. The appointment of any proposed
candidate to the Board or re-appointment of any existing members of the
Board shall be made in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company and other applicable rules and regulations.

One meeting has been held by the Nomination Committee during 2022
and the following work has been satisfactorily concluded:

a)  reviewing the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board;

b) assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

c)  ensuring sufficient biographical details of the nominated candidates
are provided to the Board for them to make decisions regarding the
selection of Board members; and

d) recommending the Board on matters relating to the selection,
appointment or reappointment of Directors.

Remuneration Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s overall
policy and structure on the remuneration of Directors and senior
management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing such remuneration policy;

b)  to review and approve compensation payable to executive Directors
and senior management for any loss of office or appointment to
ensure that such compensation is consistent with the contractual
terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive; and

c) to review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference
to the corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board from time
to time.
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During 2022, the Remuneration Committee has met two times and
considered, reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration package of all the Directors (including the nominated
candidates) and senior management.

Risk Management Committee
Its key responsibilities include:

a) to review and assess the effectiveness of the Company’s risk
management systems, and propose changes thereto, to identify,
measure, manage and/or control risks;

b)  to discuss the risk management system with management to ensure
that management has performed its duty to maintain an effective risk
management system;

C)  to consider major investigation findings on risk management matters
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management's
response to these findings; and

d) to formulate policies and make recommendations to improve the
Company's internal control and risk management systems.

During 2022,
consider and review the existing internal control system. Management's

the Risk Management Committee has met once to

recommendations on financial management function were discussed,
considered and adopted to improve the effectiveness of the internal control
and risk management systems.
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The composition of the Board and the Board members’ respective
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HE-_T__S+-A=+tHLFE &

attendance in Board meetings, general meetings, the Audit Committee

meetings, the Nomination Committee meetings, the Remuneration

Committee meetings and the Risk Management Committee meetings

during the year ended 31 December 2022 were as follows:

(3

FENARRNEEAREFESHE - R
REBERBEEERH

AEg BRZEER
MEEeRREAREEZ

mF -

No. of meetings attended/held

BERBNLEE

BHE/SreH%A
Risk
Management
General Audit ~ Nomination Remuneration ~ Committee
Board Meeting  Committee  Committee  Committee BREE
34 kfXe EHZEE REZEE  FHzEe zEg
Executive Directors YiEs
Mr. YAN Qingjiang BRILE 99 0N - 1 0N 1
Mr. CHOW Wai it Sl i
(appointed on 1 January 2022) (RZB-=5-A—-REZf) 99 0N - - - -
Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing BHREE
(appointed on 25 May 2022) (R=B-ZERA-THAEER) 6/6 i - - - -
Non-executive Directors FuTES
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong ZBIGT 9/9 112 = = = =
Mr. XIE Kun MELE
(appointed on 1 January 2022) 9/9 20 = = = =
Mr. WEI Zheming RERLE
(appointed on 5 May 2022) (R-E--£TA-TRREEA) 6/6 i - - - -
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BUFH{TES 5/5 - 1 - i -
Dr, ZHANG Chunlong FRERT
(appointed on 8 July 2022) (RZBZZE+A\REZf)
Mr. LO Wai Hung ERIEEE 99 0N 44 i 0N i
Ms. LIN Ting (appointed on 8 July 2022)  MEX L
(RZB-Ft+ R\ BEEf) 5/5 — 111 - 1/1 -
Mr. TANG Zeping (retired on 30 June 2022) B4
(RZBZZFRR=THEM) 04 02 04 - - -
Mr. DAl Yang (retired on 30 June 2022) ~ &%
(RZBZZFRR=THEM) 44 12 33 — - 1/1
Average attendance rate TR 94.7% 75% 75% 100% 100% 100%
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During the year under review, the Chairman of the Company has held a
meeting with independent non-executive Directors without the presence of
other Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board has undertaken and adopted the responsibility for performing
the corporate governance duties pursuant to the CG Code and is
committed to ensuring that an effective governance structure is in place
to continuously review, monitor and improve the corporate governance
practices within the Group with regard to the prevailing legal and
regulatory requirements.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the policies and practices on the
Group's corporate governance, developed a code of conduct applicable
to the Directors and employees, monitored the Company’s legal and
regulatory compliance, organized training and continuing professional
development for Directors and management and reviewed the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and the disclosures in this Annual Report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the Board in
discharge of its corporate governance function.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining a sound, adequate
and effective internal control system of the Group. Our internal control
system includes a well-defined management structure with limits of
authority which is designed for the achievement of business objectives,
safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or disposition, ensuring
proper maintenance of books and records for the provision of reliable and
timely financial information for internal use or publication, and ensuring
compliance with relevant laws and regulations. In addition, the Group has
established risk management procedures to identify and prioritize risks for
the business to be addressed by management.

The systems of internal control are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, business risk; to help safeguard the Group’s assets against
fraud and other irregularities; and to give reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material financial misstatement or loss. In addition, it
should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper and fair accounting
records and assist in the compliance with relevant rules and regulations.
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During the year, no incident of serious fraud or misconduct was reported
from employees that had a material effect on the Company’s financial
position and overall operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has supervised and
engaged an independent professional to carry out an annual review of the
effectiveness of the internal control system and has received a confirmation
from management on the effectiveness and adequacy of the system during
the Reporting Period.

The Company has no internal audit function because the Company
has maintained an internal control system. The Audit Committee, Risk
Management Committee and the Board understood and reviewed the
implementation of the system and considered that it is effective. The Audit
Committee has communicated with external auditor of the Company to
understand if there any material internal control deficiency noted during
the audit process. Nevertheless, the Company will review the need for an
internal audit function on an annual basis.

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information: (i) the Company conducts its affairs
with close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information”
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission; (ii) the Board and
senior management are responsible for identifying and assessing inside
information; (iii) the Board, senior management and any relevant persons
who might have access to inside information must take reasonable due care
for safequarding the confidentiality of unpublished inside information; and
(iv) the Board is responsible for ensuring timely, fair and comprehensive
dissemination of inside information and may seek independent professional
advice if and when appropriate to ensure that the Company can timely
comply with the disclosure requirements.

MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The management team of the Company meets reqularly to review and
discuss with the executive Directors on day-to-day operational matters,
financial and operating performance as well as to monitor and ensure that
the management is properly carrying out the directions and strategies pre-
determined by the Board.
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MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries to all Directors, all
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the requirements set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2022. Specific
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of the
Group have been requested to comply with the provisions of the Model
Code. No incident of non-compliance has been noted by the Company.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for keeping proper
accounting books and records and overseeing the preparation of accounts
for each financial year/period which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and the Group as at the end of the financial
year/period and the profit and loss for the year/period. The Directors
have adopted applicable International Financial Reporting Standards in
all material respects, selected appropriate accounting policies and then
applied them consistently, and have made judgments and estimates that
they believe to be fair and reasonable. The Directors use a going concern
basis in preparing the accounts unless it is not applicable.

The Board acknowledges that a clear, balanced and timely presentation
of financial information is crucial in maintaining the confidence of
Shareholders in the Company. Reasonable disclosure of the Company’s
financial position and prospects are provided in the reports. Annual and
interim results are published within three and two months after the end of
the relevant financial year/period, respectively.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
section headed “Independent Auditors’ Report” on pages 85 to 94 of this
Annual Report.
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DIRECTORS' AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY
PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance for its Directors and officers covering the costs, losses, expenses
and liabilities arising from the performance of their duties. The insurance
policy is reviewed on an annual basis ensuring adequate covers on potential
legal action against its Directors and officers arising from the performance
of their duties and to comply with the requirement of the CG Code. During
the year, no claim was made against the Directors and officers of the
Company.

Article 164(1) of the Company's Articles of Association provides that
the Directors or other officers of the Company shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any
of them shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty provided
that the indemnity shall not be extended to any matter in respect of any
fraud or dishonesty which may be attached to the relevant Director or
officer of the Company.

SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for effective
communication with Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board and
the Board Committees, or in his absence, fellow Directors and other
management members will be made available to answer questions at the
general meetings.

Extensive information about the Group's activities is provided in this Annual
Report, the interim report and circulars which are sent to Shareholders in
a timely manner and are made available on the Company's website (www.
twr1115.net). Our website serves as a communication platform where
company information including corporate profile, corporate governance
materials, announcements, circulars, business news and financial reports
are made available to the public. All Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the annual general meeting of the Company to understand the business
of the Group from the Directors and senior management in the general
meeting.
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The forthcoming AGM is expected to be held in late June 2023. The notice
of the 2023 AGM will be dispatched to all Shareholders not less than
twenty clear business days beforehand. At the 2023 AGM, the chairman of
the meeting will demand for a poll and the Company's Hong Kong branch
share registrar will be appointed as the scrutineer for the vote-taking.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, an extraordinary general
meeting shall be convened on the written requisition of any one or more
members of the Company deposited at the registered office specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by such Shareholders, provided that
such Shareholders held at the date of deposit of the written requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company as at the
date of deposit which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. If the Directors do not within twenty-one days from the
date of deposit of the requisition duly proceed to convene the meeting,
the Shareholders themselves may convene the general meeting in the same
manner, as nearly as possible, as those meetings which may be convened
by the Directors, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the Shareholders
as a result of the failure of the Directors in convening the said meeting
shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company
to convene a general meeting following the procedures set out in the
preceding paragraph. As regards the nomination of a person as a Director,
please refer to the procedures available on the website of the Company.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by mail in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit D, 23" Floor, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty,
Hong Kong.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

To ensure investors have a better understanding of the Group, our
management is pro-active in its investor relations initiatives. Our Directors,
management team and the investor relations officers communicate with
research analysts and institutional investors on an on-going basis after
our results announcements and participate in non-deal roadshows to
communicate the Company's financial performance and business strategy.
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Having considered the multiple channels of communication in place
providing Shareholders and investment community with information about
the latest development of the Group in a timely manner, and that the
Company has established a range of communication channels between
itself and its Shareholders, investors and other stakeholders to allow the
Company to receive feedback effectively, the Board is satisfied that the
shareholders communication policy has been properly implemented during
2022 and is effective.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall consider a
number of conditions and factors and maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future business development.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there had been no change to the Company’s constitutional
documents.

The existing memorandum and articles of association of the Company
is available on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

The Board proposes that certain amendments (the “Proposed
Amendments”) be made to the existing memorandum and articles of
association of the Company (the “Existing M&A") by way of adoption
of amended and restated memorandum and articles of association (the
“New M&A") in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, the Existing
M&A to, among others things, (i) bring the Existing M&A in line with the
relevant requirements of the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the
Listing Rules, including but not limited to the Core Shareholder Protection
Standards set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules; (i) allow the Company
to convene and hold hybrid or electronic general meetings and provide
flexibility to the Company in relation to the conduct of general meetings;
and (iii) make consequential and other housekeeping amendments.

The adoption of the New M&A is subject to the approval of the
Shareholders by way of a special resolution at the 2023 AGM and will take
effect from the conclusion of the 2023 AGM. A circular containing, among
other things, details of the Proposed Amendments will be despatched to
the Shareholders in due course.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chow Wai Kit is a fellow member of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and was appointed on a full-time basis as the
Company Secretary. During the year ended 31 December 2022, Mr. Chow
has taken not less than 15 hours of appropriate professional training to
update his skills and knowledge as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. Mr. Chow reports to the Chairman/Board on Board governance
matters and is responsible for ensuring that Board policies and procedures
are followed. All Board members have access to the Company’s legal
consultant’s and his advice and services. He arranges the comprehensive
and tailored induction program for new Directors prior to their
appointment and provides timely updates to the Directors on relevant new
legislation or regulatory requirements. Director training has been organized
on a reqgular basis by the Company Secretary to assist Directors’ continuous
professional development.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

HLB has been re-appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect from
the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30
June 2022 to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company. The Audit Committee is mandated to review
and monitor the independence of the auditor to ensure objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process of the financial statements in accordance
with applicable standards. Members of the Audit Committee were of the
view that the Company’s auditor, HLB, is independent and recommended
to the Board to re-appoint it as the Company’s auditor at the 2023 AGM.
For the year, the fees paid/payable to the Company's auditor in respect of
audit and non-audit services provided to the Group are set out below:
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2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—fF
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFTT
Audit services B R 1,973 1,707
Non-audit services B R 172 166
2,145 1,873

Disclaimer REBH

The contents of this section headed “Shareholders’ Rights” are for reference and
disclosure compliance purposes only. The information does not represent and should not
be regarded as legal or other professional advice from the Company to the Shareholders.
Shareholders should seek their own independent legal or other professional advice as
to their rights as Shareholders. The Company disclaims all liabilities and losses incurred
by its Shareholders in reliance on any contents of this section headed “Shareholders’
Rights”.
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The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements on page 103 of this Annual Report. There were no significant
changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the financial
year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 is
set out in the sections headed “Letter to Shareholders” and “Management
Discussion & Analysis” on pages 8 to 10 and pages 13 to 28 of this Annual
Report respectively. Description of the principal risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group are set out in the “Management Discussion & Analysis”
section and Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements on page 25 to
26 and pages 183 to 202 of this Annual Report, respectively.

In addition, discussions on the Group's environmental policies and
performance, compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have
a significant impact on the Group and an account of the Group's key
relationships with its employees, customers and suppliers are set out in the
“Management Discussion & Analysis” section on pages 24 to 25 of this
Annual Report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement
of comprehensive income on pages 95 to 96 of this Annual Report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year 2022.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 12 of this Annual Report.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of the movements during the year in the land use rights and PP&E
of the Group are set out in Notes 15 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively on pages 222 to 226 of this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements on page 269 of this Annual Report.

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings as at 31 December 2022 are set out in Note
33 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 262 to 266 of this
Annual Report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”) on 7 September 2012. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme
is to enable the Board, at its discretion, to grant options to selected
eligible participants to motivate them and to optimise their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group.

The Board may, at its discretion, grant options pursuant to the Share
Option Scheme to directors (including independent non-executive directors)
of the Group, employees of the Group and other persons the Board
considers have contributed or will contribute to the Group. In general, the
maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company as at the adoption date of the Share
Option Scheme, unless otherwise approved by the Shareholders in general
meeting and/or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules.
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The Company granted 25,200,000 share options for the subscription of
25,200,000 shares of the Company on 16 December 2015. However, these
share options had lapsed on 31 December 2018.

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options under the Share Option Scheme to each eligible participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company, unless with the prior approval from the Shareholders and with such
participant and his associates abstaining from voting. Options granted to any
Director or substantial Shareholder, or any of their respective associates, shall
be subject to the prior approval of the independent non-executive Directors
(excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the grantee). Where
any option granted to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director, or any of their respective associates, would result in the
shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already granted
and to be granted to such person in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant, (i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the issued
share capital of the Company; and (ii) having an aggregate value, based
on the closing price of the shares on the date of each grant, in excess of
HKD5 million, such grant of options shall be subject to prior approval of the
Shareholders in general meeting by way of poll.

An offer of a grant of an option under the Share Option Scheme shall
remain open for acceptance for no more than 14 days from the offer
date. Upon acceptance of the option, the grantee shall pay HKD1 to the
Company as consideration for the grant. Options may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during
a period determined by the Board which shall not exceed 10 years from
the date of grant. Though there is no general requirement on the minimum
period for which an option must be held or the performance targets which
must be achieved before an option can be exercised under the terms of the
Share Option Scheme, the Board may offer to grant any options subject to
such terms and conditions in relation to the minimum period of the options
to be held and/or the performance targets to be achieved before such
option can be exercised and/or any other terms as the Board may determine
in its absolute discretion. The subscription price shall be determined by
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the Board in its absolute discretion, and in any event shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date, (ii) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the offer
date, and (iii) the nominal value of a share. No option may be granted
more than ten years after the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme
(i.e. 7 September 2012). Subject to earlier termination by the Company in
general meeting or by the Board, the Share Option Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of ten years from the adoption date.

As at the beginning of the financial year ended 31 December 2022,
options to subscribe for 256,889,300 shares were available for grant under
the Share Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme has expired on 7 September 2022. As at 31
December 2022, no options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme.

There was no share option granted, exercised, lapsed, cancelled or
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme during the year. No share was
available for issue under the Share Option Scheme as at the date of this
report.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Group adopted a share award scheme in 2017 (the “Share Award
Scheme”). Up to 31 December 2022, no share has been granted by the
Group to any parties under the Share Award Scheme.

The purposes of the Share Award Scheme are to (i) encourage or facilitate
the holding of shares by the selected participants; (ii) encourage and retain
certain individuals to work with the Group; and (iii) provide incentive for
the selected participants to achieve performance goals.
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The Board may at its absolute discretion select any eligible participant
(including directors (including independent non-executive directors) of the
Group, employees of the Group and other persons the Board considers
have contributed or will contribute to the Group) to be a selected
participant and (a) grant new shares to be issued and allotted by the
Company under its available general mandate to such selected participant
or (b) grant existing shares to be purchased by the Company from the
market to such selected participant.

In any financial year during the scheme period, the maximum number of
shares to be subscribed for and/or purchased by the trustee appointed
for the administration of the Share Award Scheme pursuant to the Share
Award Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the beginning of such relevant financial year.

On each occasion when the Board instructs the trustee to purchase shares
on the Stock Exchange, it shall specify the maximum amount of funds to
be used and the range of prices at which such shares are to be purchased.
The Trustee may not incur more than the maximum amount of funds
or purchase any shares at a price falling outside the range of prices so
specified unless with the prior written consent of the Board. The trustee
shall purchase such maximum board lot of shares at the prevailing market
price according to the Board's instructions.

At the beginning of the financial year ended 31 December 2022, the
Company had 2,599,493,000 shares in issue. No share had been granted
under the Share Award Scheme during such financial year. Therefore,
259,949,300 shares were available for grant under the Share Award
Scheme at the beginning and the end of the financial year ended 31
December 2022.

At the beginning of the financial year ending 31 December 2023, the
Company had 3,059,391,000 shares in issue and no share has been
granted under the Share Award Scheme up to the date of this report.
Therefore, 305,939,100 shares, representing 7.5% of the issued shares of
the Company as at the date of this report, were available for grant under
the Share Award Scheme as at the date of this report.
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Where any award of grant to a selected participant would result in the
aggregate of (a) the number of grant shares underlying all grants (whether
vested or not) and (b) the number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options (whether exercised or outstanding) under any share
option scheme adopted by the Company from time to time, granted to such
selected participant in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of award of such grant exceeding 1% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of award of such grant, the grant shall be subject
to approval by the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting.
Where any grant is proposed to be made to a selected participant who is a
director, chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or any
of their respective associates or any other connected person, such grant
must first be approved by the independent non-executive directors of the
Company (excluding any independent non-executive director to whom the
grant is proposed to be made).

The Board may from time to time while the Share Award Scheme is in force
determine any vesting criteria or periods for the grant shares to be vested
or credited, and such other restrictions or conditions in respect thereof as
the Board may in its discretion determine to be appropriate.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board, the
Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on the adoption date being 18 August 2017.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles
of Association or the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s
place of incorporation.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, the accumulated deficits of the Company
amounted to RMB235 million (31 December 2021: RMB178 million). As
at 31 December 2022, the share premium of the Company, amounting to
RMB1,407 million (31 December 2021: RMB1,244 million), is distributable
to Shareholders subject to the solvency test and the sanction of an ordinary
resolution.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
shares.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. YAN Qingjiang

Mr. CHOW Wai Kit

Mr. CHENG Gwan Sing
(appointed on 25 May 2022)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. JIANG Xiaohong
Mr. XIE Kun
Mr. WEI Zheming
(appointed on 25 May 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. ZHANG Chunlong (Chairman)
(appointed on 8 July 2022)
Mr. LO Wai Hung
Ms. LIN Ting
(appointed on 8 July 2022)
Mr. TANG Zeping
(retired on 30 June 2022)
Mr. DAI Yang
(retired on 30 June 2022)

Details of the retiring Directors to be re-elected at the 2023 AGM will be
set out in the circular to the Shareholders to be dispatched before the
2023 AGM.

DIRECTORS' PROFILES

The profiles of the Directors are set out on pages 29 to 37 of this Annual
Report.
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DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS ESENRESY

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 2023 AGM has a  HREE _Z-_-FREAFAS LFEN
service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one year  EEHEIEALEEE—FANAIEFTE

without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation). BOEEBERMNBBEALTRIENRES
7 o
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN SHARES EERTETHAEBRROPHES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors RZZE-—F+=-A=+—H '  EEIEARQ
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and ~ AIEZ1TEABRARQ A K& E G AE (%
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the — EFHNMEIEEHIEXVIHEE)OKH - 1
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which are required to be recorded in  FBARD RE#EBEDHEEREZESF LS KD
the register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or  E 3525 FERARAFE 2 RaL
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model — $ESiiRIBIZETRIBHE AR R MEL T2

Code were as follows: BmlRBIT -
Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company: ARARD RAABRHETE
( 4
No. of Approximate
No. of nil-paid percentage of
Capacity/Nature ordinary rights shares shareholding
Name of Director of interest shares held (Note 1) Total (Note 2)
REBRAAR IREERLA
P BRH&AE BOL
EEnA 55 EEME HEBERHE (BEE1) st (BfaE2 )
Mr. CHOW Wai Kit Beneficial owner 1,000 333 1,333 0.00003
BEGERE BERBEBA
Notes: BT -

(1) On 21 December 2022, the Company issued nil-paid rights shares to qualifying 1 R-E-—F+-F-+—H0 AQERE

shareholders pursuant to a rights issue on the basis of 1 rights share for every 3 BRERAE=RBERMNEE —REBRRHS
existing shares. Such nil-paid rights shares were to be accepted by 9 January 2023. ERETHHERBRME ERRRBITREBBMK

BRI - HERBRAERBS R
—=E-BABRZAEM -

(2)  Based on 4,079,188,000 shares (being the aggregate of (a) 3,059,391,000 issued (2)  LA4,079,188,000 & % 15 (BN (a) 72 B2 5 42 1)

shares in the Company immediately before the offer of the rights shares and (b) BB Z 49 2 I AR 7 3,059,391,000 Bk 2 3

1,019,797,000 new shares issued upon the completion of the rights issue on AR RZORZF_=F—A=THTKH

30 January 2023), which is taken to be the number of the issued shares in the R 5B 1T#9 1,019,797,000 BT B 19 R 48 A0 )

Company as at 31 December 2022 for the purpose of disclosure of interest by HE - BREZRERTHRAEREESLH

directors and chief executives under the SFO. ERUIEEEETE  ZROBEERAAR
RAIRZZEZZF+-A=+—BMBET
REE o
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DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE REZBSRHERABRRNEFIRERES

SECURITIES AND FUTURES ORDINANCE

WZZZZF+-_A=+—8" FIALR
BEEARHEEIEIB6IER[EARAD
BT E M ER M SR AR 75 sk AR R AL

As at 31 December 2022, the following persons had an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section

336 of the SFO:

HRREERESAR

(3
Approximate
Number of  percentage of
Long/short shares/ shareholding
Name position Capacity underlying shares (Note 1)
REFNEDLL
#E/ AR HE/ /%R 54 B/ HEERANEE GER)
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited Long position Beneficial owner 462,400,740 15.11%
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited 55-) ERBAA 462,400,740 15.11%
Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 15.11%
Fund Limited Partnership (Note 2) corporation
ERRMRL-FERREECERSE e REEENER 462,400,740 15.11%
E(ME2)
MERLEEREESEEERAR Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 15.11%
(Notes 2 & 3) corporation
MBRLEEREECEBERDA & REEENER 462,400,740 15.11%
(HiE2 &3)
HESREEARAE (Notes 2, 3 & 4) Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 15.11%
corporation
FESRRERRAG(ME2 384) & REEmNER 462,400,740 15.11%
HEGTHREARARBNABEELE Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 15.11%
EBEZEE (Notes 2, 3 & 4) corporation
MERERE EARBNBREEEEE HE RELENER 462,400,740 15.11%
ERZEE(ME2 3 84)
RELREXREERERETAA Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 15.11%
(Notes 2, 3 & 5) corporation
HELREXREERAREEAA e R EENER 462,400,740 15.11%
(P3F2+3&5)
RELREBRROAERAR Long position Interest of controlled 462,400,740 15.11%
(Notes 2, 3,5 & 6) corporation
HERREERNERAA 18 RipEEmER 462,400,740 15.11%

(f#zF2-3-586)
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Name

fE/ £

Long/short
position

BE/ KR

Capacity

&t

FRESIREEREML AT
(Notes 2, 3,5 & 6)

FRESREEREMAA
(F5E2-3+586)

Tibet Water Resources Limited (Note 7)

FERKERERAR (MET)

Maple Essence Investments Limited (Note 8)

MERERR AR (FIES)
True Asset Holdings Limited (Note 9)

True Asset Holdings Limited (Fi#z£9)

Mr. WANG Peter Jian (also known as
Mr. WANG lJian Peter) (Notes 9 & 10)

TEREA (9 & 10)

Wang Zhi (Note 11)

TR

Wholeking Holdings Limited (Note 12)
Wholeking Holdings Limited (i3 12)

Hope Empire Limited (Note 13)

Hope Empire Limited (B 13)

Long position

e

Long position

Long position

i)

Long position

Long position

)

Long position

i)

HSBC International Trustee Limited (Note 14) Long position

HSBC International Trustee Limited (fi3E 14)

i)

Interest of controlled
corporation

gz 0L B

Beneficial owner

i

EEBA

\

Interest of controlled
corporation

RIAEm R

Interest of controlled
corporation

RIAE RS

Interest of controlled
corporation

RITAE RS

Beneficial owner
and interest of
controlled
corporation

T a A AR

XEE R

i
Bl

\

Y
=+

Beneficial owner

EEAA

i

\

Interest of controlled
corporation
XIEEENER

Trustee

fEREA

‘

DIRECTORS' REPORT

Number of
shares/
underlying shares

R/ HERGHEE

462,400,740

462,400,740

437,410,960

437,410,960

437,410,960

437,410,960

437,410,960

437,410,960

437,410,960

437,410,960

305,000,000

305,000,000

205,000,000
205,000,000

205,000,000
205,000,000

232,957,000
232,957,000

EEeRs

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
(Note 1)
RESNEDL
(F&E1)

15.11%

15.11%

14.30%

14.30%

14.30%

14.30%

14.30%

14.30%
14.30%
14.30%

9.97%

9.97%

6.70%
6.70%

6.70%

6.70%

7.61%
7.61%
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Exafs
( 4
Approximate
Number of  percentage of
Long/short shares/ shareholding
Name position Capacity underlying shares (Note 1)
RESNEDL
B“E/ AR BB/ KR st B4,/ HERGHEE (= 1)
Cai Kui (Note 14) Long position Founder of a 232,957,000 7.61%
discretionary trust
who can influence
how the trustee
exercises its
discretion
2% ([ 14) R QEZ S EIN T 232,957,000 7.61%
TREAREER
MIBEFERILA
Notes: B =T

72

Based on 3,059,391,000 shares in issue as at 31 December 2022.

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership holds 100%
equity interest in Tianshan Industry Investment Limited and is therefore deemed to
be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry
Investment Limited.

Khorgos Tianshan No.1 Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership is held as
to 0.66% by and is accustomed to act in accordance with the directions of #7&
AUEZXREESEBRBRAT. Therefore, MBRUEXERERSERER AT
is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

MBS RIREBR AR holds 46.36% equity interest in Khorgos Tianshan No.1
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership. ¥1iB8& g% & BB AE also holds
30% equity interest in FIERIUEXBZERSERARNDA. Therefore, MBL R
EABM 7] is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company
held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.
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BER-_Z-_—_F+-B=+—H2%TR
1% 3,059,391,000 A& 51 & -

ERREHAL-—"FREEXREESERS
% {> ¥ 4 ATianshan Industry Investment
Limited 100% f%# - & e #458 A1 Tianshan
Industry Investment Limited Fri5 &R A A7)
462,400,740 IRRR 13 i B #E4m ©

ERRMRL-—FEEREECAERAE R
EHFBRLEERAECERAERAARN
F0.66% REBRIEBENBRIUEERER
CEBRERARMNBESTE Bk #8
AUEXREECEBARRAAERE /R
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited FT45 4
M)A A T 462,400,740 BREE (3 PR B R -

VRSB EABRARBAERRIKRIL—
REXBREESEREBEE46.36%MKIE -
HEEREERBRARNEATBRALESE
REESEEARRDAIZ0%MKE - Bt
MES R EERRAEE AR Tianshan
Industry Investment Limited Fi# B # A2 7)
462,400,740 (R AR 7 F i # 2s



MEHTREREARBNREEAEEEEEZEE wholly owns TBLAIREER
N7 Therefore, HEA TR ARARBNBEEEELEERLZEE is deemed to
be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held by Tianshan Industry

Investment Limited.

HERREEREEERARETAR holds 30% equity interest in ¥iE A ILEERE
H&EEARAR and is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the
Company held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

HEZREERMER QA holds 33.11% equity interest in Khorgos Tianshan No.1
Industrial Investment Fund Limited Partnership. Further, BB R REER K AR A A
wholly owns REZRREXREEEEREELF. Therefore, RERIREERG
&2 7] is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company held
by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

hRESREBREMEAT, directly and indirectly through its subsidiaries, holds
51.17% equity interest in BEZREBRNDABRAE. Therefore, FRESRER
[R&EFAR] is deemed to be interested in the 462,400,740 shares in the Company
held by Tianshan Industry Investment Limited.

Tibet Water Resources Limited is held as to 100% by Maple Essence Investments
Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings Limited. Tibet
Water Resources Limited holds 437,410,960 shares in the Company. For
200,000,000 shares out of these 437,410,960 shares in the Company, please refer
to the Company's announcement dated 14 November 2019.

Maple Essence Investments Limited holds 100% equity interest in Tibet Water
Resources Limited and is therefore deemed to be interested in the 437,410,960
shares in the Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested
in. Maple Essence Investments Limited is wholly-owned by True Asset Holdings
Limited.

True Asset Holdings Limited holds 100% equity interest in Maple Essence
Investments Limited, which in turn wholly-owns Tibet Water Resources Limited.
Therefore, True Asset Holdings Limited is deemed to be interested in 437,410,960
shares in the Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested in.

DIRECTORS' REPORT
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NRETHAEREARRNEEEEEE
ERZERERAYESRREARD
Ao Bt MEATHREREARKITE
BEEEEEHEZ 8 2HWR AN Tanshan
Industry Investment Limited F#578 H) AR A 7
462,400,740 R IR 7 b B 1A

RERREERACEEREETARRBEN
BERLEXREESEBEARAA30%MK
1 X% AR Tianshan Industry Investment
Limited FT#5 A #) 74X 2 8] 462,400,740 i AR 17
AR

RERREERNARADFEERRIK
W—REXREESARAHERE3311% K
Bo i RERREERNERAAZE
BERBLREXREEBEREMERA -
At - RERREERN AR R BEE /R
Tianshan Industry Investment Limited FT45 4
) A T 462,400,740 BREE (3 PR A R

FRESKREGRETARNEERERNE
AAEE)RERERREERNDERAA
51.17% Mt - Bt - PRESREFRAE
R AR AR Tianshan Industry Investment
Limited FT #5 7 #) 74~ 2 71 462,400,740 fi% f% £
hHEE RS -

ARKERARRA A HIAEREFR AR
H100% * MEHEZEFR AT HTrue Asset
Holdings Limited 2 & # A - BEIKERA
R R A A AR F437,410,960 0% i 17 -
A B It S AN A1437,410,960 B 15 & 6
200,000,000 [z f&1n + ELHARBIHSEAE
Z-NEF+—ATEAZAL -

MEREERLAFAABKEREGRRA
100% &1 - AR AR ERKERBRA
B BT A HE W AR A R 437,410,960 R AR
hHEE R - MEREEMRATHETrue Asset
Holdings Limited 2 & A °

True Asset Holdings Limited % B {8 1% &
BRARFEREEKERARZR A 100% 8K
# o A © True Asset Holdings Limited 345
BRARKERERARMEESRENEAA
71437,410,960 ALty o A i g o
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(13)

(14)

74

True Asset Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by Mr. WANG Peter Jian. Therefore,
Mr. WANG Peter Jian is deemed to be interested in 437,410,960 shares in the
Company in which Tibet Water Resources Limited is interested. For the purpose of
the SFO, the spouse of Mr. WANG Peter Jian is taken to have a duty of disclosure
in relation to the said 437,410,960 shares in the Company. The interest disclosed
by the spouse of Mr. WANG Peter Jian is that of Mr. WANG Peter Jian which
is deemed to be attributed to her pursuant to the SFO for disclosure purposes.
Nevertheless, she has no interest, legal or beneficial, in those shares in the
Company.

Wang Zhi holds 200,000,000 shares in the Company and wholly owns Advance
Mining Limited, which in turn holds 105,000,000 shares in the Company.
Therefore, Wang Zhi is interested or deemed to be interested in an aggregate of
305,000,000 shares in the Company.

Wholeking Holdings Limited is interested in 205,000,000 underlying shares in the
Company through holding convertible bonds issued by the Company which are
convertible into 205,000,000 shares in the Company upon full conversion at the

initial conversion price.

Hope Empire Limited wholly owns Wholeking Holdings Limited and is therefore
deemed to be interested in the 205,000,000 underlying shares in the Company in
which Wholeking Holdings Limited is interested.

HSBC International Trustee Limited as trustee of a discretionary trust of which Cai
Kui is the founder wholly owns Silverland Assets Limited, which in turn wholly
owns (a) Hope Empire Limited, which is deemed to be interested in 205,000,000
underlying shares in the Company and (b) Junson Development International
Limited, which is interested in 27,957,000 shares in the Company. Therefore, both
HSBC International Trustee Limited and Cai Kui are deemed to be interested in an
aggregate of 232,957,000 shares/underlying shares in the Company.
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TEHAARRT 200,000,000 B K 2L %
BEAARRT 105,000,000 B A& 15 #) Advance
Mining Limited « F it - TEHE SHE R
B2 FA #£ 305,000,000 B9 A o

Wholeking Holdings Limited iBiB#H A QA
BATH AR ES (R ERRETRER -
Al E kAR QT 205,000,000 1R ) - HEAH
ZRA7)205,000,000 AR AR BE AR 1) 6 i 2y

Hope Empire Limited® & # & Wholeking
Holdings Limited - B Il #18 /25 Wholeking
Holdings Limited T #% A # &= ) & 2 A
205,000,000 AR R 17 6 2 -

HSBC International Trustee Limited {E
AREZERKNUANBEERANZEA
2 & ¥ ASilverland Assets Limited © 1M
Silverland Assets Limited 2 & %A (a) Hope
Empire Limited (Z 2 Al ¥ 1% BB AR A
205,000,000 & fEEAR 0 A9 % ) & (b) Junson
Development International Limited (;Z 2 7)1
AR 27,957,000 R AR 19 6914 ) o FLL -
HSBC International Trustee Limited & 22Z51
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The issue of the nil-paid rights shares to qualifying shareholders on 21
December 2022 pursuant to a rights issue was not taken into account in
the table above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company were not aware of any other person
(other than the Directors and the chief executive of the Company) who
had, or was deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director
or an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

No contracts of significance between the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, and a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the
year.
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DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the financial year or at the end of the financial year
has the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries been a party to any arrangement whose objects are, or one of
whose objects is, to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate, except for the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award
Scheme. No share options or share awards were granted to any Director
under the Share Option Scheme and the Share Award Scheme respectively.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Other than operating a Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme and
participating in the state managed retirement benefit scheme in the PRC,
the Group has not operated any other retirement benefits schemes for the
Group's employees.

Details of the defined contribution pension scheme are set out in Note 12
of the consolidated financial statements on page 217 to 219 of this Annual
Report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their merit, qualification and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

During the financial year and up to the date of this report, no Director is
considered to have interests in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, as
defined in the Listing Rules.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company existed during the
year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the financial year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers and
purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 71%
and 100% of the total sales and total purchases for the year, respectively.
The Group’s largest customer and supplier accounted for approximately
27% and 90% of the total sales and total purchases for the financial year,
respectively. Starting from 2021, the Group has centralized procurement
through its associate Fudi Packaging, in order to enhance the procurement
efficiency and reduce costs.

During the financial year, none of (i) the Directors or any of their close
associates, or (i) any Shareholders (who, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital),
had any interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of any rights
in relation to, the shares of the Company, they are advised to consult their
professional advisors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent of the Company pursuant to the
Listing Rules.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'S INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

For the utilisation status of the net proceeds from the Company's initial
public offering, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 12
August 2022.

ISSUANCE OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND USE OF PROCEEDS

On 2 February 2021, the Company entered into subscription agreements
(as amended by the supplemental agreements dated 23 February 2021)
with six corporate and individual investors, whereby the investors agreed
to subscribe for and the Company agreed to issue the Convertible Bonds
at a total cash consideration of HKD379,620,000. Assuming full conversion
of the Convertible Bonds at the initial conversion price of HKDO0.74, the
Convertible Bonds will be convertible into 513,000,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 19.97% of the then issued share
capital of the Company and approximately 16.65% of the then issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the conversion
shares. The initial conversion price of HKDO0.74 per conversion share
represents the closing price of the shares of the Company of HKD0.74 per
share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 2 February 2021, being the
date of the subscription agreements. The Convertible Bonds were issued by
the Company to the investors in March 2021. The gross and net proceeds
(after deducting expenses) from the issue of the Convertible Bonds were
approximately HKD379,620,000 and HKD377,620,000, respectively and
were used for the repayment of the Group’ s borrowings according to
the intentions previously disclosed in the Company’ s announcement
dated 2 February 2021. For further details, please refer to the Company’ s
announcements dated 2 February 2021, 23 February 2021 and 29 March
2021.
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The Company and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the production
and sales of premium bottled mineral water products and beer products
in the PRC. The Company sought to capitalize on the then market
environment for convertible bond issues to raise capital for the repayment
of the Group’ s borrowings. The Board had considered other alternative
fund-raising methods such as bank loan, rights issue or open offer. The
Board considered that bank loan may incur security pledging on the Group'
s assets and may be subject to lengthy due diligence and negotiations
with the banks with reference to the Group’ s financial position and the
then financial market condition and it may be relatively uncertain and
time-consuming. On the other hand, rights issue or open offer would
involve the issue of prospectus with other application and administrative
procedures (such as arrangements for nil-paid rights shares) which may
lead to relatively longer time and additional administrative cost to complete
as compared to the issue of Convertible Bonds.

As at 31 December 2022 and the date of this Annual Report, Convertible
Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of HKD22,644,000 had been
converted into a total of 30,600,000 shares of the Company and principal
amount of HK$356,976,000 was outstanding and convertible into
482,400,000 shares of the Company at the conversion price of HK$0.74
per conversion share. No Convertible Bonds have been redeemed,
purchased or cancelled.
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL MANDATE

On 24 June 2022, the Company entered into a placing agreement with SBI
China Capital Financial Services Limited, the placing agent, pursuant to
which the placing agent conditionally agreed to place up to 516,898,000
placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.425 per placing share to not
less than six institutional, corporate or independent individual investors
on a best effort basis. The placing price of HK$0.425 per placing share
represents: (i) a discount of approximately 9.57% to the closing price of
HK$0.47 per share of the Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange on
the date of the placing agreement; and (ii) a discount of approximately
9.38% to the average closing price of HK$0.469 per share of the Company
as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last five consecutive trading
days immediately prior to the date of the placing agreement. Completion
took place on 21 July 2022. A total of 459,898,000 placing shares
were successfully placed to not less than six placees at the placing price
of HK$0.425 per placing share. The placing shares were issued under
the general mandate granted to the Directors by a resolution of the
Shareholders passed at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 11 August 2021. The placing shares have an aggregate nominal
value of HK$5,168,980 and represent (i) approximately 17.69% of the
issued share capital of the Company immediately before completion; and
(i) approximately 15.03% of the issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the allotment and issue of the placing shares immediately upon
completion. The gross proceeds from the Placing were HK$195,456,650
and the net proceeds, after deduction of the placing commission and other
related expenses of the placing, were approximately HK$193,500,000.
The net placing price is approximately HK$0.421 per placing share. The
net proceeds were used as to (i) 69% (approximately HK$133,500,000)
for repayment of the external debts of the Group; and (ii) the remaining
31% (approximately HK$60,000,000) for general working capital of the
Group according to the intentions previously disclosed in the Company's
announcement dated 21 July 2022. For details, please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 24 June 2022 and 21 July 2022.

The Board considered equity fundraising to be a suitable financing option
as compared with other means of financing as it enabled the Group to
raise capital in an efficient manner without increasing the interest burden
on the Group, strengthen its financial position and reduce the liquidity risk.
It also represented a good opportunity to broaden the capital base of the
Company.
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RIGHTS ISSUE

On 2 December 2022, the Company announced a rights issue of up to
1,019,797,000 rights shares at a price of HK$0.385 per rights share on
the basis of one rights share for every three existing shares held by the
qualifying shareholders on the record date, 20 December 2022, on a non-
underwritten basis. The subscription price represents, among other things,
a discount of 12.5% to the closing price of HK$0.44 per share of the
Company as quoted on Stock Exchange on the date of the announcement
of the rights issue. On the same day, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with SBI China Capital Financial Services Limited, the placing
agent, in relation to the placing of the unsubscribed rights shares to
independent placees on a best effort basis to dispose of the unsubscribed
rights shares.

The Board considered that it was essential, prudent and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole to raise additional fund
for working capital and repayment of external debts of the Group, so that
the Group would have sufficient financial resources to meet the financial
obligations when they fall due in the then following 18 months. The Board
had considered other debt/equity fund raising alternatives and considered
that the rights issue would allow the Group to strengthen its capital
structure without incurring additional debt financing cost. Furthermore,
the proceeds from the rights issue would enhance the cash position of the
Group and that the rights issue would allow all the qualifying shareholders
the equal opportunity to subscribe for their respective pro rata provisional
entitlement of the rights shares and hence avoiding dilution in their
shareholding interests in the Company. Therefore, the Board was of the
view that the Rights Issue was in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.
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The rights issue and the placing were completed on 30 January 2023. An
aggregate of 1,019,797,000 rights shares (representing 100% of the total
number of 1,019,797,000 rights shares available for subscription under the
rights issue) were allotted and issued, out of which (i) 557,798,129 rights
shares were allotted and issued under valid acceptances of provisional
allotments of the rights shares; and (ii) 461,998,871 rights shares were
allotted and issued to placees under the placing. The rights shares
represent (i) approximately 33.33% of the total number of issued shares
of the Company immediately before completion of the rights issue; and (ii)
25.00% of the total number of issued shares of the Company as enlarged
by the allotment and issue of the rights shares, and have an aggregate
nominal value of HK$10,197,970. The rights shares rank pari passu in all
respects with the other shares of the Company in issue. The net proceeds
from the placing received by the Company, after deducting all related
costs, fees, expenses and commission, were approximately HK$173.7
million, representing a net issue price of approximately HK$0.376 per
placing share. The aggregate net proceeds raised from the rights issue
(including the placing), after deducting all related costs, fees, expenses and
commission, were approximately HK$388 million.

For further details, please refer to the prospectus of the Company dated 21
December 2022 and the announcements of the Company dated 11 January
2023 and 27 January 2023.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Company had applied 70% of the
net proceeds from the rights issue (representing approximately HK$271.6
million) for the repayment of the external debts of the Group payable in
2023 and the remaining net proceeds of approximately HK$116.4 million
for the general working capital of the Group according to the intentions
previously disclosed by the Company.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the reasonable knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of its shares in the hands of
the public in accordance with the Listing Rules as at the Latest Practicable
Date.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to
approximately RMB98,000 (2021: RMB160,000).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group's annual results for the year
ended 31 December 2022 and provided advice and comments thereon.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as the auditor of the Company whereas
HLB was appointed as the new auditor of the Company, both with effect
from 21 December 2020.

HLB has been re-appointed as the auditor of the Company with effect from
the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30
June 2022 to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company. The consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2022 were audited by HLB, who will retire at the
conclusion of the forthcoming 2023 AGM and, being eligible, will offer
itself for re-appointment as external auditor of the Company.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions summarized in Note 45 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 did not
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected transactions as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules except for the key management
compensation referred to in note 45(c) to the consolidated financial
statements (which were fully exempt pursuant to either Rule 14A.95 of
the Listing Rules or the de minimis exemption under Rule 14A.76(1) of the
Listing Rules.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The 2023 AGM is expected to be held in late June 2023. The Board would
advise further information in due course.

By order of the Board

Dr. ZHANG Chunlong
Chairman and Independent Non-Executive Director

30 March 2023
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

31/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark
11 Pedder Street

HLB) B #f & 3 @ ¥ # 5 # o 3

HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

Central
Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tibet Water
Resources Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 95 to 290, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2022 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Boards (“IASB"”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA").
are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the Audit of

Our responsibilities under those standards

the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill and investments accounted for using

the equity method

Refer to Notes 19 and 20 in the consolidated financial statements

(4

The key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
arising on acquisition of businesses through acquisition
of subsidiaries and investments accounted for using
the equity method as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, combined with the significant
degree of judgments made by the management of
the Group associated with the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated and investments accounted for using the equity
method.

Management concluded that there is no impairment on
goodwill and investments accounted for using the equity
method. This conclusion was based on a value-in-use
model that required significant management judgement
with respect to the discount rate and the underlying
cash flows, in particular future revenue growth. An
independent external valuation was obtained in respect of
the impairment assessment on goodwill and investments
accounted for using the equity method in order to support
management'’s estimates.

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment
assessment of goodwill and investments accounted for
using the equity method included:

e Evaluating the independent external valuers’
competence, capabilities and objectivity;

e Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methodology, key assumptions and estimates used
base on our knowledge of the relevant industry and
using our valuation experts;

*  Challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions
based on our knowledge of business and industry;
and

*  Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverable amount of cash-generating
units and investments accounted for using the equity
method and determine the impairment provision were
supportable by available evidence.
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Allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables and other

financial assets at amortised cost

Refer to Notes 23 and 25 in the consolidated financial statements

(4

Key audit matter

BUREZRRABRRATENEMEER
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded the trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost of
approximately RMB284,598,000 and RMB1,009,620,000
respectively before the loss allowance amounting to
approximately RMB94,099,000 and RMB29,392,000 has
been made on trade receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost respectively.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and other financial
assets at amortised cost are based on management’s
estimate of the lifetime or 12-month expected credit
losses to be incurred, which is estimated by taking into
account the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue
trade receivables, customers’ and debtors’ repayment
history, collaterals and financial position and the
assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions, all of which involve significant
degree of management judgement and estimation.

We focused on this area due to the use of significant
management judgements and estimates included in the
allowance for expected credit losses assessment of trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost
under the expected credit losses model involved.

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
on provision for allowance for expected credit losses of
trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised
cost included:

®  Assessing whether items in the trade receivables
ageing report were classified within the appropriate
ageing bracket by comparing, on a sample basis,
individual items in the report with the relevant sales
invoices and credit terms;

®  Assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates on trade receivables and other
financial assets at amortised cost by examining the
information used by management to form such
judgements, including on a sample basis, testing the
accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current conditions and forward-
looking information and examining the actual
losses recorded during the current financial year
and assessing whether there was an indication of
management bias when recognising loss allowances;
and

* Assessing the reasonableness of recoverability
of trade receivables and other financial assets at
amortised cost with reference to historical utilisation
pattern and credit history of trade debtors including
default or delay in payments, settlement records,
subsequent settlements and ageing analysis

We found that the management judgment and estimates
used to assess the recoverability of the trade receivables
and other financial assets at amortised cost and determine
the allowance for expected credit losses provision were
supportable by available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud

or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

92

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.
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° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.
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The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent

auditors’ report is Shek Lui.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Shek Lui
Practising Certificate Number: P05895

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

mAREER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 HZ-Z-_—F+-A=+—HAIFE

( 3
Notes 2022 2021
B & —BC-CF —E--F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT
Revenue WA 7 311,947 456,128
Cost of sales SHER AR (221,063) (265,175)
Gross profit EF 90,884 190,953
Selling and distribution costs HERDHER (29,765) (53,476)
Administrative expenses TR E A (74,947) (72,366)
Allowance for expected credit CREERBEEEERE
loss on financial assets (88,617) (54,236)
Other gains, net Hiblz o 558 8 18,461 26,491
Operating (loss)/profit & (FE) /7B (83,984) 37,366
Finance (cost)/income, net ﬁ?ﬁ?‘ EBRA),/ WA F8E 9 (2,439) 20,499
Share of result on investments (L EREZEAENRE
accounted for using the (&B#8),/ 8
equity method 20 (10,694) 8
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETSBIAT(E5E), FB (97,117) 57,873
Income tax expense Frisfi &R 10 (5,349) (10,919)
(Loss)/profit for the year E(&E) /78 11 (102,466) 46,954
(Loss)/profit for the year ERRBEEARGEE
attributable to owners (F18),/ 78
of the Company (102,466) 46,954
(Loss)/earnings per share ARARBEEAELEETR
attributable to owners (B8),/ B (restated)
of the Company (&=51)
- basic and diluted (RMB cents) -EXAR#E(ARES) 13 (3.69) 1.84
The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in  Filt4RA 1855 5K FE SR8 KT M 5T — GFRIE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GmEHMtEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BHZE-T-__F+-A=+—-HALFE

(3
Notes 2022 2021
Pt —R-C-F —EB-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFT
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(ER), /7B 11 (102,466) 46,954
Other comprehensive (loss)/income:  HAb2E (E8E),/ WA :
Item that will not be reclassified BT AR ER AR
subsequently to profit or loss: BamayEE -
Exchange differences on translation HWEEMBRE A2 EMMER =5
from functional currency
to presentation currency (36,512) 9,211
Fair value change on financial UARBENEBEZEHTA
assets at fair value Hitn2EWRENERERE
through other comprehensive RABEES
income 22 = 16,216
Other comprehensive (loss)/ FEHM2EBR) WA - NKRHE
income for the year, net of tax (36,512) 25,427
Total comprehensive (loss)/ FRE2E(FR) RALH
income for the year (138,978) 72,381
Total comprehensive (loss)/ AATEEAEERZE(ER),
income attributable to owners LN L-C
of the Company (138,978) 72,381

The above consolidated statement of other comprehensive income should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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e MBRR R
As at 31 December 2022
RZEZZE+ZA=+—H

(3
Note 2022 2021
Pt St 3 —E_—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFT
Non-current assets *RBEE
Right-of-use assets EREERE 15 27,126 27,077
Property, plant and equipment ERN G 16 372,543 422,544
Intangible assets B EE 18 27,890 31,120
Goodwill B 19 721,139 721,139
Investments accounted for using EARREARNKE
the equity method 20 1,443,916 1,416,403
Deferred tax assets EEHIBEE 21 4,570 5,000
Prepayments SEUNE e 24 8,057 8,130
Total non-current assets FERBEEMEE 2,605,241 2,631,413
Current assets RBEE
Inventories 78 26 106,538 90,591
Trade receivables FEUE 55K 23 190,499 254,657
Prepayments BRIB 24 199,480 129,580
Other financial assets at amortised cost PABE SRR A GT E M E A
TREE 25 980,228 986,887
Financial assets at fair value through UAREEFEBEEEHFTA
profit or loss BROTREE 27 — 2,000
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEN 28 58,147 53,818
Total current assets REEEHARE 1,534,892 1,517,533
Current liabilities RBEE
Trade and notes payables ERESRRENRE 29 246,918 277,923
Deferred revenue EIEUA 30 2,374 2,374
Contract liabilities aREE 31 34,784 54,955
Tax payable JES 718 36,258 32,382
Accruals and other payables HEREAREMERNK 32 180,532 150,889
Bank borrowings RITIERK 33 452,000 410,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 730 —
Total current liabilities REAEERE 953,596 928,523

ARXERERAT | Fi§ 2022 97

‘

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION



—

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

FEHBMRRK
As at 31 December 2022
RZEZZ#+ZA=+—-8

( 4
Note 2022 2021
B & e ;3 —E—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETFT
Net current assets REEETHE 581,296 589,010
Total assets less current liabilities HMEERRBARE 3,186,537 3,220,423
Non-current liabilities *REBEE
Bank borrowings BT 33 — 75,000
Other payables HAh R R 32 — 16,000
Deferred revenue EFEWA 30 11,394 13,768
Deferred tax liabilities RREFIAGE 21 6,929 8,539
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 58 —
Convertible bonds - liability component #kESs - 8RS 34 308,696 275,684
Total non-current liabilities FRBEaBELE 327,077 388,991
Net assets BEE 2,859,460 2,831,432
Capital and reserves BEXR#E
Share capital AR 35 25,580 21,618
Reserves & 2,833,880 2,809,814
Total equity attributable to owners RAREEABEERARE
of the Company 2,859,460 2,831,432

FEISE 0 EMGEVERRER T ==
FoRA=tHESESMAERRERT I
BATEERREE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 95 to 290 are approved
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2023 and
are signed on its behalf by:

CHOW Wai Kit B &4
Director %

CHENG Gwan Sing 8885
Director %

LR A B RS AR R FE SR B Y 5 — 4D

conjunction with the accompanying notes. i o

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-__#+-A=+-HI%E

Attributable to the owners of the Company

RARER AL
Shares held Other
Share Share for share reserves Retained
capital premium  award scheme (Note 37) earnings Total equity
BROER Eft it
e RARE  SEHEENRG (W&E37) BRls RREE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2021 R-BZ-F-F-ANER 21,363 1,225,214 (173,037) 162,096 1,486,472 2,722,108
Profit for the year ERFIE - - - - 46,954 46,954
Other comprehensive incomef(loss): ~ Et2E4AN/(BE)
Fair value change on finandial WARBEGEELEHHA
assets at FVTOCI Ef2EbENERAE
MEEE - - - 16,216 - 16,216
Exchange differences on translation A ERHE RIS
from functional currency to Ei=E
presentation currency - - - 9,211 - 9,211
Total comprehensive income EREANALE
for the year - - - 25,427 46,954 72,381
Release upon derecognition of RIBANAREEFEER
financial assets at FVTOC BEHALME ARG SR
EERER - - - (16,817) 16,817 -
Convertible bonds - equity component A AR EH —EHHH - - - 22,848 — 22,848
Deferred tax arising from THRESELHRTHE
the Convertible Bonds - - - (3,770) - (3,770)
Shares issued upon conversion of RETRRESREETORN
the Convertible Bonds 255 18,771 - (1,161) - 17,865
Balance at 31 December 2021 and ~ W=E=-F+=A=1-HE
1 January 2022 “ECCE-B-BMER 21,618 1,243,985 (173,037) 188,623 1,550,243 2,831,432
Loss for the year FRER — - - — (102,466) (102,466)
Other comprehensive loss: E2EES
Exchange differences on translation A ERHRE RIS
from functional currency to EiEE
presentation currency = = = (36,512) = (36,512)
Total comprehensive loss for FR2EFRLR
the year = = = (36,512) (102,466) (138,978)
Placing of new shares (Note 35) &SR (M3E35) 3,962 164,405 - - — 168,367
Transaction costs attributable to RERRDEEHR ST
placing of new shares — (1,361) — — - (1,361)
Balance at 31 December 2022 REBZZE+ZAZ+-AN
g4 25,580 1,407,029 (173,037) 152,111 1,447,777 2,859,460

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in b #lt4R & # 25 & B 5% FE £2 BE Y BT 5 — 64 63

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HERTMEBR

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(4
Note
FisE
Cash flow from operating activities RETHRAER
(Loss)/profit before income tax BrETS R AT (E51E),/FE
Adjustments for: HE
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 1
Depreciation of PP&E ME - BERERERTE 11
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESE 1
Amortisation of deferred income RPN §ic]
Finance income BRA
Finance cost HMBER
Share of result of investments FEIL R AERE AR
accounted for using the equity method RE T 20
Loss on disposal of PP&E HEWE - BE REBEE 1
Gain on disposal of financial HEUNAREBEE
assets at FVTPL BHEHF AR
TREEN WS 8
Fair value changes of financial NRARBEFEEEES
assets at FVTPL FTABRNEREE
NREBEES 8
Allowance for ECL on financial assets CRHEERMEEBERE 11
Loss on deregistration of an associate —EIB & 2 R RUE Y
Bia 20
Gain on disposal of an associate & — B A Al e M s 20
Write-down of inventories TFEMOR 8

Operating cash flows before
movement in working capital
Increase in inventories
Increase in trade receivables
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and
other financial assets at amortised cost

Decrease in trade and notes payable

Increase in accruals and other payables

(Decrease)/increase in deferred revenue and
contract liabilities

LELSRDINEERER

SR
FEE SHHE N

FRNFOR MAB R ARG E
WEMEBEERD
(&)

BB SRR ENRER D

BIRER KA RN FIE N

BERARERAECHD)
/M

2022
—E-C—F
RMB’000
AR®BTR

(97,117)

1,251
55,525
3,230
(2,374)
(35,202)
37,641

10,694

2,000
88,617

43
(1,780)
675

63,203
(16,622)
(22,485)

109,471
(31,006)
10,115

(20,171)

2021
—E-—F
RMB'000

ARETT

57,873

865
57,926
13,165
(2,374)

(56,154)
35,655

(8)

24

(9,189)

9,517
54,236

612

162,148
(30,937)
(49,879)

(386,844)
(33,703)
238,910

150,730
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

Note 2022 2021
B s —E-CF —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000

AR®TR ARETT

Cash generated from operations RETHEENES 92,505 50,425
Interest received BYHE 11,996 56,154
Interest paid SENENESS (15,093) (14,792)
Income taxes paid BEAPEH (2,853) (9,626)
Net cash flows generated from RETHEENEERFE

operating activities 86,555 82,161
Cash flows from investing activities REFZHEER
Purchases of PP&E BEME  BFEL&E (5,500) (6,068)
Loans granted to third parties ETE=HFA (222,759) —
Repayments received from loans BEWE=ZRER

to third parties 5,000 17,085
Cash received from deregistration of — R & A RS R

an associate [RE 6K 1,040 —
Dividend income received B U RS B U A 13,647 —
Net cash flows (used in)/generated BRETE(FA) EENH

from investing activities BERTBE (208,572) 11,017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

IIV_\éiﬁﬁﬁl%ﬁ
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z__H+-A=t—HIFE

(3
Note 2022 2021
FiaE —B-Cf —T-F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Cash flows from financing activities METHRER
Proceeds from bank borrowings SRITIE TS FUE 41 100,000 400,000
Repayments of bank borrowings BBIEITER 41 (133,000) (525,000)
Loans from third parties BEE=FEX 41 14,842 6,391
Repayment of loans to third parties BEF=RER 41 (21,083) (303,072)
Payments of lease liabilities HEABNHK 41 (557) (150)
Proceeds from issuance of BT RRESERIE
the Convertible Bonds — 317,702
Proceeds from issue of new shares REBRHEEZTHRN
pursuant to share placing FTiS 3R 168,367 —
Transaction cost attributable to BITHRM EIENR HE AR
issue of new shares (1,361) —
Net cash flows generated from/(used in) BEFEFE, (FTH)H
financing activities ReERFERE 127,208 (104,129)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HeERBEEZEEY
cash equivalents ',/ (RD) B8 5,191 (10,951)
Cash and cash equivalents FOHReRB2EED
at beginning of year 53,818 64,752
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [EXRE &) 255 (862) 17
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FXRBERBLEEY 28 58,147 53,818
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in LA R &N 2 &K e EEEM P &t — O 5

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law as an exempted company with limited liability on 8
November 2010. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
engaged in production and sales of water products and beer products
in PRC and provision of lending services to third parties in Hong Kong
with relevant license.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Stock Exchange since
30 June 2011.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
different from the Company’s functional currency HKD. The Directors
adopted RMB as presentation currency as the operational entities are
located in the PRC.

mEMBHRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-—F+-A=t+-HILEE

—REHR
ARARZE-—ZEF+-ANBRE
RAVERAEHETMKULAER
RERAR - EMPEEN IR
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands °

ARA/—AREEBRAF - AEHE
EFBEEEEREEKER NGB
Em THEEBHFHEBRRRE=
IR B AR A o

KATHBHA-F-—FAAZT
FEFER AT L7 o

SEMBREUAREZS ARIR
RRRNPEEBET - ARKEE
BURTE  EFRAAREERZ
REH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z__H+-A=t—HIFE

104

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRSs

Amendments to IFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to IFRSs issued by the IASB for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022
for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Amendment to IFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts -
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs
2018-2020

The application of the amendments to IFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRSs (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

IFRS 17 (including the June 2020

and December 2021
Amendments to IFRS 17)

Amendments to IFRS 10

and IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS

Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Insurance Contracts'

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or
Joint Venture?

Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current?

Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

Definition of
Accounting Estimates'

Deferred Tax related to Assets and

Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction'
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2 APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO IFRSs (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to IFRSs in issue but not yet effective (continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The Directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs (which include all International Financial
Reporting Standards, IASs and Interpretations) issued by IASB. For
the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements,
information is considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for the financial assets at FVTPL and the
financial assets at FVTOCI, as explained in the accounting policies
below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration
given in exchange for goods and services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements (continued)
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability
if market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share
based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRSs 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of IFRS 16 Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2
Inventories or value in use in IAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

GREVMBEBRRNEREERTES
ATEUR ()

FEVBRRNEREE(EZ)
AREERMS2EENTERRE
BRFR P HEEER KNS EZR
BERXNZEBE MARAERE
LA EERBRAEREMEET A
HfE e REFEESRBECARE
BF AKEEZRAEME2EE
R EBRMHEERABEERME
REELRBEZRH HERFHEAY
BREDAER IRENDAEE
BEMLER ETUAREE - EBRERS %
WELERE 2R AR RERNRE
EARRG SERNRZS - BRY
BHREENF16RHELCERNNEE
Ry RELNABEABETANYE
WY FED R EEMNE(MBEREE
SR FEMAERFEIEERE
ATEAFEICREERENERER)
RIBRSP

besh s MR REZBR > RRME
EFERBEALBEFENBAER
BROBERBAGBHANEENE
BERENEEN #ORE A F-
MEE=R - FHAWT

s FRBABRERBKNTEAH
A ESNHEREEXREERR
M5 ERRECRERE)

s F_RBABEERE-RANR
BSN ATERIMEBRINE
EXRENBAE: &

s FABABEBEEXEENT
R BB AR

RN 2 BREIWT -

AHKERERAT | £% 2022 107



—

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z__H+-A=t-RL%E

108

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has the power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affects its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in profit or loss from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of the subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between the members of the Group are
eliminated on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately
from the Group's equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Separate financial statements (continued)

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds
the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements of the investee's net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the steering committee that makes strategic
decisions.

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which includes
an input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired processes are
considered substantive if they are critical to the ability to continue
producing outputs, including an organised workforce with the
necessary skills, knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or cannot
be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability to
continue producing outputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquire
and the equity interest issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or
loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is on or
after 1 January 2022, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued by International
Accounting Standards Board in March 2018 except for transactions
and events within the scope of IAS 37 or IFRIC 21, in which
the Group applies IAS 37 or IFRIC 21 instead of the Conceptual
Framework to identify the liabilities it has assumed in a business
combination. Contingent assets are not recognised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)
At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the

liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition

date, except that:

deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based payment at the acquisition
date (see the accounting policy below);

assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discounted Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present
value of the remaining lease payments (as defined in IFRS
16 Leases) as if the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which (a) the lease
term ends within 12 months of the acquisition date; or (b)
the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are
recognised and measured at the same amount as the relevant
lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their
fair value.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the ‘measurement period’
(which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent
consideration is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
and measured under IFRS 9 would be accounted for on the same
basis as would be required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of cash
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than
an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill (continued)

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of the cash-
generating unit within the group of cash-generating units, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of
the amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of
an operation within the cash-generating unit (or a cash- generating
unit within a group of cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative values of the
operation (or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion
of the cash generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have
joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the
joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint ventures are
incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method
of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for
sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discounted Operations. Any retained
portion of an investment in an associate or a joint venture that has
not been classified as held for sale continues to be accounted for
using the equity method. The financial statements of associates and
joint ventures used for equity accounting purposes are prepared
using uniform accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity
method, an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate or
joint venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in ownership
interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate or joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that
associate or joint venture (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the cost
of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised
as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment,
after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence that the
investment in an associate or a joint venture may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with IAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated to
any asset, including goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with IAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount
of the investment subsequently increases.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (continued)

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate
or joint control over or joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an interest
in the former associate or joint venture and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial instrument, the
Group measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint venture is
included in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the
associate or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would
be required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the
related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon
disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate or joint venture.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or joint
venture that are not related to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group's interests in associates and joint ventures

The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment
in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or an
investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate.
There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in
ownership interests.

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an associate or
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method,
goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if there is excess of the
consideration paid over the share of carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the additional interests in associates or joint ventures
acquired. Any excess of share of carrying amount of net assets
attributable to the additional interests in associates or joint ventures
acquired over the consideration paid are recognised in the profit or
loss in the period in which the additional interest are acquired.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate or a
joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity method, the
Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss
that had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group's interests in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture of
the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the associate or
joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HEVBBRNEREERIES
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES SRR (#)
(CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers and other income (continued) EFENWEREMBAE)
Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time WMRFE THEP—IaRE - FHEE
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the —REEAEY  MUaRRgE—
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is BRERANETKBERNEETNER
met: T
the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits i RARERBARE P RELE K
provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs; # P B N & B B 4D A s SR e R
ii. the Group's performance creates and enhances an asset that i. AEEBRVEEREANREEE
the customer controls as the Group performs; or BARBEFPEFHNEE X
iii. the Group's performance does not create an asset with an i. AEERNVEELHAZER
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable BRABMHEE BAKEA=E
right to payment for performance completed to date. BRHMITE  UXNESER

KB EIFRIA

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the BRI WEREPESHES IR
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service. TR R RS R o

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer ERABEEAEENKEPFEEALE
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received EWEEF R E(RRERHER)H
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the ERIARENELT -

customer.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income (continued)
(a) Sales of goods — wholesale

The Group manufactures and sells a range of water products and
beer products in the wholesale market. The Group also sells raw
materials and consumables to associates and third parties. Sales
are recognised at a point in time when control of the products has
transferred, being when the products are delivered to the customers,
the customers have full discretion over the channel and price to sell
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the customers’ acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specified location; the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customers.

(b) Sales of goods — water cards

Sales of water products to certain distributors or end customers
are made in form of water cards. Under the Water Cards Sales
Arrangement with the distributors, the distributors sell the water
cards to the end customers and use the logistics network, which
is designed by the Group with the Group’s long-term cooperative
logistics suppliers, to deliver water products to the designated
locations at the request of the end customers when the water cards
are redeemed before the expiry dates; and relevant logistics expenses
are charged to the Group. Sales of goods under the Water Cards
Sales Arrangement are deferred as the Group has ultimate obligations
towards the card holders. Sales of goods under the Water Cards
Sales Arrangement are recognised at a point in time when the water
cards are redeemed by the end customers and the water products are
delivered, or when the water cards are expired, whichever is earlier.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers and other income (continued)
(c) Interest income

The Group provides money lending services to third parties in Hong
Kong with relevant license and earns interest as revenue. Related
interest income is recognised in a time proportion basis using
effective interest method.

(d)  Rental income

Rental income from leasing of production lines is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application of IFRS 16 or arising from business combinations, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under IFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single
lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to
leases of premises and office equipments that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option. It also applies the recognition exemption for lease
of low-value assets. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

*  the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

* any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received,

® any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities other than adjustments to lease
liabilities resulting from Covid-19-related rent concessions in which
the Group applied the practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the
useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on straight-
line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under IFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

* amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HEVBBRNEREERIES

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES SRR (#)

(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued) HE#E)

The Group as a lessee (continued) EREERERBA(E)

Lease liabilities (continued) HEBE(E)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by RFAmBEHE  HEEERENEE

interest accretion and lease payments. REMEENFETRHE -

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding RUATER  AEBEeENGFERE

adjustment to the related right-of- use assets) whenever: BRETHEMEAREEFELARER

) :

* the lease term has changed or there is a change in the o THEEMEIHNTHREEEERE
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the ML BZBERATE
related lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised BHEERBERUEEBIHENRK
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of BRENE BB LETAER
reassessment. FETUHBRMEINE o

e the lease payments change due to changes in market rental s HMEMNFRETTSEHEASRE
rates following a market rent review/expected payment under mEHeX BEREGBEET
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related lease HHNRESMLIREE - FEilt
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments BT HEEEREERNR
using the initial discount rate. BREERGETHENRME

#etE e

Lease liabilities HERE

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the AEEEGEMBHRARPBEES

consolidated statement of financial position. BIEREBHNERTT
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the Group
applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for a lease
modification as a separate lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the
right to use one or more underlying assets; and

e the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand- alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand- alone
price to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities and
lease incentives from lessor by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease component
on the basis of the relative standalone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a
result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments
as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the Group applies the
practical expedient to remeasure the lease liabilities by discounting
the revised lease payments using the unchanged discount rate, unless
the change in lease payments results from a change in floating
interest rates. In that case, the Group uses the revised discount rate
that reflects change in the interest rate and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets. A lease modification is
required by interest rate benchmark reform if, and only if, both of
these conditions are met:

e the modification is necessary as a direct consequence of interest
rate benchmark reform; and

e the new basis for determining the lease payments is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the basis
immediately preceding the modification).

FEMBmRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct consequence
of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has elected to apply the
practical expedient not to assess whether the change is a lease
modification if all of the following conditions are met:

e the change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

e any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally
due on or before 30 June 2021; and

e there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in
lease payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it
would account for the changes applying IFRS 16 if the changes are
not a lease modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments
are accounted for as variable lease payments. The related lease
liabilities are adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with
a corresponding adjustment recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which the event occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance
lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under IFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications, including lease incentives provided through forgiveness
or reduction of rentals.

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Lease modification (continued)

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a
new lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease
as part of the lease payments for the new lease.

For rent concession under which the Group legally releases the lessee
from its obligation to make specifically identified lease payment, of
which some of these lease payments are contractually due but not
paid and some of them are not yet contractually due, the Group
accounts for the portions which have been recognised as operating
lease receivables (i.e. the lease payments which are contractually due
but not paid) by applying the ECL and derecognition requirements
under IFRS 9 and applies lease modification requirements for the
forgiven lease payments that the Group has not recognised (i.e.
the lease payments which are not yet contractually due) as at the
effective date of modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entities,
transactions in currencies other than functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair
value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences on monetary items receivable from or payable to a
foreign operation for which settlement is neither planned nor likely
to occur (therefore forming part of the net investment in the foreign
operation), which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on disposal or
partial disposal of the Group’s interests in associates.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group using exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Income and expense
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a currency translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group's
entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that
includes a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes
a financial asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in a
currency translation reserve in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests
and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(i.e. partial disposals of associates or joint arrangements that do
not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss. Settlements of monetary items which
formed part of net investment in foreign operations without changes
in Group's ownership interests is not considered as partial disposals.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the Group's net
assets in HKD to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. RMB) are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in currency translation reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the currency translation reserve are not reclassified to
profit or loss subsequently.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related
asset is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general
borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets (including property, plant and equipment) are recognised as
deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis
over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants relate to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under
"other gains, net” line item.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Termination benefit

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of
when the Group entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the
termination benefit and when it recognises any related restructuring
costs.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another IFRS requires or permits the
inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee benefits
are measured at the present value of the estimated future cash
outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services
provided by employees up to the reporting date. Any changes in the
liabilities" carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent
that another IFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E

GREVMBEBRRNEREERTES
ATEUR ()

BEBER
HBRENEEERNASEERELE
OB R A B B H R A A
HEAKAK(RERTE)RHESR -

it Bk M

EHRHEARBESER
RHEERMNEERHARBRZE
MXNBANRTReBER - A
RHERERMNOER/FAZ  KIEA
A RBRE B RELARE L
R Al A& R RIERR

EERFABA(MIERFE  FREK
BRORMBENERRERSAE -

pEMRAEEEFERNEREA
SEBREMSHMEES iR M
FRAGE R B fEEHR KRB 2R H T E
ATE - RBAA - M EREHFES
REEREENTINESIRIBDE
B AR - HERMBREERR
E XAt ABERA AR o

ARKEFRERAR | %2022 139



—

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z__H+-A=t—HIFE

140

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits

The employee benefit expenses mainly include salary, bonus,
allowances and other expenditures incurred in exchange for the
employee services. All employee benefit obligations are recognised
during the period when the services are provided, and charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss or included in the cost of the
related assets.

(a)  Pension obligations - defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group
pays fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has no
legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits
relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.

The Group pays contributions to publicly or privately administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expenses when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Employee benefits (continued)
(b)  Housing funds, medical insurances and other social insurances

Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to participate in
various government-supervised housing funds, medical insurance
and other employee social insurance plan. The Group contributes on
a monthly basis to these funds based on certain percentages of the
salaries of the employees, subject to certain ceilings. The Group's
liability in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions
payable in each period.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and other
providing similar services are measured at fair value of the equity
instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined
at the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments is
expensed to profit or loss on a straight line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that
will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share
held for share award scheme). At the end of the reporting period,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the shares held for share award
scheme.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments (continued)

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in the shares held for share award scheme will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in the shares held for share award scheme will
be transferred to retained earnings.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously recognised in
share-based payments reserve will be transferred to other reserve.

Taxation
The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each
reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right- of-use assets and the
related lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies IAS 12 Income Taxes
requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the
lease terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.
Temporary differences arising from subsequent revision to the
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, resulting
from remeasurement of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that
are not subject to initial recognition exemption are recognised on the
date of remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current tax and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from
the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss during the financial period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost less accumulated impairment losses of each asset to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 12-40 years
Machinery 5 to 15 years
Vehicles 3 to 8 years
Furniture and equipment 3 to 5 years

Others 10 to 20 years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within “Other
gains, net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

CIP represents buildings, plant and machinery under construction or
pending installation and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Cost includes the costs of construction and acquisition
and capitalised borrowing costs. No provision for depreciation is
made on CIP until such time as the relevant assets are completed and
ready for intended use. When the assets concerned are available for
use, the costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment and
depreciated in accordance with the policy as stated above.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses, if any.
Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of investment
properties over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account of their estimated residual values using the straight-line
method.

Investment property is transferred to owner-occupied property
when there is a change in use as evidenced by the commencement
of owner occupation. Owner-occupied property is transferred to
investment property when there is a change in use as evidenced by

end of owner-occupation.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or no future
economic benefits are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and
amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and recognised
separately from goodwill are recognise initially at their fair value at
the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.

Trade name

Trade name acquired in a business combination is recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. Trade name has a finite useful life
and is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trade
name over their estimated useful lives of 18.2 years.

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E

GREVMBEBRRNEREERTES
ATEUR ()

BUYKBzEBILEE

B S 2 BB ERKAME Rt
BN RAREBEAR ZFEN
BEDNERZRMGFTEANEREH
EITH - et R F R EHES
ENRE2FRRBE S RE R
et BB P ERBRFMIEZEEA

REBEHTIUBZENEE
RED B FHB YUE R 7 8 ) Bl i
RLEVEECRBRBNAARE
NEER > MEBLAAERRSEX
A o

NSRRI  REBA BRI
mIAERES 2 B AR
Fl 2 20 A A B 21 3 4 % 2 2180
EREHE -

mEER

REBA BN MR 2 BENKE
AMNRAREERER mE2EEHE
ENERSTS - WRKAR R #H
Dk - BERERKTE  ARmbE
M8 2FMFHER 6 DK mhE
LREERAS

BEEKERBRAR | £ 2022 149



—

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z__H+-A=t—HIFE

150

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination (continued)
Distribution network

Distribution network acquired in a business combination is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The distribution network has a
finite useful life of 8 years and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected life of the distribution network.

Information system

Information system acquired in a business combination is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. The information system has a
finite useful life of 5 years and is carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over the expected life of the information system.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains or losses
arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets excluding goodwill

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of
its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent
from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets excluding goodwill (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale include
incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental
costs which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets
that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with IFRS 15.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income which are derived from the Group's ordinary course
of business are presented as revenue.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets
Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows
and selling; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at the date of initial application/initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other comprehensive income
if that equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which IFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
Classification _and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the
near term; or

®  on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together and has
a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

* it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset
that are required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as
measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(i)  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below).
For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the asset is
no longer credit-impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification _and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(continued)

(i) Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised on other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve; and are not
subject to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss
will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity
investments, and will be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividends are included
in the “other gains, net” line item in profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other gains, net” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model on
financial assets which are subject to impairment assessment under
IFRS 9 (including trade receivables, other financial asset at amortised
cost, restricted bank deposits and cash at bank). The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events that are possible within
12 months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on
the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on trade
receivables with significant balances or credit impaired are assessed
individually and the remaining trade receivables are assessed
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate age groupings.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(1)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit
risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group

presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past

due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information

that demonstrates otherwise.

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E

GEMBEBRRNEREERTRS
ATER ()

SRIAE)

EHEEE)

EHEEZHEE)

() EERBREZEENE)

HRlR EfAEERREEEEE

I - X TER

o ERTAMIBIE)LARE
BN ERSRREERL

o  FEERBRINIMSEENEER
b mEENE  BEBANEER
B AR B RIRE N -

s W EEHEBABEGHKED
PAUEING3:0E 37 I b7 R S p
AR LIERE M ED

L]
g

ERAGEEENER AR
221

o BHEKAEEEHENKNET
BRREBALE  EBERMIER
BHERIBEHOERNNE
@JO

A Ll RHE 2 B R AEER
E'ﬁAﬁﬁ%ﬁ%Eﬂw%'%E
MIEERUREERRCBZEM
%#$%@ﬁé@ﬂ7§%2ﬁﬂ%
AR R AR

ARKEFRERAR | £% 2022 159



—

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z__H+-A=t—HIFE

160

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing the financial
instrument for impairment. In assessing whether there has been a
significant increase in the credit risk since initial recognition of a
financial guarantee contracts, the Group considers the changes in the
risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.

(if)  Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default
for internal credit risk management purposes as historical experience
indicates that financial assets that meet either of the following
criteria are generally not recoverable:

° when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

e information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any
collateral held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 180 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

GREVMBEBRRNEREERTES
ATEUR ()

FTMIAE)

THEEE)

EHEEZFE(E)

() FEEBREZENE)
RHBEREGAOMS  AKERST
ATREAE — 7 8 R IR RELURE
AHEET R BE - BN
EERRBMBEREONIERE
RERBELAR AEEZEIET
BEHARNRRNED -

AEBETHEEAARMNCEERRE
BABLEAZEEZKY YRNEE
BRIEHER] > e mAERE BIIRERE
SR FIRE AR E B R AR £
o

(i) AT S
AEBRR/UTEREALEERR
EEANMEBRENSENH  BARB
ERBRAFSE-TIEREN SR
BE—RELRE

s EBRARRMBRY: X

o RNHELKERBIBRRNE
FRE - EHATKABEAERE
ANERASE)Z2BER(TE
BAKERFENTMERR) -

Lot XEERL &H
EREEREEDNBBISOKRKH
b HARERSBEAAXENER
ERERBRNENTEEDEER
Bh o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iir) ~ Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following events:

e significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

e 3 breach of contract, such as a default or past due event (see (ii)
above);

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

* it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; or

e the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv) ~ Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings,
or in the case of trade receivables, when the amounts are over 180
days past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written
off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses
a practical expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables using
a provision matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that is available
without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Generally, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly,
the expected losses is the present value of the expected payments to
reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any
other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective
interest rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount
rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks that are specific to the cash flows but only if,
and to the extent that, the risks are taken into account by adjusting
the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls being
discounted.

v)
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3.  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases where
evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet be available,
the financial instruments are grouped on the below basis:

o Nature of financial instruments;

° Past-due status;

*  Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount
of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost
of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances are recognised
at the higher of the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with IFRS 9; and the amount initially recognised less,
where appropriate, cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

164  TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

GREVMBEBRRNEREERTES
ATEUR ()

FTMIAE)

THEEE)

EHEEZFE(E)

) BHEREEEZTEREZE)
MREEEEERMEEHARY
BORENTABEZERZER
ERTARATERENE

s ERMTIANME:

o BHHR

o EBAZEE RERTE R
o HNBEEFR(WMEA) -

ERERBRA ST RREA
Rz ERER NAABRLZ EER
R -

FMERAZEREE CEREE
E KAZERMEECHLEGEN
B AINMBEWMAREREE 2 BHK

o sy
=L
$n 0

AHBEREAOME - BRBEZR
BERMBHRELENEIRETNE
BEBe®E  ROTSEISER(NE
AIRERDEEINRFBRASER
ERNBRERER -



‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the
Group has elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is
transferred to retained earnings.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company's own equity instruments is recognised
and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s
own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are measured subsequently at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and notes payables, accruals and
other payables, bank borrowings and lease liabilities are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Financial quarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to
make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due in
accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at their
fair values and measured subsequently at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance
with IFRS 9; and

e the amount recognised initially less, where appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Convertible loan notes

The component parts of the convertible loan notes are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. A conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company's own equity
instruments is an equity instrument.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Convertible loan notes (continued)

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component

(including any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is estimated
by measuring the fair value of similar liability that does not have an
associated equity component.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by deducting
the amount of the liability component from the fair value of the
compound instrument as a whole. This is recognised and included in
equity, net of income tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured.
In addition, the conversion option classified as equity will remain in
equity until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share premium.
Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the maturity
date of the convertible note, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. No gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible loan notes
are allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion
to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction costs relating
to the equity component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in the carrying
amount of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible loan notes using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

When the Group exchanges with the existing lender one debt
instrument into another one with the substantially different terms,
such exchange is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.
Similarly, the Group accounts for substantial modification of terms of
an existing liability or part of it as an extinguishment of the original
financial liability and the recognition of a new liability. It is assumed
that the terms are substantially different if the discounted present
value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid
net of any fees received and discounted using the original effective
rate is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. If
the modification is not substantial, the difference between: (1) the
carrying amount of the liability before the modification; and (2) the
present value of the cash flows after modification is recognised in
profit or loss as the modification gain or loss within other gains and
losses.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation
(legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that
the Group will be required to settle that obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made by the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. When a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of
the time value of money is material).

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. When a change in the probability
of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be
recognised as a provision.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(E-T-E+-A=+-ALERE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. HEVBBRNEREERIES

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES TR (&)

(CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents BEeRBALEEY

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement REGEHMBRARZINEE KRS

of financial position include: EZEMBHE

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, (@ He HeFRFEReRIHE
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory T PEEXEERMERE
restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the BERTERERETERNRIT
definition of cash; and wmer o &

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally b)) HReFEY HESERHER
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid REEBBA=EAxER) 7
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of BEERERADANHER2AEE
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes gHREBIANRRBMIRE o
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting ReZEMRHIERTRARE A
short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or - MERRKRESIEMBN -

other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash AEeReRERME  BekRe
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined ZEVERLXEENHERRESE
above. By o
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share capital and shares held for share award scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where the Company’s shares are acquired from the market by the
Bank of Communications Trust Limited for share option scheme, the
total consideration of shares acquired from the market (including
directly attributable incremental costs) is presented as shares held for
share award scheme.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to
the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group
or the Company's parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(E-T-E+-A=+-ALERE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 3. RAMBBRRNGEREERTES

STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES TR (%)

(CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued) BEAL(E)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b) WRA THITAEME  BlIZER
conditions applies: EAEEBRE

() The entity and the Group are members of the same group () ZELEAREEAR—
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow Skl A=WNSIE= )ﬂtﬁ’]l
subsidiary is related to the others). NE - MEARME R

BARIEHEEE) -

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other (il —XEBRZ BB
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a ERAREERE(HRS
group of which the other entity is a member). —ERMBEEETKE

NEMBERAREE D
%)

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. (i) MREBRA-—F=7H
BEbE-

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other (v, —RXEBRE=7THAEE
entity is an associate of the third entity. TtE - ME—EBRZE

= FHIBE N E] o

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (v ZEBAAEEFEAE
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity EFHENER EER
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan, BEENETE - MAKE
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group. AEERZ:TE - RHEE

B EENEAEEER

@o

ARKEFRERAR | %2022 173



—1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

174

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (continued)

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when
there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of
accounting estimates, which, by definition, will seldom equal the
actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in
applying the Group's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(@) Depreciation

The Group's management determines the residual value, useful
lives and related depreciation charges for its property, plant and
equipment and investment properties. This estimate is based on the
historical experience of the actual residual value and useful lives of
property, plant and equipment as well as investment properties of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to severe
industry cycles. Management will increase the depreciation charge
where residual value or useful lives are less than previous estimates,
or it will write-off technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold. The current estimated useful lives are
stated in Note 3.

4.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred tax
assets and liabilities in the period in which such determination is
made.

Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact on the recognition of deferred tax assets and
taxation in the periods in which such estimates are changed.

Dividends derived from the Company's subsidiaries in the PRC earned
after 1 January 2008 are subject to withholding tax at the rate of
5%-10%. The Group reassessed its needs to make distributions out
of its subsidiaries in the PRC. As a result, withholding income tax has
been provided for the undistributed profits to the extent they are
expected to be distributed in future.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences are
recognised as management considers it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

() Impairment review
(i)  Gooadwill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary -Tiandi Green
(Note 19)

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of CGUs to which goodwill has been
allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or fair value less
costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or change in facts
and circumstances which results in downward revision of future cash
flows or upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment loss
or further impairment loss may arise.

The goodwill of approximately RMB721,139,000 was generated
from acquisition of a controlling stake in Tiandi Green in 2014.
Tiandi Green was viewed as one CGUs within the beer segment. The
recoverable amount of the CGUs is determined based on value-in-use
calculations, which is based on discounted cash flow sourced from
the financial budgets approved by the management covering a 5-year
period, and the pre-tax discount rate of approximately 15.79% (2021:
14.5%) that reflects current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGUs. Cash flows beyond 5-year
period have been extrapolated using 3% (2021: 3%) growth rate
per annum. Other assumptions included budgeted income estimated
based on the past performance and management’s expectations of
market developments, etc.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(¢) Impairment review (continued)
(i)  Gooadwill arising from acquisition of a subsidiary -Tiandi Green
(Note 19) (continued)

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying amount of
goodwill. Management believes that any reasonably possible change
in any of these assumptions would not result in impairment. As such,
no impairment loss had been recognised for the goodwill arising from
acquisition of Tiandi Green for the year ended 31 December 2022.

(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water

As at 31 December 2022, in view of the operating performance of
the associate — High Natural Water, the Group performed impairment
assessment on the associate — High Natural Water. Determining
whether impairment loss should be recognised requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the relevant associate which is the
higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of
approximately 14.73% (2021: approximately 12.6%). The cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 3.0%
(2021: 3.0%) growth rate. In cases where the actual cash flows are
less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future cash flows estimation or discount
rate, a material reversal or further recognition of impairment may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(¢) Impairment review (continued)
(i) Investment in an associate — Highland Natural Water (continued)

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying amount
of investment in Highland Natural Water. Management believes that
any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would
not result in impairment. As such, no impairment loss had been
recognised for the investment in Highland Natural Water for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

(i)  Investment in an associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu

As at 31 December 2022, in view of the operating performance of the
associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu, the Group performed impairment
assessment on the associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu. Determining
whether impairment loss should be recognised requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the relevant associate which is the
higher of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of
approximately 14.28% (2021:12.4%). The cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 3.0% (2021:3.0%)
growth rate. In cases where the actual cash flows are less or more
than expected, or change in facts and circumstances which result in
revision of future cash flows estimation or discount rate, a material
reversal or further recognition of impairment may arise, which would
be recognised in profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal
or further recognition takes place.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(¢) Impairment review (continued)
(iii)  Investment in an associate — Shannan Yalaxiangbu (continued)

The recoverable amount is significantly above the carrying amount
of investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu. Management believes that
any reasonably possible change in any of these assumptions would
not result in impairment. As such, no impairment loss had been
recognised for the investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

(iv) Trade receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables and other financial assets
at amortised cost are based on assumptions about risk of default
and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market conditions as well
as forward-looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Allowance of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. Due to greater
financial uncertainty triggered by the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group
has increased the expected loss rates in the current year as there is
higher risk that a prolonged pandemic could led to increased credit
default rates. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are
disclosed in the tables in Note 5.1(b).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Fair value measurement of financial instruments

As at 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s unquoted equity
investment was nil (2021: RMB2,000,000) are measured at fair
value with fair value being determined based on unobserved inputs
using valuation techniques. Judgment and estimation are required in
establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant inputs
thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could
affect the reported fair values of these instruments. Details of the key
assumptions and inputs used are disclosed in the tables in Note 5.3.

(e) Provision for financial guarantee contracts

The Group makes estimate on costs required to fulfil the relevant
obligation of guarantee contracts when the guaranteed amount
is claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. Such estimation
is based on the available information as at reporting date and is
determined by the Group's practical experience, the default history,
the collateral held and financial position of relevant customers
assessed on an individual basis in the industry and taking into
consideration of industry information and market data. Where the
actual obligation the Group requires to fulfill is more than expected,
a material provision may arise. Amount of corporate guarantee
provided by the Group is disclosed in Note 44(b).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(f)  Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible asset

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment,
if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has
to exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect
the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value of an asset can be
supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use,
the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts
including cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the assets belong.
Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the discount
rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could materially
affect the recoverable amounts.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are approximately RMB372,543,000, RMB27,126,000 and
RMB27,890,000 respectively.

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BRETEER A2

() W% BERRE EAEEE
REREERBMST

NE - BELRE EREEELE
& ERKAR R ITE RREMD
Bk REETEEAGHERE
B AEEFEELAGRMES L
HREFE: (EEREAREFEE
EBENEHAEIMTR : QBEEMN
FREEES AW E S ER(HARE
REE RESECREEMTSN
HARRBERENFREIF 0 REO)
fhatA e e BEREANEE TR
RE  BRASRERAREEMR
o fEAfEHEREE(RIRERE
BE)NAUEEE AEBEeHE
EfMBREELBUNANLDEE -
RREbat 2 2B (RRRASRERA
FHMRRIERR)GHAIRLDEHE
ENEATE -

RZEZZF+ZA=+—HB" %
¥ BELZEB CAEEERE
FEEMNERHEIINABARY
372,543,0007T + A K #27,126,000
Tt AR 27,890,000 7T °



‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise and monitor potential adverse effects on the
Group's financial performance in a timely and effective manner.

5.1 Financial risk factors

(@) Market risk

(i) Currency risk

The functional currency of a majority of the entities within the Group
is RMB and most of the transactions are settled in RMB. However, the
Group is exposed to foreign currency risk arising from its transactions,
which are primarily denominated in HKD.

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure and may consider hedging significant foreign
exchange exposure should the need arises.

As at 31 December 2022, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by
5% against HKD with all other variables held constant, the total net
assets of the Group would have been approximately RMB18,442,000
(2021: RMB14,917,000) lower/higher respectively, mainly as a
result of foreign exchange translation of the consolidated financial
statements for the Company and its Hong Kong subsidiary whose
functional currency is HK; the post-tax profit for the year would have
been approximately RMB2,697,000 (2021: RMB2,029,000) lower/
higher.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(@) Market risk (continued)

(i) Interest rate risk

The Group currently does not have interest rate hedging policy.
However, management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider hedging significant interest rate exposure should the need
arise.

The Group's borrowings obtained at variable rates expose the Group
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to bank and cash balances
and borrowings which is partially offset by cash held at variable rates.
During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's
borrowings at variable rates were mainly denominated in RMB. At
31 December 2022, if interest rates on floating-rate borrowings had
been 5% higher/lower with all other variables held constant, post
tax profit for the year would have been approximately RMB316,000
(2021: RMB296,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of higher/lower
interest expense on floating-rate borrowings.

At 31 December 2022, the Group has bank borrowings amounting
to approximately RMB200,000,000 (2021: RMB285,000,000)
and borrowings from third parties amounting to approximately
RMB4,857,000 (2021: RMB5,175,000) at fixed interest rates
and these expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. As at
31 December 2022, the carrying amounts of bank borrowings,
borrowings from third parties with fixed interest rates approximated
their fair value due to their short tenures and the influence of fair
value interest rate risk is marginal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash
at bank, restricted bank deposits, trade receivables and other financial
assets at amortised cost. The carrying amounts represent the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to those financial assets.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial assets.

(i) cash at bank and restricted bank deposits

Substantially all of the Group's cash at bank and restricted bank
deposits are held in major financial institutions located in the PRC
and Hong Kong, which management believes are of high credit
quality. There was no recent history of default of cash at bank and
restricted bank deposits from such financial institutions/authorities.
The management considers the credit risk is insignificant and no loss
allowance was recognised.

(i) Trade receivables

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an internal
credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed
to customers are reviewed twice a year. Other monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. In this regard, the management considers that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 20.9% (2021: 14.0%)
and 63.4% (2021: 55.7%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group's largest customer and the five largest customers,
respectively. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(if)  Trade receivables (continued)

The Group has trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer
products. For the trade receivables arising from sales of water and
beer products, the Group perform impairment assessment under ECL
model which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance. And the Group
uses two categories which reflect their credit risk, and how the
receivables loss allowance is determined for each of those categories.
For customers suffered financial difficulties, the Group recognised as
Category 1, and for the other customers, the Group recognised as
Category 2.

The summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group's ECL
model for loans receivables from third parties is the same as the ECL
model used for other receivables, which are set out below.

For trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer products,
the expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales
over the past years and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced within this period. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
The Group has identified the GDP and the unemployment rate to be
the most relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss
rates based on expected changes in these factors.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. BEREERE)
5.1  Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 BEEBERE)
(b)  Credit risk (continued) (b) EEREEE)
(i) Trade receivables (continued) (i) EWEZ(E)
On that basis, the loss allowance for trade receivables due from third ELRERE RZFTZ_FR=F
parties as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was determined as follows: ——Ft+tZRA=1T—H EBRE=7H
HEKE SR EBEREETOT -
(1
Category 2
£-%

More than
Within 1 year  1-2 years 2 years
31 December 2022 ZECCETZAST-H Category 1 Current past due past due past due Total
-8 HE  @H-Fh BE-ZRF ABEBRE Eh
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR ARBTR ARMTn ARMTR ARETR

Expected loss rate BRI A E 100% 1.37% 16.32% 31.14% 62.78%
Gross carrying amount FEmaE - 53,606 95,776 32,753 102,463 284,598
Loss allowance EBiERE - 3,953 15,626 10,198 64,322 94,099
(3
Category 2
-8
More than

Within 1 year 1-2 years 2 years
31 December 2021 ZEC-5+ZA=+-H Category 1 Curent  pastdue  pastdue pastdue Total
-8 PR RE-EN AR-EWE QRBEWE szt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

Expected loss rate BB R X 100% 4.34% 9.35% 25.28% 41.35%
Gross carrying amount REAE 28,672 94,249 37,329 137,408 47,722 345,380
Loss allowance EBiERE 28,672 4,093 3,491 34,736 19,731 90,723
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(if)  Trade receivables (continued)

The movement of loss allowances for trade receivables is as follows:

BBRBERE)

5.1 BEERBERE)

(b) EEEEE)

(i) FEREZ(E)

EWE SFEEEBEZHNT -

(3

RMB'000
ARET T
Balance at 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—H—BH&EH 59,235
Provision of impairment loss during the year FNFEBERE 31,488

Balance at 31 December 2021 and R-E-_—HF+-A=+—HRK
1 January 2022 —E__E-A-BM&ER 90,723
Provision of impairment loss during the year FAREEERE 86,643
Written-off i (83,267)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RIBZZE+-A=+-HNEH 94,099

Trade receivables are written off where there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure
to make contractual payments for a period of greater than 180 days
past due.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of an asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each reporting
period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit
risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition by considering available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information and the following indicators:

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the borrower; and

— significant changes in the expected performance and behaviour
of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the group and changes in the operating results of
the borrower.

Other financial assets at amortised cost are written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a borrower failing to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group. The Group categorises a
loan receivable for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments more than 180 days past due. Where loans receivables have
been written off, the Group continues to engage in enforcement
activity to attempt to recover the receivable due. Where recoveries
are made, these are recognised in profit or loss.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

190

(b) Credit risk (continued)
(if)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

The Group uses three categories for those receivables which reflect

their credit risk and how the loss allowance is determined for each

of those categories. A summary of the assumptions underpinning the

Group’s ECL model is as follows:

5. HMBEREEE)

5.1 BEEBERE)

(b) EEREEE)

(i) UBHKTTENEMEHEEE)
AEBEGZEREWEF A= EE5
[ Bt E A= ARV B DA e a0 e B I 2 = A
BRINBRERE IHAKERHAE
EEEERAREBRNT

( 4
Category Company definition of category Basis for recognition of loss allowance
5l ERNERTRE BRBABENEE
Performing Receivables whose credit risk is in line with 12 month expected losses. Where the
original expectations expected lifetime of an asset is less than
12 months, expected losses are measured
at its lifetime ECL (stage 1)
IE% 15 &\ fip B2 JR 78 H3 — B FE MU SRR 12EAEHEX - YR EHRFERE 2@

Underperforming

2bed

Non-performing
(credit impaired)

6]

Receivables for which a significant
increase has occurred compared to original
expectations; a significant increase in credit
risk is presumed if interest and/or principal
repayments are 30 days past due

B[R 78 H A L 15 L B A 0 ) P RO
WA SR/ AAEEFTAL0R - HHEEEE
B FEZ L N

Interest and/or principal repayments are
90 days past due or it becomes probable a
customer will enter bankruptcy

FIB R,/ SAEEFEHIOARELF
ABERFF

Interest and/or principal repayments are 180
days past due and there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery

FIER/ A& 8781800 - HSEREE
EWE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(if)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

Over the term of the other financial assets at amortised cost, the
Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for ECL
on a timely basis. In calculating the ECL rates, the Group considers
historical loss rates for each category of customers. No significant
changes to estimation techniques or assumptions were made during
the reporting period.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all the other financial assets
at amortised cost were within their contractual credit period. The
loss allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 was determined as follows:

FEMBmRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E

BBRBERE)

5.1 BEEBERE)

(b) EEREEE)

(i) UBHKTTENEMEHEEE)
EUERKATENEMEREEN
HRAN AEEERRKEEHREE
EREFHESRESEGERRA
R-AAERAEEBEEXR &5
EeZREBRERPAELIBAE
RBEREOBERTRELHRR
WEEKXEE o

RZEZZFR=-ZF=_—5+=H
=t+—H FBENESBRAGENE
HEMEENENEGNEERR -
RZEZZFRZFTZ—F+=ZA
=+—H - RESRKAGTENEMSE
MEENEBEEREETNOT

(3

31 December 2022 T+ A=+—H Performing Total
EE st
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR®T

Expected loss rate AR R XK 2.91%
Gross carrying amount FEAE 1,009,620 1,009,620
Loss allowance BERE 29,392 29,392
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(if)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

BBRBERE)

51 BEEBEZEEZ)

(b) FEFEmEE)

(i)  NBHEATSENRMTHEE (&)

(3

31 December 2021 —E-—F+=-A=+—H Performing Total
FE et
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTT

Expected loss rate LI P 2.70%
Gross carrying amount FREAE 1,014,305 1,014,305
Loss allowance EiaRE 27,418 27,418
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, no other financial assets at RZE-_—_FR-_FE-_—F+=A

amortised cost with a contractual amount written off during the

period. The gross carrying amount of other financial assets at

amortised cost, and thus the maximum exposure to loss, is as follows:

=t — B - HIRENME DA SR AT
EMHEMEREE - WEHRRATE
MEMEREENREEERREH
BERNBARBAEZNT

(3

2022
—EBE-CF
RMB’000
AR®T T
Performing e 1,009,620

Total gross other financial PABE SRR AR GT E MV E A
assets at amortised cost TRIEERSE 1,009,620
Less: Loss allowance o EEEE (29,392)
980,228

2021
B
RMB'000

ARBTTT

1,014,305

1,014,305
(27,418)

986,887
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(if)  Other financial assets at amortised cost (continued)

The movement of loss allowance for other financial assets at
amortised cost is as follows:

FEMBmRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
(ET-FE+ A=+ —HIERE

BBRBERE)

5.1 BEEBERE)

(b) EEREEE)

(i) UBHKTTENEMEHEEE)
NERKAHENEMEREENS
BREEEZHNT

(3

RMB'000
ARBT R
Balance at 1 January 2021 R-E-—5—A—HNEL 4,670
Impairment loss recognised during the year FARRREESE 22,748

Balance at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 AT -—F+-F=+—HBN
i Sk R S Lo0f 27,418
Impairment loss recognised during the year FRBRNRERE 1,974
Balance at 31 December 2022 R-BZZF+ZA=1+—-AN&ER 29,392

There was no other financial asset carrying a significant exposure to
credit risk.

(c) Ligquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient
cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses,
the Group’s treasury function allows flexibility in funding by
maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity
position based on the expected cash flows.

HiheMEEYEMBEEREEERR
HGE o

(c) FEHtEE
FEENRPUERAREEBRERTR
MRENMEREANEREEREN
HRAHRBAES  RRTHTREN
BN - ARAREHBETNESE
1 AEENEBERBBERTR
MREMREEFBMARTEENE
B o

EEERBENRSREEELE
RBESHRNRBIEA

J ]

ARKEFRERAA | £%2022 193

‘



—1

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. HMBEREEE)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 5.1 BEEBERE)
(c)  Liquidity risk (continued) (c) TEEREEE)
(i) Financing arrangements () BEZH
The Group has the following undrawn bank borrowing facilities: AEEEBUATHARRWBITER
BE
(3

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—8H
2022 2021
—E-CF B
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Fixed rate: BT F=
— expiring within one year —RN—FAE W 38,890 —
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BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. BBEREEE)
5.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 51 HEEBREZEZ)
(c)  Liquidity risk (continued) (c) FEMEREREE)
(i) Maturities of financial liabilities (i) Z=HBEEFHH
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities in relevant TROMEBREHRES O BHAF
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the end of HREEI S KAEBIHAENNASE
the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The amounts EmepmBd RPABRENHEN
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. BEHNHNTENANRBERE °
At 31 December 2022 W-B-—§+=-A=+-H

( 3

Undiscounted cash flows

AFEREH
Weighted
average Total
effective Within ~ Between 1 carrying
interest rate Tyear and 5 years Total amount
¥
BRA= —FNR -E1% i  REEAE

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Balt  ARETR ARWTR ARMTR  ARMTx

Non-derivative financial liabilities fT4£4REAE

Bank borrowings B 237 462,720 — 46720 452,000
Trade and notes payables ERESHRENZR — 246,918 — 246,918 246,918
Convertible Bonds RRES 71.69 = 338,649 338,649 308,696
Lease liabilities HERE 5.18 697 116 813 788
Other financial liabilities e ReE - 161,628 - 161,628 161,628

871,963 338,765 1,210,728 1,170,030
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-_—5+-A=t-HL%E

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5.

5.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(c) Liguidity risk (continued)

(if)  Maturities of financial liabilities (continued)
At 31 December 2021

(3

BBRBERE)

5.1 BEERBERE)

(c) mEMtmEkEE)

(i) EFEEIEHHE)
RZZE-Z—4%+-A=+—H

Undiscounted cash flows

AFRR TR
Weighted
average Total
effective Within Between 1 carrying
interest rate Tyear  and 5 years Total amount
¥
RN —EHUA —ERF & RAEEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARl ARETR

ARETL  ARETT  ARETR

Non-derivative financial liabilities F{T£4REE

Bank borrowings RER 241 419,901 76,811 496,712 485,000
Trade and notes payables ERESTRENRE — 277,923 — 277,923 277,923
Convertible Bonds BRESR 7.69 — 324,698 324,698 275,684
Other financial liabilities Ensmak — 144,244 — 144,244 144,244

842,068 401,509 1,243577 1,182,851

The Group provided a financial guarantee amounting to
approximately RMB265,000,000 (2021: RMB280,000,000) to one
of its associate for obtaining bank borrowings as at 31 December
2022. Given the financial position and earning ability of the associate
company, management believe that the risk of default for the
associate for the loan repayment is very low and thus management
believes that there is no material liquidity risk arising from the
financial guarantee provided by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group's capital is mainly from equity funding and borrowings for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on
the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as borrowings
divided by total capital. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus
borrowings.

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BBRBERE)

52 BEFXERER
AEBEEEANERAREREHE
FREEEMRE N EMARREHRD
& REMNEEREERANEAR
REREBRRBUARBEESHKA

RESLAEERARE  AKEAH
BN FRROBRE - MRREE
B BITHBIHEEENRE

HE_BE-_—_FN_FT-—F+—A
Zt+—BUIEFE AEEMEAREER
REBREAE S RER -

RENEMAT B AEENEE
£ EH R AR - RALER
R RBELE - AABER
A BRREFR 2 A1 2t
o

RZE-_—_FR-_FE-_—F+=-A
Z+—HMEEEBLENT

( 3
As at 31 December
R+=-H=+-8H

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREBETFT
Bank borrowings (Note 33) SRITE TR (HIEE33) 452,000 485,000
Borrowings from third parties (Note 32) F=AERME32) 4,857 5,175
Convertible Bonds (Note 34) AR E S (BT 34) 308,696 275,684
Total borrowings fBi s 765,553 765,859
Total equity B 2,859,460 2,831,432
Total capital BB 3,625,013 3,597,291
Gearing ratio BEEARLE 21.12% 21.29%
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. HMBEREEE)
5.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments 53 &MIANAAEETE
This section explains the judgements and estimates made in AHBAETRANBERGANE
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are BEABRKENERIANAAR
recognised and measured at fair value in the consolidated financial EBER TR HIER R 5t -
statements.
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (a) ARBEER
To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in AELHEEALBEMABAZED
determining fair value, the Group classifies its financial instruments AEREER AEERESEL
into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An HEMEERIAEDAZE - BER
explanation of each level follows underneath the table. ZEBESIRMT -
The following table presents the Group’s financial assets measured TREINAGEER_T__FR_-F
and recognised at fair value at 31 December 2022 and 2021 on a ZFTZA=T - BRETFEEN
recurring basis: RABEFELEANEHEE
(3 -
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Recurring fair value measurements REMAAEETE M aE AR®T ARBFT
Financial assets CREE
FVTPL WAREEFEBEHED
BPNEE
- Investment in GT Express - RENERER 27 — 2,000
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The table above analyses the Group’s financial instruments carried at
fair value as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 by level of the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs are
categorised into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and equity securities) is
based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group
is the current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded
in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined using valuation techniques which maximise the use of
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3. This is
the case for unlisted equity securities.

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

MERREREE)

53 £RMIANAAEBEFESE)
(a) AREEERE)
EREFEAABEZHERMNAA
BMAZBBHNESR  2WAKER=T
ZIERZFE_-F+ZA=+—H
BARBEIGZEMIA - BE@E
ABBDETXHAmMAPBEEARLR
EBEFEAN=EARR

FIE - NEARMEEEMESRIA
(MAHEEZTETARERE )
MARBERREPRAETEE
o ARBRBEBEERMA LTS
REREFBEAB - ZFTAGIA
FE -

F2E:WHREBMBEENSH
TAMBIRBMITETRE)NRAE
BENRABENRAUTBEEMSEER
BELERKBEBNFEMANEER
MET - Wit E—BIANDAAEE
FIENMEEABABBEATEREY
B RIZIANAE2E -

FIE: W—ERLZEERNEAZNE
WIFRBAEEDHHBEME * RIZ
TAAEIE - JF L EmE
BUER
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BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

200

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 5. BBEREEE)
5.3  Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued) 53 SRIENDAEBETES)
(a)  Fair value hierarchy (continued) (a) RAREEERE)
(1
Financial Fair value Valuation Significant
assets Fair value as at hierarchy technique unobservable input
SREE RUTREHARER DAEEESR EEH i EATUBEGARE
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
—E_CF -
t=A=t-8  tZA=+-A
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBFTL
- GT Express — 2,000  2022: Level 3 2022: Discounted cash 2022: Discount rate
(2021: Level 2) flow method per annum
(2021: Quoted price)  (2021: N/A)
-BRZEH — 2000 —E--#:F3E —B--F: —E-CE:
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

5. MBEREEE)

53 SBMIBNAAREBENEE)
(b) ZEIELAREEFEZHE

(1
Financial Financial
assets assets
at FVTOCI at FVTPL Total
UAREEFE
BESHHA UQAAEEFTE
Hib2EWE BEHEFHTA
NEeMEE BRNEREE #at
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARET T AR¥ET ARET T
At 1 January 2021 WZE-_—F—H—H 174,482 192,328 366,810
Net gains recognised & R R R T WS (BT =R 8)
upon disposal (Note 8) — 9,189 9,189
Fair value changes (Note 8) NABEEZH(HES) 16,216 (9,517) 6,699
Transfer to investments RS AR
accounted for using the ANRMIRE
equity method (190,698) — (190,698)
Disposal HeE — (190,000) (190,000
Transfer out of Level 3 EHEIE — (2,000) (2,000)
At 31 December 2021 and RZZEZ—F+ZA=+—HK
1 January 2022 —E--%—H—H — — —
Transfer into level 3 EAE3E — 2,000 2,000
Fair value changes (Note 8) ARBEZE(HES) = (2,000) (2,000)
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-=-§+=-A=+—H — — —
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202

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

5.3 Fair value measurements of financial instruments (continued)

(c)  Group’s valuation processes

The Group's finance department performs the valuation of the
financial assets during the financial reporting process, including
level 3 fair value. Management engages external valuation experts
to facilitate the fair value evaluation as and when necessary. During
the valuation, management considers the business performance of
the investee in comparison with competitors in the same industry, as
well as the external valuation report if any. Risk adjustments specific
to the counterparties (including assumptions about credit default
rates) are derived from credit risk ratings determined by the Group's
internal credit risk management group. Discussion of valuation
process and results are held between chief financial officer, the
finance team and qualified external valuers that are responsible for
the valuation.

(d)  Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not
measured at fair value on a recurring basis

The management considers that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost recognised in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports regularly reviewed by the executive Directors, being the
CODM, that are used to make strategic decisions.

(@) Description of segments and principal activities

(i) Water business segment

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and selling
a range of water products through wholesales in the PRC, selling
raw materials and consumables to associates and third parties, and
leasing production lines to associates.

(i) Beer business segment
The Group manufactures and sells a range of beer products mainly in
the PRC through wholesales.

(b) Segment information disclosures

Sales between segments are based on the agreed terms between both
segments. The revenue from external parties reported to the CODM
is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

The amounts provided to the CODM with respect of total assets and
total liabilities are measured in a manner consistent with that of the
consolidated financial statements.

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

2HEHR
EEEREAMTES(NEIBHERE
FRRME L BEOR R M € IR0 R
EREELENH -

(a) PBREIEXRBHL

() KkEBEDH
AKRENIEXHARTRERERY
BHERRIMKRIER M
ARME=ZFHERM B RFEN - R
[MEE AR LA ER -

(i) ETEHTE
AEBTENTELEREEHER
BERDIER °

(b) ZABERKE

73 BB TR 8 & JH B 10 R 18 70 2 155 0 O {6
FHET ERTEBLERRENK
BANBEPHRARERNGAERAR
EHE-ROTAGE -

RETIBLERRENENAEE
FREENERRENGAFHERE
ENE-HNTAGE
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DEERE)
(b)  Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) DHERRE(E)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable BHE_ZT_—_F+_-_A=+—HItF
segments for the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows: B OEMFIERLARENALSR
DEE D EERIT -
(2
Water Beer
business business  Corporate
segment segment and others Total
K5 BHEAE LERHM Bt

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARETR AR%®Tn AR%®Txn

Total segment revenue k1 ON L 65,505 246,442 — 311,947
Cost of sales HEKA (58,186)  (162,877) —  (221,063)
Gross profit EF 7,319 83,565 — 90,884
Share of result on investments L AEREARS

accounted for using the REBE

equity method (10,194) = (500) (10,694)
Allowance for of allowance CREAERMEE

for ECL on financial assets EERE (87,173) (1,260) (184) (88,617)
Adjusted EBITDA* ARELEBINER

BeEpRE (102,947) 93,037 (24,762) (34,672)

Finance income BB 21,925 12,942 335 35,202
Finance costs HBER (6,071) (3,171) (28,399) (37,641)
Depreciation and amortisation WEREH (24,221) (35,112) (673) (60,006)
(Loss)/profit before tax BRELRT(B51E) /I (111,314) 67,696 (53,499) (97,117)
Income tax (expense)/credit R (BR) e (430) (6,105) 1,186 (5,349)
(Loss)/profit for the year EE(FR) /7B (111,744) 61,591 (52,313) (102,466)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6.
(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)
( 3
Water
Business
segment
KXo E
RMB'000
ARETT
Segment total assets SHBEE 4,178,048
- Investments accounted for —FREREARKRE
using the equity method 1,443,916
Unallocated K
Deferred tax assets BERBEEE
Assets of corporate and others ¥R EMEE
Inter-segment elimination 7 B I EH
Total assets HMEE
Segment total liabilities PHAEE 1,516,615
Unallocated RO E
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIAEE
Liabilities of corporate rEREMAE
and others
Inter-segment elimination o ER I
Total liabilities HWeE

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

PEBER (&)
(b) oBEREEE)
Beer
Business
segment Total
8 E 2 & et
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR
2,428,238 6,606,286
— 1,443,916
4,570
28,982
(2,499,705)
4,140,133
351,649 1,868,264
6,929
369,637
(964,157)
1,280,673
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For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z__H+-A=t-RL%E

206

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable

segments for the year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

2 EER ()

(b) ABEBBE)
BE-F-—#+-A=t-ALF
B RHTERMEARENTRR
B PO WERIT

(1
Water Beer
business business Corporate
segment segment and others Total
i
KEBDE o GEREM @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETF T AREF T ARETF T ARETF T
Total segment revenue DEHBANEE 147,571 308,557 — 456,128
Cost of sales THERAR (86,280) (178,895) — (265,175)
Gross profit E 61,291 129,662 — 190,953
Share of result on investments eI R EA RN
accounted for using the ®E/(E8)
equity method 473 — (465) 8
(Allowance for)/reversal of SREERHBEERRE
allowance for ECL (Bfs)/ BEED
on financial assets (44,454) (9,790) 8 (54,236)
Adjusted EBITDA* RRESHTERBHARE (12,883) 142,420 (20,207 109,330
Finance income BB 33,662 22,396 9 56,154
Finance costs BHER (409) (13,661) (21,585) (35,655)
Depreciation and amortisation MELEH (26,483) (45,310) (163) (71,956)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREATRE (B18) (6,113) 105,845 (41,859) 57,873
Income tax (expense)/credit FEE(BR)/E% (1,497) (10,241) 819 (10,919)
Profit/(loss) for the year EERE/(FR) (7,610) 95,604 (41,040) 46,954

* Adjusted EBITDA is a key financial measure regularly monitored by CODM

in managing the Group's performance. Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by

excluding the following effects from the profit/(loss) for the year: (i) finance

(cost)/income, net; (i) depreciation and amortisation; and (iii) income tax

(expense)/credit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. ZDEERE)
(b)  Segment information disclosures (continued) (b) 2HERRE(E)
Adjusted EBITDA is not an accounting measure under IFRSs and should not be R ST EE AT RE I 3EBIBR BT S
considered as an alternative to the profit/(loss) for the year as a measure of BEENETHGHEERE  BTERR
operational performance. Adjusted EBITDA does not have a standard calculation ERIREFERRE(BRGELEEEE -
method and the Group's definition of adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to ARERETMEHHA N BEY BRI ENE
that of other companies. BN BASEUAREHRETINES
BRI T B T AR R A AR L
%o
(3
Water Beer
Business Business
segment segment Total
KD E 8H 5 5 et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBETT
Segment total assets PEHBEE 4,260,928 2,415,426 6,676,354
— Investments accounted —FREREARNRE
for using the equity method 1,416,403 — 1,416,403
Unallocated KA
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBENEEEEZS
STABRNERERE 2,000
Deferred tax assets RIEFRIBEE 5,000
Assets of corporate and others (¥R EMEE 6,446
Inter-segment elimination o B0 g (2,540,854)
Total assets BMEE 4,148,946
Segment total liabilities PHEEE 1,593,782 399,806 1,993,588
Unallocated KA E
Deferred tax liabilities EEMBEER 8,539
Liabilities of corporate andothers (M¥NEMEE 305,827
Inter-segment elimination 7 EP I 85 (990,440)
Total liabilities BmefE 1,317,514

Entity-Wide information

ERaEEN

Breakdown of total revenue by category is shown in Note 7.

Revenue from external customers of the Group were all derived in the
PRC for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

208

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Segment information disclosures (continued)

Entity-Wide information (continued)

Non-current assets are all located in the PRC as at 31 December 2022
and 2021.

() Information about major customers
Revenue from customers over 10% of the Group’s total revenue is as

PEWERE)

(b) SHEMKEE)
ER#ZELSH(E)
HE-F--FR-F-—F+7
=+—B  FRBEEHNHE -

(0 EREFHESR
REEASELKATB10%HEP

follows: FIURAINT
-
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=1+—-HLEE
2022 2021
—E__F —EZ—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBETT
Customer A* BEA* 83,843 143,117
Customer B* XFEB* 75,903 71,097
* Revenue from beer business segment * LS SR N

During the year ended 31 December 2022, sales of approximately
RMB18,230,000 (2021: RMB34,269,000) and RMB1,315,000 (2021:
nil) are derived from associates in the water business segment and
beer business segment respectively.
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REVENUE

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue from external customers is mainly derived from the sales of

water products and beer products. The Group also sells raw materials

and consumables to associates and third parties and leases production

lines to associates. Breakdown of the revenue is as follows:

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

L'ON

SNEBEPHMATIERANHEKE
mREEEm o AEBETHEE RV
LFEMTHERTRE=TUREH
KERTHENR - WARAMT -

® 00O

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-HLFE

2022
—E-_C—F
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Revenue from contracts with customers: ZBE&SEWA :
Recognised at a point in time RE R EER
Sales of water products KEREE 58,761
Sales of beer products BAEMEE 245,982
Sales of raw materials and consumables FEM R R M S E 460
305,203
Revenue from other source: HARREHWA
Rental income WA 6,744
Total FoE 311,947

2021
—E-—F
RMB'000

ARETT

140,821
307,949
609

449,379

6,749

456,128
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

8.

210

OTHER GAINS, NET

(3

Hiolss - FH

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLFE

2022
—E-CF
RMB'000
AR®T R

Other gains/(losses)

Government grants

- Tax refund (note (a))

- Amortisation of deferred income

— Other government grant (note (b))

Gain on disposal of financial assets
at FVTPL (note (c))

Fair value changes on financial assets
at FVTPL (note (d))

Write-down of inventories

Gain on disposal of investments
accounted for using the equity methods

Loss on deregistration of investments
accounted for using the equity method

Others

Hitiest,/ (B518)

BB

— &M (P5E (a))

— IR

— H A BT B (P RE (b))

RENAEBEFEAEZHTA
BaEMEREEN K ()
ARREEFELEEEH T AR
MEREENDAEEBER
(HEE(d))

FEMR

REFAREEARNRERS

IR ERERA AR
REEENEE
Hitr

2,374
16,951

(2,000)
(675)

1,780

(43)
74

18,461

2021
—E-—F
RMB'000

ARETT

3,357
2,374
21,592

9,189

(9,517)

(612)

108

26,491
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER GAINS, NET (CONTINUED)

notes:

(a)

The Group is eligible to receive subsidy income from the local government
in relation to the domestic subsidiaries’ fiscal contribution to the local
economic development as a major tax payer and employer in Tibet. No
tax refund was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB3,357,000).

Other government grant represents various form of subsidies granted to
the Group by the local government authorities in the PRC for compensation
of expenses incurred by the Group. These grants are generally made for
business support and awarded to enterprises on a discretionary basis. There
are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

The Group purchased financial products issued by a financial institution in
the PRC. These financial products will mature within one year with variable
return rates indexed to the performance of the underlying assets. As at 31
December 2021, the Group disposed of these investments amounting to
approximately RMB180,811,000, which resulted in a gain amounting to
approximately RMB9,189,000.

As at 31 December 2022, the unlisted equity investment held by the
Group was nil (2021: RMB2,000,000, which were measured financial
assets at FVTPL). The unrealised fair value losses of RMB2,000,000 (2021:
RMB9,517,000) were recognised for the year.

FEMBmRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-—F+-A=t+-HILEE

HieWzm - FHEE)
Pt
@ AREEAEAIEMBEERES

BERKREWRTESEEARBER
AYHENCEERRNVBREBR BN
PR -BE_T=-=F+=A
TH-ALEEECHEREMH(ZE
——F : AR¥3,357,0007T) °

EtuBRG#HDETES T RGE BR
AEERUNEELAHE - B
EREERY - ZEMP—RB/E
X% IMBRTLE - ZEHPL
EEMARTROGRERERARSZE -

AEEBATE -—HoRBBETH
TRER ZELRERBER—FR
FE AWUEDRREAAEEENR
Rt - R -F-—F+-A=+—
R A&EREZSRENARE
180,811,000 - BB UENARE
9,189,0007T °

R-ZEZ-_—F+-fF=+—H K&
EREMILTREREAT(ZE
——%: AR™2,000,0007T ' Ak
NABEGIEAEE .#Maﬁm%
HNEemEE) ANFEEBRARERAR
Ffﬁ}éﬂaﬁ/\ﬁmooooooﬁ(:g
——%: AR¥9,517,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-_—5+-A=t-HL%E

9.  FINANCE (COST)/INCOME, NET 9.

(3

s (ER), WA - B

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLFE

2022

—E-CF

RMB'000

AR®TR

Foreign exchange loss net R SEVE R —

Interest costs on bank borrowings RITEFFEER (9,618)

Interest costs on convertible bonds (Note 34) AJ# R E5HF| S8 FH (MiFE34) (22,504)
Interest costs on borrowings from B=HEFNFEER

third parties (5,475)

Interest costs on lease liabilities HEBENEER (44)

Other finance costs H At B 758 A —

Finance cost MkER (37,641)

Finance income — interest income BRI — FI B A 35,202

Finance (cost)/income, net B (BA) WA B8 (2,439)

2021
—E-—F

RMB'000

ARETT

(1,066)
(13,661)
(16,591)

(4,270)
(3)
(64)

(35,655)
56,154

20,499
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REUBBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FREBER
The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated NTREGEBRRIAANMEHE
statement of profit or loss represents: A& -
(2
Year ended 31 December
BZ+-A=t—-HLEE
2022 2021
—E__F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETFT
PRC Enterprise Income Tax: Bl EATER
- Current tax —ANEARIE 6,729 14,624
— Over-provision in prior year - FERERE — (645)
6,729 13,979
Deferred tax BTN (1,380) (3,060)
Income tax expense s &HR 5,349 10,919
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

10.

214

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The taxation on the Group's (loss)/profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax

rate as follows:

(3

10. FAIEBERE)
REBMNBRAAGEHA(BE) /HBa
BBREBNNRAEEREAER
HRIEWEE - AR

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-HLHFE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARETT

(Loss)/profit before income tax BrRETERI AT (E51E),/FE (97,117) 57,873
Tax calculated at statutory tax rate of 15% AT RE 15% st EMFIA (14,568) 8,681
Preferential tax rates on income of ETEEERNRARMERH

certain group entities (note) BRI (M) (4,355) (7,609)
Loss not subject to tax BARNER 9,756 5,845
Tax effect of unused tax losses ABAAERATEEBENTIETLE

not recognised 6,028 1,731
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes ORIk E3 14,797 11,359
Incomes not taxable for tax purposes BARBUA (6,309) (8,443)
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBRERE — (645)
Income tax expense TS ER 5,349 10,919
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

note: The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under current laws

of the Cayman Islands, there is no income, estate, corporation, capital gains
or other taxes payable by the Company. The group entities established
under the International Business Companies Acts of the British Virgin Islands
are exempted from British Virgin Islands income taxes.

The group entities incorporated in the PRC are subject to PRC enterprise
income tax. Major operational entities of the Group are located in Tibet
and were entitled to preferential income tax rate. Based on the tax ruling
announced by the PRC central tax authorities, the corporate income tax
rate of Lhasa is 9% for the years from 2015 to 2025. From 2026 onwards,
the corporate income tax rate in Tibet will resume to 15% if no further
announcement from the PRC central tax authorities is made. The remaining
entities incorporated in the PRC were taxed based on the income tax rate of
25% for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: 25%) as determined in
accordance with the relevant PRC income tax rules and regulations.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong Profits Tax, the
first HKD2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HKD2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%. Accordingly, the Hong
Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on
the first HKD2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on
the estimated assessable profits above HKD2 million.

The relevant deferred tax balances had been measured based on the
expected tax rates applicable in the future.

GEE

FEMBmRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E

10. FAIEBERE)

ARRRFAESHEEMMKL - RIEH
SHERTER  FRATBEEME
QPR BEN KRB BAXIE
ARFIEAMCHE  RERERLZES
MEREEARDERIMNEEEER
HRANRBRELESNHREN

ERBEFMRR I EEEEARNT
BOERER ASENEEEEE
BURARTZZMEREERE
RERE R RTIEEE R HOBBER
Bl NENCEMSHEER T
—HFEE-T-_RFAEI% - A%
ZRFR R BER RS E
LA AIBEEMCERSHRE
EBIREE15% - E4 N d H M
KUMEREREE-_T-__F+=A
=t+—BLEFEREEBNHPEME
HBAI BB 25% TSR =R(=
T —1F  25%) 8 -

BEEEFNEGHROMEHMES - &
EREBERE 2,000,000 HH T
B & £8.25% * i i #2,000,000 7%
TR R EAA16.5% - REAF
BHRRmATNEEERN G EEE
B165%ME —BHEMB - Bl - &
BISEEEEE 2,000,000 T EE
PR R MR 8.25% M R EE B
F5%: - #8318 2,000,000 LI fHRTE
BEEFIZ16.5% MH KT EE BT
B -

HEREREEHRDRERENAR
BRANHRETIAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

11.  (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

(3

11.

FE(BR) /78
FEMBEMEGIA) TSR :

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLFE

2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETFT
Auditor’s remuneration ZE A 2

— Audit services — AR 1,973 1,707
— Non-audit services e 172 166
Raw materials and consumables used BT A R R N R 140,585 192,833
Amortisation of intangible assets BREEHH 3,230 13,165
Depreciation of PP&E ME - BEREETE 55,525 57,926
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESENE 1,251 865
Short-term lease expenses CHEEER 1,710 2,367
Employee benefit expenses EERMNER 63,505 63,682
Advertising and marketing expenditure BERTZHEEER 2,520 4,784
City construction tax and education surcharge ¥ 2 &% R 5 K hn & 1,090 1,964
Electricity and other utility expenses BHRHEMEEIRER 9,368 7,422
Legal and other consulting services fee EREREMBAREER 11,127 9,866
Transportation costs JEET) PN 29,721 42,988

Allowance for ECL on financial assets: CREEEREEBERE
— Trade receivables —EWE % 86,643 31,488
- Other financial assets at amortised cost —RERK A ENEMEREE 1,974 22,748
Loss on disposal of PP&E % BEREENEEER = 24
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

(3

FEMBmRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E

12. EEEANER

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLFE

Wages and salaries
Provision for medical and other

TEREHE
BEREMEEENERE

employee benefits

Contributions to defined REMFGEAREFEMEFR (P )

contribution pension scheme (note (a))

Contributions to the housing

EAZEE ESAGIEIW)

scheme (note (b))

2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETT
52,347 51,592
2,861 2,208
5,642 7,469
2,655 2,413
63,505 63,682

notes:

Pension scheme

The Group pays contributions to publicly administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual basis. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods. The contributions are recognised
as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in
the future payments is available.

The Group also operates a defined contribution MPF Scheme in Hong
Kong under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

@ BRI

AEERBRY  ANEEALEER
RINEREFBEDHER - WZES
TERAEEXNAMERISNAHME
LBEHRERREREREMEMNE
B AEETEE - FEROEEK
HEEME - HANIHSHEARESR
BAER - ANERETRERER
SHARNFBROOBERTHBAE
o

ARETERFERUELERE
B EEERREAAKRZERE
P B EERY -BEERMAKERE
2itd - HFREEELAF2 2R
—BALFE TRRERERE
RARINBERGERNE - ®ES
AUHEERBUERASRE  EA
SHEENRBE - ASHEHRES
AEEL 2 BIRFEEEENES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-T-—

12.

218

FTZA=T-RLEFRE

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in PRC are
required to participate in the Central Pension Scheme. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the
Central Pension Scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the Central Pension
Scheme. The employer contributions vest fully once made.

As the Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed to the Defined Contributions Scheme, there were no forfeited
contributions under the Defined Contributions Scheme which may be used
to reduce the existing level of contributions.

Housing scheme

In accordance with the PRC housing reform regulations, the Group is
required to make contributions to the Chinese state-sponsored housing
fund at 5-12% of the salaries of the PRC employees. At the same time,
the employees are also required to make a contribution at 5-12% of their
salaries out of their payroll. The employees are entitled to claim the entire
sum of the fund under certain specified withdrawal circumstances.
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B —EBD LA RE
E30 o BRI R SRR IR
SEHBMRTRTINE AR -
BEZHFARAELHNEBEE -

+
BAZERRRANETE - ZENE

T

#

A A S B R T HRAET A RE M
FAdE T2 RERER  FILAE
HRET B30 B 0L Uk SRR RN
BB BFKF -

EEaEl
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12.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (CONTINUED)

()

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for
the year include five (2021: four) Directors and chief executive, details
of whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 45
(c). The emoluments paid and payable to the remaining one highest paid
employee who was neither a Director nor chief executive in 2021 were as

REUBBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

12. EEENEBERE)

(@ TDEERSHFHAL

AEEFAEEILRSHFMNALERE
DR -5 OR)EERTH
AB - BENEHBEDRHEA5()
EFINSMRR - RZFZ %2
NRENTES - BLFEEMIET

follows: BAEBMGEEHMEE ZHMESWT:
>
Year ended 31 December
BEZ+-A=1+-RALEE
2022 2021
—E-CF —T-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
Basic salaries and allowances EAE SRR — 1,147
Contribution to pension scheme BIRE AR — 15
Bonuses TE4L — 92
= 1,254

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the Directors
nor chief executive of the Company whose remuneration fell within the

d) YFEEARAEFTHFTRAELZ
B HEE S o A B E E i E E

following band is as follows: e
>
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=1t—-RLEE
2022 2021
—E-CH —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR% TR ARBFT
HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000 1,000,001 %8 7TE 1,500,000 % 7T = 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-_—5+-A=t-HL%E

13. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BROER)BF
(@) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (a) BREX(EE) BA
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, basic (loss)/earnings per RZFZZFR-ZF_—F+=
share is based on the following data: A=+—8 SREX(EBE)/
BFTHERNATEEE -
(4
Year ended 31 December
BZ+-A=t—-HL=EE
2022 2021
—E_C_F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARETFT
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners ARAEA AL (EE),/FIE
of the Company (102,466) 46,954
(3

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—HLFE

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AREBFIT
(restated)
(&= E51)
Weighted average number of ordinary BEITERRMET9R(TR)
shares in issue (thousands) 2,774,762 2,546,798
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13.  (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

(@) Basic (loss)/earnings per share (continued)
Note:

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
calculating basic (loss)/earning per share for the year ended 31 December
2022 has been adjusted retrospectively for the effects of the placing of
shares and rights issue of shares completed on 21 July 2022 and 30 January
2023 respectively. The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the
purpose of calculating basic (loss)/earnings per share for the year ended
31 December 2021 has been adjusted retrospectively for the effects of the
rights issue of shares completed on 30 January 2023.

(b) Diluted (loss)/earnings per share
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share for years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021 were the same as basic (loss)/earnings per share
as the outstanding convertible bonds had anti-dilutive effect on
the basic earnings per share.

14. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022, nor has any
dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2021:
nil).

13. B8R
(a)

(b)

14. B2
S

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(B58])BR(#E)

SREAX(FR)BNE)
P

HEHE-_Z-_—F+-R=+—H
FFEGRERNBRVANG LA
BIMEFHEERIRR T ZF
tAZ+-BRZZEZ=F—-A=T
BREROBHEES RBRHEBHTE
ETERAZ - FEHE_T_—F
+ZR=T-BLFENERELR(E
1B),/ BNOLBRMETHHERHR=
To=F- A=+ AERORMBER
BT -

SR#EF(FER) BF
ARAEENTRRESHER
ERBREREEER 8E=
T-FR=ZF=—F+=H
S+—HEFENSREE(E
B)/BINEGREN(EE),/
AFER o

—E-—F+-A=+—HItF

B ARBALEAARREBRKER

& A
R

FEBRNEMRE  BREH
EnMEZZRNEAKRE(ZF

——F i E)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES 15. FRREEE HEARE

222

(2
Land Rental
use right premises Total
TR HEET @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREBTR ARBTR
(note (a)) (note (b))
GEAO) (K& (b))
Cost 5%
As at 1 January 2021, RZE-—F—A—H
31 December 2021 and T —F+ZA=1+—H
1 January 2022 —E-~#—H—H 33,435 289 33,724
Additions wNE — 1,270 1,270
Exchange alignment BE 5 SRR — 52 52
As at 31 December 2022 R=B=-=f+=A=t+-H 33,435 1,611 35,046
Accumulated depreciation REtinE
As at 1 January 2021 R-E-—F—F—H 5,638 144 5,782
Depreciation for the year FAME 720 145 865
As at 31 December 2021 RZZZ—%+=-A=+—H
and 1 January 2022 —E-__F—A—H 6,358 289 6,647
Depreciation for the year FAE 722 529 1,251
Exchange alignment B 5 R — 22 22
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZB-ZF+=-H=+—H 7,080 840 7,920
Carrying value BREE
As at 31 December 2022 R-B--%#+=-A=+-H 26,355 771 27,126
As at 31 December 2021 R_E_—F+-_A=+—H 27,077 — 27,077
notes: B EE
(@) All of the Group's land use rights are located in the PRC and each has a (@) AKEmMBLMFERESVATE

lease period of 50 years.

As at 31 December 2022, land use rights with carrying value of
approximately RMB26,355,000 (2021: RMB27,077,000) were secured for
bank borrowings with carrying amounts of approximately RMB72,000,000
(2021: RMB75,000,000) (Note 33).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-_—5+-A=1-BL%E

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 15. EAEEE HEAEE)

(b)  Amount includes right-of-use assets resulting from new leases entered. At by SEEEHRAMAFEEMELENE
31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had lease liabilities as follows: RAEEE RZT__FR_T=—
F+ZA=+—0 AEEMNHAESE

EWTAR
At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had lease liabilities as RZE-—ER-_FTE-—F+=H4
follows: =t—H AEENHEGBEWO TR

T~
°

Present value of
the minimum lease

payments Total minimum lease
REHENRNERE REHENRBE
2022 2021 2022 2021

—E__F T B —_T-—%
RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT AR¥TR ARETR

Within 1 year 1FR 673 — 697 —

After 1 year but within 2 years TR E2FUR 115 — 116 —
788 813

Less: total future interest expenses & : &K 5|8 & A& (25)

Present value of lease liabilities ~ TAE&EMIEE 788 —

Analysed by: B TYIEB ETHH

Rental premises HEME 788 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. W%  BMERR®E
®
Construction
Buildings Machinery Vehicles Others in progress Total
#7 H# L] A HRIE a5t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARBTTR ARETTR

Cost B

As at 1 January 2021 RZE-—F—A—H 195,376 780,450 4728 25,883 46,552 1,052,989
Additions NE 362 2,246 — 37 3,423 6,068
Disposal & - (622) (185) - - (807)
Transfer from investment property BRERENREHE 4,854 - - - - 4,854
Exchange alignment fE = — - (18) (84) - (102)

As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 =T =—4F

TZA=+—-HkK

—E-"F#—H[—H 200,592 782,074 4,525 25,836 49,975 1,063,002
Additions NE - 80 1,409 118 3,803 5,500
Transfer upon completion STAX B - 5,454 - - (5,454) -
Exchange alignment DEE 31, 38 28 - - 81 269 - 350
As at 31 December 2022 R-B=ZZF

+=ZA=+—-8H 200,592 787,608 6,015 26,223 48,414 1,068,852

Accumulated depreciation and impairment R 5t 378 KRl &

As at 1 January 2021 RZE=——F—A—H 67,365 493,386 3,499 18,755 - 583,005
Depreciation for the year FRTE 7,682 49,554 331 359 - 57,926
Disposal & - (604) (179) - - (783)
Transfer from investment property BRERENREHE 409 - - - - 409
Exchange alignment BEE 34, 58 22 - - (16) (83) - (99)

As at 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 R=ZT=—4F

+ZA=+—-8k

—E-"F#—HA—H 75,456 542,336 3,635 19,031 - 640,458
Depreciation for the year FRITE 7,543 47,307 350 325 - 55,525
Exchange alignment BEE 34, 58 22 - - 61 265 - 326
As at 31 December 2022 R=B=Z=F

+ZA=+—-H 82,999 589,643 4,046 19,621 = 696,309
Carrying value BREE
As at 31 December 2022 R=Z==f

+=BA=+-H 117,593 197,965 1,969 6,602 48,414 372,543
As at 31 December 2021 RZZE=Z—%F

+=-A=+—H 125,136 239,738 890 6,805 49,975 422,544
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been charged to

the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

(4

REUBBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-_—5+-A=1-BL%E

16. ¥  BMERRKZHE)

mE - BMEMKEBETEEN KA ER
R - BT

Year ended 31 December

BE+T-A=t-HLEE

2022 2021
—E-CF TR
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETR ARETT

Cost of sales
Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses

HERAK
HERDHER
THER

48,455 54,669
127 61
6,943 3,196
55,525 57,926

As at 31 December 2022, the Group was in the process of applying
for registration of the ownership certificates for certain of its building
with an aggregate carrying value of approximately RMB245,000
(2021: RMB264,000). The executive Directors are of the opinion
that the Group is entitled to lawfully and validly occupy or use the

property.

RZEZZF+ZR=+—H"' &&
EFpBREELSARE2450007T
(ZZ=Z—%F: AR264,0007T)H#)
ETEFREREMEREETL - H
TEERR/AEEBERESZBENGA
S AFEFRRZIE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

16.

226

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022, factory plants with carrying value of
approximately RMB53,043,000 were secured for bank borrowings
with carrying amounts of approximately RMB72,000,000 (Notes
33(b)) (As at 31 December 2021, factory plants with carrying value
of approximately RMB57,465,000 were secured for bank borrowings
with carrying amounts of approximately RMB75,000,000).

The category of machinery includes production lines leased by the
Group to two related parties (2021: two) under operating leases with
the following net carrying amounts:

16. ¥  BMERRKZHE)

RZEZZF+ZA=+—HB K
EE AL AR 53,043,000 &
BECHEFRTEOEANDARKE
72,000,000 7T A ER1THE R (M5 33(b))
(RZEZ—F+ZA=+—8"
REEAKH ARMS7,465,000 7T K
BECHEFRTEAEANDARKE
75,000,0007T) °

BRENDBEERASERELEHEE
MMABEHLS(CT-—F: ME) b
MRAEER  REFENT -

(3

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEE
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFIT
Cost DN 97,559 97,559
Accumulated depreciation at 1 January R—A—B&:E (73,245) (66,942)
Depreciation for the year FNE (6,303) (6,303)
Carrying value REE 18,011 24,314
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

17. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17. REMEHE
(4
Building
BF
RMB’000
ARETR
Cost D%
As at 1 January 2021 WZE_—%—A—H 4,854
Transfers to property, plant and equipment HEENE  BERSRE (4,854)
As at 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 RZBE-_—F+ZA=+—-8"
and 31 December 2022 —B--f-A-HR
—g-—F+=f=+-A —
Accumulated depreciation REtiE 409
As at 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—H—H (409)
Transfers to property, plant and equipment BREENE  BELIEE -
As at 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 R-B-_—-F+=-H=+—-H"
and 31 December 2022 BRI -B-HR
—E_“H+-A=1+—H —
Carrying Value BREE
As at 31 December 2022 R-B--f+=-B=+—-H —
As at 31 December 2021 N_E-—F+=A=+—H —
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's investment BE_T-_—F+-HA=+—BItF
properties had been transfer to property, plant and equipment. B AEEREMFEHECEREY

R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. EFREE
(1
Trade Distribution Information
Name Network System Total
g DB EERE&K et
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥BTn AR®BTr AR®TR AR¥ETR
Cost B
As at 1 January 2021, RZZE-_—F—HF—H-
31 December 2021, —Z-—#+-A=+-H"
1 January 2022 and —TZ5-RA-HK
31 December 2022 —E--FE+-A=1—H 58,200 151,100 173 209,473
Accumulated amortisation REtEH
As at 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—F—H 23,927 141,165 96 165,188
Charge for the year FRLH 3,198 9,935 32 13,165
As at 31 December 2021 and W -ZT-—F+-A=+-HRE
1 January 2022 —E--_F—Af—H 27,125 151,100 128 178,353
Charge for the year FAXH 3,198 — 32 3,230
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZH&+Z-B=+—-H 30,323 151,100 160 181,583
Carrying amount fREE
As at 31 December 2022 RZIBEZZH&+ZHB=+—H 27,877 — 13 27,890
As at 31 December 2021 RZZ-Z—f+=ZA=+—H 31,075 — 45 31,120

Amortisation of approximately RMB3,230,000 (2021: RMB3,230,000) M ANR®3,230,000cmEHE-F
is included in the “Administrative expenses” and nil (2021: ——%: AR%3,230,0007T )5 AR
RMB9,935,000) is included in “Selling and distribution costs” in the BEERNITHRER] mMEHHE (=
T_—%F: AR%9,9350007T)5 A
MEERRNIHERDHER] -

consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBmRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E

19. GOODWILL 19. BHE
’ D ——————ee
As at 31 December
R+=-A=+—H

2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT
Tiandi Green Kipsx e 721,139 721,139

The goodwill of approximately RMB721,139,000 was generated
from acquisition of a controlling stake in Tiandi Green in 2014.
Tiandi Green was viewed as one CGUs within the beer segment. The
recoverable amount of the CGUs is determined based on value-in-
use calculations, which is based on discounted cash flow sourced
from the financial budgets approved by the management covering a
5-year period, and the discount rate of approximately 15.79% (2021:
14.5%) that reflects current market assessment of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the CGUs. Cash flows beyond 5-year
period have been extrapolated using 3% (2021: 3%) growth rate
per annum. Other assumptions included budgeted income estimated
based on the past performance and management’s expectations of
market developments, etc.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any
these assumptions would not cause the carrying amounts of the
CGUs to exceed their recoverable amounts.

As the recoverable amounts of the CGUs is higher than the carrying
amounts, the Directors are of the view that there was no impairment
of goodwill as at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

RZT-NFREXR G EHER
BEEHARKET21,139,000 LK &
2o RHBEEHERATEENHAK
—BHeELEMN - REeELEMD
MREEENERNFREBENTE
BT ZAERENREEEEME
ZRERFHE M REENLIRR
i/)lu ’ M&&E)ﬁ\fﬁﬁ i’%i‘fﬁfﬁﬁd‘ﬁ
ERHREELENSERRBR TG
BBEIR R N1579% (B = — &
145%) - BBEFHEZEERER
BIRE3I%(ZTE-—F :3%)EREX
HE - HBREERERAARER
EREBHMSREERSMETNE
BIA o

EEEBREHZERIANEMSER]
REHIEERREELBMUNKRE
ERBEAKEEHE -

HRBREEABNMAIKROSE SR
FHE E2RAR Tk
T+ -_A=Z+-—BHEFER
&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

20.

230

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. FRAEFEAERNKRE
. D ——————ee
2022 2021
—E-—F —T-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR AREFIT
Balance at 1 January R—A—B&# 1,416,403 650,697
Additions (note (a)) AE (P (a)) 54,000 765,698
Share of results FEE %48 (10,694) 8
Declaration of dividend (note (b)) TR B (FIFE (b)) (490) —
Deregistration of investment accounted for A AEREAAENRE
using the equity method (1,083) —
Disposal of investment accounted for BEGBEREARNRE
using the equity method (14,220) —
Balance at 31 December R+-ZA=+—H&&% 1,443,916 1,416,403
notes: FisE -
(@ In April 2021, the Group acquired 31% equity interests in Shannan (a) - —FNA AEENUARE

Yalaxiangbu, a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited liability,
at a consideration of RMB465,000,000. Prior to the acquisition, the Group
already held 9% equity interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu, which were
accounted for as “financial assets at FVTOCI" in the consolidated statement
of financial position for financial reporting purposes. Upon completion
of the acquisition, the Group held 40% equity interests in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu, and transferred the aggregate fair value of approximately
RMB190,698,000 to “Investments accounted for using the equity method”
in the consolidated statement of financial position in applying equity
method to account for the Group's investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu.
Taking into consideration of the acquisition, a goodwill of approximately
RMB595,820,000 has been identified in the investment in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu.

In December 2021, the Group acquired 49% equity interests in Green
Tiandi Marketing, a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited
liability, at a consideration of RMB50,000,000. Taking into consideration
of the acquisition, a goodwill of approximately RMB48,856,000 has been
identified in the investment in Green Tiandi Marketing.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-_—5+-A=1-BL%E

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEZEARNRESE)
(CONTINUED)
notes: (continued) Wi ()
@) (continued) (@) (#&)

In December 2021, the Group's acquired 20% equity interests in Tibet Life
Water Marketing, a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited
liability, at a consideration of RMB60,000,000. Taking into consideration
of the acquisition, a goodwill of approximately RMB51,017,000 has been
identified in the investment in Tibet Life Water Marketing.

In December 2022, the Group's acquired 18% equity interests in Tibet Life
Water Marketing, a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited
liability, at a consideration of RMB54,000,000. Taking into consideration
of the acquisition, a goodwill of approximately RMB45,342,000 has been
identified in the investment in Tibet Life Water Marketing.

In 2022, Green Tiandi Marketing, an associate, declared dividends. The
Group recognised RMB490,000 dividends according to the percentage of
the equity interests held by the Group.

RIZZ—F+Z1 AEEKEA
BAEMZKEHN20%MKE  BRE
EmzkgEAs—BERBEZMRA L
MEMBRETRR REAARK
60,000,0007C ° &t Rz BWHE - ER
AR KEHRERREEOA
K#¥51,017,0007T °

EA_%E::¢+ A AEEKEA

Sz KEHEB18% M KE - R
mzm%%—m# B 1A Ak 2
MEMERETIAR REAARE
54,000,000 7T ° 5 RZEWE - ER
EEEm 2 KEHBEEBRRHELOA
[R# 45,342,000 7T °

R-TE-—F BEQAGERIBE
iﬁ ERRE - AEEREHEHRE
DHERANRE 490,000 T2 8 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEREARNREE)

(CONTINUED)
TYHWRA B —FEN - —F
+oA=t-BREEZBEAT .

Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December
2022 and 2021.

( 4
% of
ownership
Place of interest and voting
business/country rights held by Principal
Name of entity of incorporation the Group activities
XY AERBFSRAEREESR
BREE B3I RRAEEDL TEXK
2022 2021
ZBIfF —E-—F
Tibet Highland Natural The PRC 43.981 43.981 Manufacturing and distribution
Water Limited of water products
A mRERAKER AR i & R HKEmR
Tibet Fudi Natural Beverage The PRC 25 25 Manufacturing and distribution of

Packaging Ltd.

bottle preforms, caps and other
raw materials and consumables

AEBAARmBE i SUER D HRAREFT H R E K
BREART FEM

Great Wall 5100 Technology The PRC =i 40 Distribution of water products
Co., Ltd.

REA—ZERRERATA B 7 8HKE

Guangzhou Mingzhu 5100 The PRC = 34 Distribution of water products
Drinking Water Co., Ltd

BNTAKL-—ZT i [ 7 HHKE MR
HAKER AT
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20.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD

(CONTINUED)

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

Set out below are the associates of the Group as at 31 December

2022 and 2021. (continued)

Name of entity

Place of
business/country
of incorporation

¥
BREEH a1 AR 32 Bl R
Tibet Shannan Yalaxiangbu The PRC
Industrial Ltd.
ARLERLENEXARLA HHE
Green Tiandi Food Marketing ~ The PRC
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.
R R mEHEORII) B
BRATR
Tibet Life Water Marketing The PRC
Co., Ltd.
R 2K EHARDE B

% of
ownership
interest and voting
rights held by

20. ERAEZEARNRESE)

TXHIR - E-——ER T -—F
+oAST-BAREIBEAR -

(%)

Principal
activities

IREH

the Group
rEEEREERER
kERREBDL
2022 2021
—E-—F —T-—F
40 40
49 49
38 20

* Guangzhou Mingzhu 5100 Drinking Water Co., Ltd was deregistered in

2022.

# 40% of ownership interest in Great Wall 5100 Technology Co., Ltd. was

disposed of in 2022.

Manufacturing and distribution

of water products

BUER D HKER

Distribution of beverage products

R L/

Distribution of beverage products

R L/

* BINTHKL -ZTHRBKRKERDA

RITZZFHEERL -

# ERA—TSREBER AT 40% KT

BREEZN-_Z-FHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

20.

234

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Highland
Natural Water

The tables below provide the summarised financial information of the
Highland Natural Water shown in its financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRSs.

Summarised statement of financial position

(3

20. ERAEZEARNRESE)

EXBELAMBENBR-BRX

RK

TREIN B RRAKZ 8B E R
2 DREZARZRERSBHRE
A RHENABHIRKIIT -

MBRRRBE

As at 31 December

W+=ZA=+-H

2022 2021

—EB__F —EZ—F

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARBTT

Current assets TEEE 310,440 171,226

Non-current assets FRBEE 490,370 541,834

Current liabilities mEAEE (335,621) (311,182)

Non-current liabilities ERBEE (101,502) (18,409)
Equity attributable to owners AREHE ANELER

of the Company 363,687 383,469
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20.

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Highland

REUBBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

20. ERAEZEARNRESE)

EXBELAMBENBR-BRX

Natural Water (continued) RK(E)
Summarised statement of profit or loss BRrfE
(1
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t+-HLEE
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AREFIT
Revenue WA 213,420 348,744
Gross profit E7 44,554 156,727
Adjusted EBITDA* RS E RE A+ 16,394 59,678
Loss before income tax B PTG T A ES 18 (21,578) (10,378)
Income tax credit FTiS B % 1,795 1,038
Loss for the year FAEE (19,783) (9,340)
Total comprehensive loss THEBEEE (19,783) (9,340)

* Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by excluding the following effects from
the loss for the year: (i) finance (cost)/income, net; (ii) depreciation and
amortisation; and income tax credit.

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial
statements of Highland Natural Water adjusted for differences in
accounting policies between the Group and Highland Natural Water.

* RERBBRMEREHANNENFE
TEFEUTREFANERNOZE ()
BERAK)/WEFE: (VFERE
W RAEREAR -

NEBBRBEERRRAKEBER
KTPEF0FE  ERAREER
RRAKZEGHABRENERELT

%o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-_—5+-A=t-HL%E

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Highland
Natural Water (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented
to the carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Highland Natural
Water recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

20.

EREREARNRE(#)

BABEQNAMBERBE-BRX
RK(E)

KB EMBERGEVBERE
NERNAEERNSRRAAKERD
AREEREIER

(3
As at 31 December
R+=-H=+-8H

2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFTT
Opening net assets as at 1 January R—A—BRFNEERE 383,469 392,809
Loss for the year FAEE (19,783) (9,340)
Closing net assets FREEFE 363,686 383,469
Interest in the associate A DRI R 148,325 157,026
Goodwill EES 280,256 280,256
Carrying value REE 428,581 437,282

Management performed impairment analysis for the investment in
Highland Natural Water. The recoverable amount of the investment is
determined based on value-in-use calculations, which is higher than
fair value less disposal costs. Management assessed the recoverable
amount and recognised no impairment loss during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Highland
Natural Water (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continued)

These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering the five-year
period when optimum market share is expected to be reached.
Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rate.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of
approximately 14.73% (2021: approximately 12.6%). The cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 3.0%
(2021: 3.0%) growth rate. In cases where the actual cash flows are
less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future cash flows estimation or discount
rate, a material reversal or further recognition of impairment may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any
these assumptions would not cause the carrying amounts of the
CGUs to exceed their recoverable amounts.

As the recoverable amounts of the CGUs is higher than the carrying
amounts, no impairment loss on investments accounted for using
the equity method of these CGUs are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

20.

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

20.

238

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan
Yalaxiangbu

The tables below provide the summarised financial information of the
Shannan Yalaxiangbu shown in its financial statements prepared in
accordance with IFRSs.

Summarised statement of financial position

(3

20. ERAEZEARNRESE)

ERMENAMBEENSE - LEH

HEH

TREILUAHRLER 2 B EE R
2 DREZARZRERSBHRE
ERBANABERKIR

MBRRRBE

As at 31 December

W+=ZA=+-H

2022 2021

—EB__F —E-—F

RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARBTT

Current assets TEEE 34,360 39,310

Non-current assets FRBEE 459,885 471,477

Current liabilities mEAEE (19,876) (108,151)

Non-current liabilities ERBEE (329,638) (254,924)
Equity attributable to owners AREHE AELER

of the Company 144,731 147,712
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‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEREARNREE)

(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan

ERMENAMBEENSE - LEH

Yalaxiangbu (continued) NERE)
Summarised statement of profit or loss BRrfE
(2
Period
ended from
Year ended 1 April 2021 to
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
—E-—F
8z MA—HEZE
—E-CF —EZ—F
+=A=+-B +=ZA=+—H
LHEE LEEAfE
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥TR ARBFT
Revenue WA 65,444 86,382
Gross profit EH 32,463 33,771
Adjusted EBITDA* WHEIR BT E R A AE + 9,033 9,031
Loss before income tax BRETISTLRIEE (3,308) (2,227)
Income tax credit FriSHiE% 327 245
Loss for the year/period F/HRER (2,981) (1,982)
Total comprehensive loss for year/period F /RN EEBEE (2,981) (1,982)

* Adjusted EBITDA is calculated by excluding the following effects from
the loss for the year: (i) finance (cost)/income, net; (i) depreciation and

amortisation; and income tax credit.

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial
statements of Shannan Yalaxiangbu adjusted for differences in
accounting policies between the Group and Shannan Yalaxiangbu.

* BEEBBRMEREHANAENGHE
TEEATREFABEOZE ()
BERAK)/W&EFE: (VFERE
o RAERER

B B R B 8 7 L T B
HEHH2IINHE  ERAEES
UEERER 2 BRI RENERNE
i3 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-_—5+-A=t-HL%E

20.

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan
Yalaxiangbu (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to
the carrying amount of the Group's interest in Shannan Yalaxiangbu
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

(3

20.

EREREARNRE(#)

ERMENAMBEENSE - LEH
NEm(E)

B2 EM R RER A B RK
NERNAKERIUERELE DS
HIBREE R HTBR

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+-—H
2022 2021
—E-CF 2 —fF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR% TR ARBTT
Opening net assets as at 1 January R—A—BRFNEERE 147,712 —
Addition (a) NE (a) = 149,694
Loss for the year FNERE (2,981) (1,982)
Closing net assets FREETE 144,731 147,712
Interest in the associate REE N RIHER 57,892 59,085
Goodwill Eﬁ%ﬁ 595,820 595,820
Carrying value REE 653,712 654,905

240

Management performed impairment analysis for the investment in
Shannan Yalaxiangbu. The recoverable amount of the investment is
determined based on value-in-use calculations, which is higher than
fair value less disposal costs. Management assessed the recoverable
amount and recognised no impairment loss during the years ended
31 December 2022 and 2021.
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20.

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan
Yalaxiangbu (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continued)

These calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering the five-year
period when optimum market share is expected to be reached.
Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rate.

This valuation uses cash flow projections based on financial
estimates covering a five-year period, and a pre-tax discount rate of
approximately 14.28% (2021: approximately 12.4%). The cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 3.0%
(2021: 3.0%) growth rate. In cases where the actual cash flows are
less or more than expected, or change in facts and circumstances
which result in revision of future cash flows estimation or discount
rate, a material reversal or further recognition of impairment may
arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which such a reversal or further recognition takes place.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in any
these assumptions would not cause the carrying amounts of the
CGUs to exceed their recoverable amounts.

As the recoverable amounts of the CGUs is higher than the carrying
amounts, no impairment loss on investments accounted for using
the equity method of these CGUs are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

20.

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E
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EERTERREREIER
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Mt REHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-_—5+-A=t-HL%E

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEREARNREE)

(CONTINUED)
Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan EEMENANBEERNME - LFEE
Yalaxiangbu (continued) NERE)
Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continued) MBERBENHERE)
(@) The following additional investments in associates were made (a) AEBEEEERREL N TN
by the Group: KRE :
Details of net assets acquired and goodwill arising from the WL mEREMREHNEEF
acquisition of Shannan Yalaxiangbu are as follows: BEREENEHEFBEOT
(4
As at 1
April 2021
(date of
acquisition)
R-ZB-—%
MA—H
(kB
RMB’000
AR®T R
Purchase considerations: WHERE
- Consideration (B 465,000
- Original shareholding transfer from —BENAAEBETEEEEHA
financial assets at FVTOC| HizAKEEHEEDN
REFERH 190,698
Less: share of fair value of net assets (see below) i : EEEEZEAREBE(RTX) (59,878)
Goodwill P 595,820
The goodwill is attributable to Shannan Yalaxiangbu's strong ZEEDNEEN LEERLEMR
market position and profitability in the sales of water products RE TS R T35 EHE K
in the market, which cannot be separately recognised as an EmmABFEENTEBRRA
intangible asset. BVEE -
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20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD
(CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information for a material associate — Shannan
Yalaxiangbu (continued)

Reconciliation of summarised financial information (continued)

(@) The following additional investments in associates were made

REUBBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

20. ERAEZEARNRESE)

ERMENAMBEENSE - LEH

NEm(E)

MBENBENHRE)

() AEEHHEAQBRELITEN
RE: (&)

‘

by the Group: (continued)

(4

As at 1

April 2021

(date of

acquisition)

R-B-—-%

mMA—H

(kEEBH)

RMB’000

AR®T R

Fair value of net assets acquired: PrEEEFENANEE

Cash and cash equivalent RekReEEY 6,150
Prepayment IR 525
Trade receivables and other receivables FEWE 55 & EoA FE Y 3R IB 16,763
Inventories FE 10,492
Property, plant and equipment ER S 387,950
Right-of-use assets EREEE 13,355
Intangible assets BEE 79,776
Trade payables and other payables FERTE 5 B R E A FE R 5K (24,202)
Contract liabilities aRAE (31,435)
Bank loans BITER (302,500)
Deferred tax liabilities EXEHERE (7,180)
Net assets acquired PriiE S EFE 149,694
Ownership interest acquired PUCIE RO A e 40%
Share of fair value of net assets acquired ELFT B EEFENAL 59,878
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-_—5+-A=t-HL%E

20. INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE EQUITY METHOD 20. ERAEZEARNRESE)

(CONTINUED)
Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material ERFERKENRANGEER
(2
Year ended 31 December
BZ+-A=t—-HL=EE
2022 2021
—EBE__F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARETFT
The Group's share of (loss)/profit AEBE RS (ER), & (801) 4,909
The Group's share of total comprehensive ~ AEEEEZE(EE), Wt 8E
(loss)/income (801) 4,909
Dividend received for the year FARAEKARS 490 —
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's ~ AEERZFH AN AR
interests in these associates RmH4E 361,623 324,216
21. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 21. EEBEEE BE
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as EEMEEEREERBEEN DN
follows: W
(4

As at 31 December

R+ZHA=+—H
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETTT

Deferred tax assets EERBEE 4,570 5,000

Deferred tax liabilities FERBEEE (6,929) (8,539)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBmRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E

‘

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 21. BEMREEE BE#E)
The balances of deferred tax assets and liabilities as at 31 December RZE-—F+-A=+—H R
2022 were not offset because the deferred tax assets and liabilities MBEERBBEHEALREN - THHE
related to income taxes were levied by different taxation authorities. REZSETCHBEEREBEBBN
The movement of deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year is FIERBATRARBEBARK - FRE
as follows: ERBEEERBBENEBHNT :
(3
Net Other
impairment Deferred  Convertible  temporary
losses income bonds  differences Total
HE Hit
BXEE BEWE TRREZR IRUEEE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR¥TR AR%Tn AR®Tn AR%Tn
Deferred tax assets BEHBEE
As at 1 January 2021 RZE-—F—-F—H 2,190 1,667 — 420 4,277
Credited/(charged) to profitor A/ (MK E)BE
loss (Note 10) (MzE10) 862 (63) — (76) 723
As at 31 December 2021 RZEZ-F+=ZA=+-H
and 1 January 2022 k—F--%-7-H 3,052 1,604 — 344 5,000
Charged to profit or loss BE&ENR(FEE10)
(Note 10) (295) (63) — (72) (430)
As at 31 December 2022 R-B-ZH+ZA=+1-H 2,757 1,541 - 272 4,570
Deferred tax liabilities EEHEEE
As at 1 January 2021 RZEZ—F—-F—H — — — (7,371) (7,371)
Deferred tax arising from ARG S EEORERE
Convertible Bonds — — (3,770) — (3,770)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10) & Az (HizE10) — - 819 1,518 2,337
Conversion of Convertible Bonds ~ E# [ E% — — 194 — 194
Exchange alignment B % A% — — 71 — 71
As at 31 December 2021 RZE--F+-A=+-H
and 1 January 2022 k=E-—%-f—-H — — (2,686) (5,853) (8,539)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 10) s ABZ(HzE10) — — 1,186 624 1,810
Exchange alignment & % — — (200) — (200)
As at 31 December 2022 RZEZZ#+-A=1-H = = (1,700) (5,229) (6,929)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

21.

246

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022, certain subsidiaries’ future taxable income
would not be available against which their temporary losses could be
utilised and also the losses of those subsidiaries would not be offset
by the taxable income of other subsidiaries within the Group, as there
is no legally enforceable right to do so. As such, the Group did not
recognise deferred tax assets of approximately RMB26,563,000 (2021:
RMB20,816,000) in respect of losses amounting to approximately
RMB110,990,000 (2021: RMB86,446,000) that can be carried forward
against future taxable income. As at 31 December 2022, tax losses of
approximately RMB110,990,000 (2021: RMB86,446,000) will expire
after five year of assessment on the following dates to offset the
future taxable income:

21.

ELERBEE, BE#E)
RZEZZF+ZA=+—RH &F
B8 2 BB R R FE R B U TR
MERMEE MZERBARNE
BARASEEMHE QR ER
BUAEE  RAETTEEEEMD
EET R BIITREN - MAKREYLE
FATEBEARARERBBRANEELOA
R¥110,990,000 L(ZE=—F : A
R # 86,446,000 7T ) ERELE IR IEE
EHANR26563,000T(ZF = —
£ AR#20,816,000T) c R - F
ZZFE+TZ AT —HEBERRER
A4 AR 110,990,000 T (= F
——%F: ANR#86,446,0007T) K
EEESRAETRERERMHTIIA
HAfE T -

(1

Year ended 31 December

BE+-—A=t—-HLEE
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREBFIT

Expiring in RATFEER

-2022 —-—F-— — 15,644
-2023 ——F=F 7,544 7,544
-2024 ——E-NF 6,142 6,142
-2025 e 45,576 45,576
-2026 ——ERE 11,540 11,540
-2027 e 40,188 —
110,990 86,446
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22.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-_—5+-A=1-BL%E

21, EEREBEE BB (#E)

Deferred tax liabilities of approximately RMB136,899,000 (2021: ARRBWEEFE SRR 5K
RMB134,126,000) had not been recognised for the withholding tax R A #H A K #2,050,766,000 7T
that would be payable on the distributable retained profits amounting (ZE=—%F: AK%1,978,461,000
to approximately RMB2,050,766,000 (2021: RMB1,978,461,000) T EMNBHIREREEREAGOA
of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries. The Group has no intention to R#136,899,000L(ZF=—%F : A
distribute these retained earnings out from the PRC subsidiaries in [£%134,126,0007T) © REE W AT

the foreseeable future.

BEn AR BN B AR RN D
K% SR BT o

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 22. UAREEFEEHSBT AHM
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2HKRENERMEE
( 4
Year ended
31 December 2021
BE-Z-_—%
TZA=tT—RHLEE
RMB'000
ARETT
Balance at 1 January R—BA—BH&Ee 174,482
Transfer to investments accounted EREERAEREARNEE
for using the equity method (note (a)) (H3E(a) (190,698)
Net loss recognised upon disposal HERERNFEE —
Fair value changes NREEE 16,216

Balance at 31 December (note (b))

R+tZA=+—RMEER (K& (b)) —

BEREKERERLT | £ 2022 247



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

22. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 22.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

notes:

(@  In April 2021, the Group acquired 31% equity interests in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu, a company incorporated in the PRC with other limited liability,
at a consideration of RMB465,000,000. Prior to the acquisition, the Group
already held 9% equity interests in Shannan Yalaxiangbu, which were
accounted for as “financial assets at FVTOCI” in the consolidated statement
of financial position for financial reporting purposes. Upon completion
of the acquisition, the Group held 40% equity interests in Shannan
Yalaxiangbu, and transferred the aggregate fair value of approximately
RMB190,698,000 to “Investments accounted for using the equity method”
in the consolidated statement of financial position in applying equity
method to account for the Group's investment in Shannan Yalaxiangbu.
Goodwill arose on the acquisition of the shares in Shannan Yalaxiangbu.

(b)  The above unlisted equity investments represent the Group's equity interest
in a private entity established in the PRC. The directors have elected to
designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they

URAREESEEHZET AH M
2HBENEREEE)

B 5T -

(@ MZZE-—FWA AEENUARE
465,000,000 TR EWEILFENE
(—RERPEERA IO EMERE
ERF)31%EMRE - RUER - &
SEEHALBELET 9% HRE -
REEMBRARRFTATARAER
HERHEHHALMZERENS
BEEIDEFBREZEH - R
BREME  AEERHBLUEENER
40% g THRBARBEAARE
190,698,000 ST & & S 47 A B SR &R
[fEREFZEARNRE ] FRES
FHARERILERNEANRET
REE - WELERENEARNHEL
o

(b) LAFEEFEARERRAEERS
BRI LABERNEAER B
BEERELREEERURABE

believe that the investment is held for long-term. ERHZHH AEMEENENER
TH ARtMRABZIRESRDE
BH o
23. TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. ERESK
. D ——————eee
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—8
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AREFIT
Trade receivables due from third parties EWE=FEFNR 284,598 345,380
Less: allowance for ECL B TAHEEEIEEE (94,099) (90,723)
190,499 254,657
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's trade receivables due
from third parties were all denominated in RMB. The credit period
is generally 90 to 180 days. The aging analysis of trade receivables
based on invoice dates is as follows:

23.

FEMBmRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
(ET-FE+ A=+ —HIERE

EBRESRE)
RZEZZFRZFTZ—F+ZA
=t+—H FEEEKE=ANESH
THUAREE - EEH KA
F180K - ERNEZAMHNESEYK
FHBRRDITAT

As at 31 December

R+=B=+—H
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFTT
Within 6 months 6MEAN 53,607 97,392
Over 6 months but within 1 year BE6EABTBGE1F 15,498 20,578
Over 1 year but within 2 years BB FETBE2F 94,717 78,878
Over 2 years BiB2F 120,776 148,532
284,598 345,380

For the trade receivables arising from sales of water and beer
products, the Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure the ECL which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance. This
resulted in the recognition of loss allowance for trade receivables
amounting to approximately RMB86,643,000 (2021: RMB31,488,000)
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Information about the impairment assessment of trade receivables
and the Group's exposure to credit risk can be found in Note 5.1(b).

AEBEEABERMBHRSESEAFE IR
B ENAFERGFERRNERE
BREFEXKIBEERHEEEED
B SZRMEREERE HBEZ
E__F+-_A=+-BALEE K
ERRANERESRNEBERENA
AR 86,643,000 L(— 2 - —4F:
ARH31,488,0007T) °

ARREWE SR EFNERAREE
B A E R BRI 5.1(0) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REUBBRRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

24. PREPAYMENTS
(Y

24. BNFR

As at 31 December

Wt+=HA=+-H
2022 2021
—E__F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBTT
Prepayments for purchase of raw materials, &RV « R R DE -
services and properties, BB R EE A I
plant and equipment 207,537 137,710
Less: Non-current portion - prepayment o ERBE S —EBEWE
for purchase of properties, plant B E D)
and equipment (note) FERFRIE (B E) (8,057) (8,130)
Current portion REEHD 199,480 129,580

note: These balances represent prepayments made for the purchase of properties,

plant and equipment, the ownership of which has not been obtained at

year end.

The carrying amounts of current and non-current prepayments are

M ZEEBERBENE  BERRE
(AmMERRERHERER)MBERMA

HE -

MEBRIFRBEMNFEOREENAT

denominated in the following currencies: SIGHEE
( 3
As at 31 December
R+=—BA=+—8H

2022 2021
—E-F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREBEFIT
- RMB —AR¥% 203,947 132,625
— HKD — BT 1,536 3,205
- USD -t 2,054 1,880
207,537 137,710
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25.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REUBBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

25. DEBRAGTENEMEREE

® 00O

As at 31 December

Rt+=A=+—-8H

2022 2021

—E--F —E-—F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR AREFIT

Amounts due from third parties (note(a)) JEW 58 = 7 SR IE (K3 (a) 941,548 749,019
Amounts due from associates JE LS i /R B 38

(note(b)) (Pff5E (b)) — 2,502

Deposits ®me 270 270

Others (note(c)) Hi (FIzE() 67,802 262,514

1,009,620 1,014,305

Less: allowance for ECL B RHEEEEREE (29,392) (27,418)

980,228 986,887

notes:

(@)  As at 31 December 2022, the loans to third party companies with
outstanding principal amounting to approximately RMB941,485,000 (2021:
RMB748,955,000), which bore an annual interest rate of 2.8 to 5% (2021:
5%). Based on the contractual terms, the loans will be repaid before 31
December 2023. The Group does not hold any collateral over the loans.

(b)  As at 31 December 2021, included in the balance was a loan to Fudi
Packaging, with principal amount of approximately RMB2,502,000, which
bore an annual interest rate of 10% and was unsecured. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the amount was fully settled.

GEE

(@ RITZZFF+-A=+—H" R&Z#
FEZFRAREERSSBHAAA
[R#941,485,000L(Z T = —%F : A
R 748,955,000t ) 7 B3+ FFl
RAE2BE5%(ZE-—F:5%)¢ i}
BENGR  ZERER-_Z==F
TZA=T—HAIEE - AKELR
RZEETHETMERR o

JT
JT

b) RNZTEZ—F+ZA=1+—8'#
HIBUBEALLENBARE
2,502,000 L2 EFGT A LR - FFIE
BI0%BEAEER HE_T -
+ZA=+-BLFERN ZXED

SRy
2HEEEE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-_—5+-A=t-HL%E

25. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST (CONTINUED) 25. DR ATTENHMESRMEE
(#)

notes: (continued) MsE : (&)

() As at 31 December 2022, the balance mainly included the dividend (0 WRZE-_—F+-B=+—H &%
receivables from Highland Natural Water of approximately RMB 34,805,000 TERREERERAAKRENAR
(2021: RMB48,452,000); other receivable from disposal in structured #34,805000T(ZE-—F: AR
financial products was nil (2021: RMB190,000,000), which has been fully 148,452,000 7T) + JEUUH BB IEEE
settled as at the reporting date; other tax recoverable of approximately MERHEMFIBAT(ZT=—4:
RMB189,000 (2021: RMB189,000) and advance to staffs of approximately AR 190,000,0007T) * ZHIER R
RMB1,313,400 (2021: RMB1,825,000). SHHERYAEE - Hi e RERIE

MAREE189,000L(ZF=—F : A
R#189,0007T) REMEITEHAA
R¥E1,313400L(ZT=—F: AR
#1,825,0007T) °

Information about the impairment assessment of other financial BRANERR AT ENEMSREE
assets at amortised cost and the Group's exposure to credit risk can BREN G RAREEERBRAED
be found in Note 5.1(b). EREHRMFES.1(b)
The carrying amounts of other financial assets at amortised cost are NERKAGTENEMEREENR
denominated in the following currencies: EENATYESE -

(2

As at 31 December

R+=ZBA=+—H
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

- RMB PN 965,881 986,295
- HKD — BT 14,347 592
980,228 986,887
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26.

27.

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVENTORIES

(3

REUBBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

26. FE

As at 31 December

Rt+=A=+—-8H
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFIT
Raw materials R R 90,680 76,067
Finished goods - at cost BURK  — A AR 10,705 10,165
Work in progress 8 5,153 4,359
106,538 90,591

The cost of inventories which was recognised as an expense
and was included in “cost of sales” amounted to approximately
RMB140,585,000 (2021: RMB192,833,000) for the year ended 31

December 2022.

HEZZ-_—_F+-A=+—HLHF
B BRAEBRUFANEERA N
FERAL B AR 140,585,000
(ZZT=Z—F: AR %192,833,000

) °
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 27. URARBEFEEHSH RS
NWeEmEE
(3
2022 2021
—EB__F - —F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Balance at 1 January HN—A—BH&& 2,000 192,328
Net gains recognised upon disposal (Note 8) H&ERERM U FE (M) — 9,189
Fair value changes (Note 8) RABEZEH(HES) (2,000) (9,517)
Disposal in structured financial products EEMEREREE (M)
(note i) — (190,000)
Balance at 31 December R+-BA=+—-BH&t — 2,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REUBBRRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

27. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

(CONTINUED)

note:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group disposed of
the investment in structured financial products at a consideration of
approximately RMB190,000,000 and a gain of approximately RMB9,189,000
was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

All financial asset at FVTPL are denominated in RMB as at 31

December 2022 and 31 December 2021.

Information about the methods and assumptions used in determining

fair value is provided in Note 5.3.

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(3

27.

28.

UAREBETEEESE ABSE
HERMEEE)
B et -

() REZE-E-_-F+-_A=+-—H
tEE AEEUREBEHARE
190,000,000 7T 1 & $ A 1B 1 12 B 2
MIE - WEHARE 9,189,000 L2

W-_E-—GR-_F-—%+=8
S+—RB BAAEEIEERE
SABMM R REE S ML AR K
&

FREE A BEMANITERER
HO AR EIPE5.3 °

RERRESEEY

As at 31 December

®+=ZB=+—H
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETTT

Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Restricted bank deposits

R HIRITIF K

424 337
39,142 13,306
18,581 40,175
58,147 53,818
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(E-T-E+-A=+-ALERE

28. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 28. BEeRBESEEWE)

(3

As at 31 December

R+t=B=+—H
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFIT

Denominated in: ATEEE

- RMB - AR 46,738 53,114
- Usb % 988 28
- HKD — BT 10,413 668
- Others —Ef 8 8
58,147 53,818

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’ s cash and cash equivalents
amounting to approximately RMB47,623,000 (2021: RMB53,070,000)
were held in the financial institutions located in the mainland of PRC.
The remaining balances of approximately RMB10,524,000 (2021:
RMB748,000) were held in major financial institutions located in the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies
and the remittance of the foreign currencies out of the mainland of
PRC are subject to relevant rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government.

The Group earns interests on cash at bank at floating bank deposit
rates, which range from 0.001% to 1.35% per annum for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: range from 0.001% to 1.35% per
annum).

As at 31 December 2022, bank deposits of approximately
RMB18,581,000 (2021: RMB40,175,000) are restricted mainly as
guarantee for payments of bank acceptances.

RZEZZF+ZA=+—HB K
SENHSRBREEEBMHARE
47,623,000L(ZE = —F: ARK
53,070,000 7T ) 8 7£ F B K FE ) & Rl
BREE - B4 AR 10,524,000
(ZZZ—F: AR%748,0007T)H
BARAITTHEN T ECREERS -

AARBTHEN BRI IRABINE AR
RONEYERBIRREE S - BETH
BB e BRI SNE S BB ARG -

AEBZFBRITERFERENTT
HEOFAE BHEZT-—_F+=-A
S+—BLEFE BREFHNENT
0.001% £135% (=T =—%F : 7|
AT 0.001% = 1.35%) °

RZZE-ZZF+ZA=+—H XR
B R 1T I A A K #18,581,000 7T
(ZZ=—%F : AR¥40,175,0007T)
FEERBITALEZHRNTIER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

29. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES
(Y

29. BEREZRRENRE

As at 31 December

R+=A=t+—H
2022 2021
—E__F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT R ARETFT
Trade payables FERE S 68,338 77,923
Notes payables ENEE 178,580 200,000
246,918 277,923
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the aging analysis of trade i —— 2 —%+—-A
payables based on invoice dates is as follows: =t—H EREZHENENES

RE RN T -

As at 31 December

R+=B=+—H
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFTT
Within 3 months 3{E AR 41,407 45,211
Over 3 months but within 6 months HBiB3EBETBEB6EA 4,539 8,218
Over 6 months but within 1 year BBeEABTEGE1E 4,957 960
Over 1 year but within 2 years iR FETHRB2F 4,102 11,572
Over 2 years A2 F 13,333 11,962
68,338 77,923
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29.

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's trade payables were
all denominated in RMB and were not interest bearing.

The credit period on trade payables is generally within 90 days.

As at 31 December 2022, the bank acceptance notes amounting
to approximately RMB178,580,000 (2021: RMB200,000,000) were
guaranteed by bank deposits of approximately RMB18,581,000 (2021:
RMB40,000,000).

According to the agreement of bank acceptance notes, maturity
dates of notes payables are based on the following schedule:
RMB100,000,000 on 25 February 2023, RMB11,110,000 on 10 March
2023, RMB800,000 on 21 June 2023 and RMB66,670,000 on 17
October 2023 (2021: RMB125,000,000 and RMB75,000,000 on 2
March 2022 and 24 November 2022), respectively. The amount of
approximately RMB111,110,000 (2021: RMB125,000,000) was repaid
subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

29.

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E

ENEZRREASEEE)
RZE-Z—FR-ZFE=-_—F+=A
=+—B AEENBHENZKHNU
ARESE WETRTS -

BEHENR
pqo

A EEH—RRIOKRZ

FfE::¢+—ﬂ:+—E'éﬁ
# 5 ANRHE 178,580,000 0(—ZF =
£ AR #200,000,0007T ) # iR 17
EAEZHA A AR 18,581,000
(ZZ2=—% : AR¥40,000,0007T)
F)ERITIF RRIEIR o

$E?F$Eﬁ7¥<ili%fﬁ%# WA
PIHHERNATAE  RZF-=F

_H_JrﬁEl@JEﬁE%MEZ%AE%
100,000,000 : RZZT=Z=F=A
+HEESEHFIERS AR 11,110,000
T RZEZ=FAZ+—HE
HHZE A ARKS00,000T: R
ZEZ=F+ART+tHEBNFE
A ANER¥66,670,000T: (2T = —
FRZTZZF=-AZBAK=E
ZTZE+-AZTHEBIHBHR
B9 R A AR 1250000007 K&
A K #75,000,0007T ) HJ AR
111,110,000 c(ZE=—%F : AR®
125,000,000 7T ) K] & B A e 25 A 45
®BEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

30. DEFERRED REVENUE 30. EZEWA
(3
As at 31 December
R+=A=+—8~
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT AREFIT
Non-current E k)
Government grant EgSRETEY) 11,394 13,768
Current E
Government grant BT #7 B) 2,374 2,374

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's deferred revenue
was all denominated in RMB.

Tibet Glacier Mineral Water and Tiandi Green, the indirectly wholly
subsidiaries of the Company were granted and received subsidies
from the local government to compensate its efforts to increase its
production capacity in the past years.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, amount of approximately
RMB2,374,000 was credited to consolidated statement of profit or
loss (2021: RMB2,374,000) (Note 8).

RZE-_—_FR-_F-_—F+=A
=t—B AEEMETHRAZIN
AREEHE -

RRAEE2ENME QR Rk
TR RR S A% 8 19 T 30 R 2= 3 R
IR EENBEBRFRNREAERLM
BT HRED -

BHE-_T--_F+-A=1+—HItHF
B AR 2,374,0000( =T~ —
o ANR¥2,374,0007T) Bt AEA
Bk (MEs) -

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. ERAE
( 3
As at 31 December
®+=ZB=+—H

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AREBETFT
Prepaid cards B 179 771
Advance from customers BN EFHRIE 34,605 54,184
34,784 54,955
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31.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 31.

As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to approximately
RMB16,854,000.

Contract liabilities arise from the prepaid cards and advance payments
made by customers while the goods are yet to be provided.

The prepaid cards and advance from customers of the Group are
non-refundable.

The following table shows how much of the revenue recognised
relates to carried-forward contract liabilities and how much relates to
performance obligations that were satisfied in prior periods.

(3

FEMBmRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
E-EB-_E+-ASTALEE

cRaEE)
R-ZE-—F—F—H 6RAEH
A AR 16,854,0007T °

AREERERNREREAREE
miE P L MBNFR -

BRNREAEEABEFFEHRT
RIE o

TRITREERBATREENS
FAEEENEE URRBEHE
ERTHEENETERBNEE -

Advance

Prepaid from
cards customers
AN+ HEREFNE
RMB'000 RMB’'000

AR®BT R AR®T R

For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-_E-_—_5+-H=t+—H

HFE
Revenue recognised that was included FOFAGRBRERD
in the contract liability balance ERERA

at the beginning of the year
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BEZ-_E-—-%+-H=+—H

HFE
Revenue recognised that was included FUFAGRBRERD
in the contract liability balance BERERA

at the beginning of the year

771 54,184

964 15,890

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's contract liabilities
were all denominated in RMB.

RZE-_—_FR-_F-_—F+=A
=+t—B AEEMNARAEBEHUA
REEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

32.

260

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES
(Y

32.

HRERAREMENR

As at 31 December

Wt+=ZHA=+-H
2022 2021
—E-_F —ET-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETFT
Salary and welfare payables FERT BN & AR R 24,150 17,517
Payables for value added tax and other taxes FEAIE{ET & H ith 5578 18,904 6,645
Accrued operating expenses BRIEEE R 948 8,889
Payables for purchase of equipment BERBRNRIE 9,030 9,495
Professional service fee payable ERNBEEREE 5,255 4,218
Amounts payable for equity RS R RRRIRE IR
investment in associates = 16,000
Amounts received from a third party 126 =77 W B 8958 58,599 79,970
Amounts received from an associate TeE e R R B RIE
(note 45(b)) (P 5E45(b)) 14,500 —
Deposits from customers BFPik&® 328 377
Borrowings from third parties (note) F=AERHEE) 4,857 5,175
Others b 43,961 18,603
180,532 166,889
Less: Non-current portion — other payables & : JERENEL D — E b fEA —F
for equity investment in an associate BenRRaRE 2R — (16,000)
Current portion REE D 180,532 150,889
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

note: The balances include the following items:

The borrowings from a third party company with outstanding principal
amounting to approximately RMB1,787,000 (2021: RMB1,635,000) and
accrued interest of RMB384,000 (2021: RMB254,000). The loan bore an
annual interest at 6% and is repayable on 2 December 2023.

The loans from a company which is ultimately held by Mr. Wang Peter
Jian's spouse, with outstanding principal amounting to approximately
RMB2,680,000 and accrued interest of approximately RMB7,000. The loans
bore an annual interest at 6% and are fully settled in February 2023.

As at 31 December 2021, the loans from Mr. Wang Peter Jian with
outstanding principal amounting to approximately RMB3,270,000 and
accrued interest of approximately RMB16,000. The loans bore an annual
interest 6% and are repayable on 27 April 2022. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the amount was fully settled.

The carrying amounts of the accruals and other payables are

Pt

FERBERIEE
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

32. BREARAEMENRE)

EHABENATIER

KE-—BEZFRATERIKREER
e BHOARK787,00L(=F
——%: AR¥1,63500070) R JERT
FBARK384,000T(ZE=—4F:
AR®254,0007T) - ZEREFEA
6% RBN-_ZE-_=F+-A-HE
%%o

TE-HRIBEEENEBERES
NARBRZABERSSBOAR
#2,680,0007T R EETFI BN AR
7,0007T c ZEREFNER6% RER
—TZ=F-_AEE-

R-ZZE-_—F+-A=+—H" %8B
IBRELERCRERETLEBOA
R 3,270,000t R EFTF B HAR
#16,0007C c ZERFHEH6% K
BR-ZZBZ_FNAZ+EREE-
HE-_T-_—_F+-A=+—HIF
B ZREBEIHEE -

BREMEAMENROKREENAT

denominated in the following currencies: FIEHEE -
(1
As at 31 December
R+=ZA=+—H

2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARETT
- RMB - AR 119,592 125,761
- HKD BT 60,940 41,128
180,532 166,889
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

33. BANK BORROWINGS 33.

(3

As at 31 December

R+=A=+-8H
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETFT
Non-current FRE
Long-term borrowing from RERITER - BRERER
a bank - Guaranteed and pledged (note b)  (Hff&Ehb) — 25,000
Long-term borrowing from RESRITER - BER (M)
a bank - pledged (note d) = 50,000
= 75,000
Current E
Short-term borrowing from RHRITER - ARERER
a bank - Guaranteed and pledged (note a)  (Fifita) 100,000 100,000
Current portion of long-term borrowing from KHEIRITERKREH D
a bank — Guaranteed and secured (note b)  — B{RE RIEM(KizIb) 72,000 50,000
Short-term borrowing from RHIRITER — ARERER
a bank — Guaranteed and pledged (note ¢)  (Pf#Ec) 98,000 100,000
Current portion of long-term borrowing from 2EJR/TEREREI LD —
a bank - pledged (note d) BEHHEEd) 82,000 60,000
Short-term borrowing from RHRITER - BARERER
a bank - Guaranteed and pledged (note e)  (Fifite) 100,000 100,000
452,000 410,000
Total borrowings EEEE 452,000 485,000

All bank borrowings were denominated in RMB as at 31 December
2022 and 2021.

262  TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

RZBE-—FR-_ZF-_—F+=A
=t+—H8 " BTARTEFTEUARE

HE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes:

(a)

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB100,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2022, and guaranteed
by the Company and was secured by the pledge of 35% of a subsidiary’s
and 7% of an associate’s equity interests. The interest rate was based on
the directive interest rate announced by the People’'s Bank of China Lhasa
Central Subbranch, which was at fixed interest rate 3.65%. According to
the loan agreement, borrowing amount of RMB100,000,000 is required to
be repaid on 10 October 2023.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB100,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2021, and guaranteed
by the Company and was secured by the pledge of 35% of a subsidiary’s
and 7% of an associate’s equity interests. The interest rate was based on
the directive interest rate announced by the People’s Bank of China Lhasa
Central Subbranch, which was at fixed interest rate 3.85%. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the borrowing was fully settled.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB75,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2021, and guaranteed
by a subsidiary of the Group and secured by the Group's factory plant and
land use rights. The interest rate was adjusted based on LPR announced
by the People’s Bank of China Lhasa Central Sub-branch by adding 0.4%,
of which 2.0% interest is charged in advance, which will be refunded
when the relevant authority in the Chinese Central government refund
the interest allowances to the lender. According to the loan agreement,
borrowing amount of approximately RMB25,000,000, RMB25,000,000
and RMB25,000,000 are required to be repaid on 21 January 2022, 21
July 2022 and 18 January 2023 respectively. Accordingly, borrowing
amount of RMB50,000,000 was recorded as current liability and amount of
approximately RMB25,000,000 was recorded as non-current liability as at
31 December 2021.

(a)

FEMBmRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E

33. RITHERE)
(ERE

KEESEHARE100,000,0007T
MiEZAREE-_S-_—_&E+_A
=+—BIFEHES BEQRIR
HARE - WA — RN E A F35%K
PR — B A AR 7% MREEE
o FMERERFEARRITHEFR O
FURHEMERAE - REEA X
3.65% ° REERHZE  BEXABEA
R #100,000,000 CER =T ==F
+A+AaEE-

KEESEHARE100,000,0007T
WEZXARBE-_SE-_—%+=A
S+-BLLEEHES hAREIR
HRE - WA —FEHEAF35%H
iR —fBERNET7%MREED
FoRfZERPRARBITHESR
LDEARHEHERANE - AE T
K385% c HE-_T-_—HFE+-A
=t—-HILFE  ZEXE2PLE -

RERLEHARKT50000007T
MERARBEE T - —F+_A
=+—BILFEHES BAEE—
BB AARGERE  LUAAEES
BE R REELR o FIEER
BHRBEARBITHEROEZITLMHE
ERMIBREFEM0.4% ETHE -
HAELENKR20%FE SR HE
HARBFBEBASFIMERANRER A
BERRE BEEIBE EXS
284 A R # 25,000,000 AR
25,000,0007T & A R #25,000,000
TARBERZ-ZTE_ZF—A=+—
H - ZZZZftA=-+—HEKZ=Z
Z=F—A+tNBEE- At A=
TZ-—F#+-F=+—0 28AA
% 50,000,000 THIEFRF ARE &
&+ 49 AR # 25,000,000 T 6 5K IB I
RIERBEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRRE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z2-C

FTZA=T-RLEFRE

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

264

notes: (continued)

(b)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

(continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group repaid the borrowing
amount of approximately RMB3,000,000. The remaining amount of
approximately RMB72,000,000 matured and fell due for repayment. The
Group renegotiated with the bank and extended the maturity date of the
loan to 18 January 2023. The amount of approximately RMB72,000,000
was settled subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

The balances include the following borrowings from banks:

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB100,000,000 was
newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2021, and guaranteed
by a subsidiary of the Group and was pledged by 15% of an associate’s
equity interests. The loan is at variable interest rate of 1.85% per annum.
According to the loan agreement, borrowing amount of RMB100,000,000 is
required to be repaid on 18 November 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group repaid the borrowing
amount of approximately RMB2,000,000. The remaining amount of
approximately RMB98,000,000 matured and fell due for repayment. The
Group renegotiated with the bank and extended the maturity date of the
loan to 10 May 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(d)

As at 31 December 2021, the outstanding borrowing amount of
approximately RMB110,000,000 was guaranteed by the Company and
was secured by the land use right of a third party. The interest rate will
be adjusted according to the LPR for one-year loan every twelve months
throughout the repayment period. According to the loan agreement,
unpaid principal of RMB20,000,000, RMB40,000,000 and RMB50,000,000
are required to be repaid on 15 March 2022, 15 August 2022 and 4
March 2023 respectively. Accordingly, borrowing amount of approximately
RMB60,000,000 was recorded as current liability as at 31 December 2021
and amount of approximately RMB50,000,000 was recorded as non-current
liability as at 31 December 2021.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group repaid the borrowing
amount of approximately RMB28,000,000. The remaining amount of
approximately RMB82,000,000 matured and fell due for repayment. The
Group renegotiated with the bank and extended maturity dates of the
loan amount of approximately RMB8,000,000 and RMB74,000,000 to 15
January 2023 and 4 March 2023 respectively. The amount of approximately
RMB82,000,000 was settled subsequent to the end of the reporting period.

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB100,000,000
was newly obtained during the year ended 31 December 2022 and was
secured by the pledge of 20% Shannan Yalaxiangbu's equity interests.
The interest rate was determined based on LPR announced by the People’s
Bank of China Lhasa Central Sub-branch, of which 2.0% interest is charged
in advance, which will be refunded when the relevant authority in the
Chinese Central government refund the interest allowances to the lender.
According to the loan agreement, unpaid principal of RMB30,000,000,
RMB30,000,000 and RMB40,000,000 are required to be repaid on 23
February 2023, 24 May 2023, and 20 June 2023 respectively.

(d)

FEMBmRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-E--F+-AS+-RAILEE
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2 {8 34 AR #110,000,000 7T A1 A&
NAREER TU—RF=F8+L
AR - REFRBHE —F
BHFIREREERTIBHREF
RGNEARTAE - REERH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

33. BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)
(e) (continued)

The outstanding borrowing amount of approximately RMB100,000,000
was guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Group and was secured by the
pledge of 20% Shannan Yalaxiangbu's equity interests. The interest rate
was determined based on LPR announced by the People’s Bank of China
Lhasa Central Sub-branch, of which 2.0% interest is charged in advance,
which will be refunded when the relevant authority in the Chinese Central
government refund the interest allowances to the lender. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, the amount was fully settled.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's bank borrowings
were repayable as follows:

33. S|RITERGE)
His: ()

€ (#&)

AEESBEH AR ARE 100,000,000
ﬁaﬂ%?xEEZK%IE’J HLENEE
HIREE - DL TR & 0 20% AR
TEEH - FIRERPEARRITAE
HLEITAMHERTSRENRE
o EREENKR2.0%F 8 R
BARRENEBDIRERARETR
ERERRE -BE-ZT-_-F1+=
A=+t—BILFE  ZHEEZ2H4

s
/B °

m—%——iﬁ_zz—¢+—ﬂ
=t-B AEERAERHER
o

@
As at 31 December
R+=ZBA=+—H

2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREBFIT
Within 1 year TR 452,000 410,000
Between 1 year and 2 years 1228 — 75,000
452,000 485,000
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34.

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONVERTIBLE BONDS - LIABILITY COMPONENT

The Company issued 5% convertible bonds with principal amount
of HKD379,620,000 (equivalent to RMB317,702,000) at a total
consideration of HKD379,620,000 (equivalent to RMB317,702,000) in
March 2021. The Convertible Bonds are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, unsecured and with interest calculated semi-annually. The
bonds entitle the holders to convert them into ordinary shares of the
Company at any time between the date of issue of the bonds and the
maturity date in March 2024 at a conversion price of HKD0.74 per
share (subject to anti-dilutive adjustments). The bonds can be early
redeemed upon certain events at the option of the bondholders or
the issuer. If the bonds have not been converted or redeemed, they
will be redeemed in March 2024 at par value plus accrued interest.

At initial recognition, the fair value of the liability component was
estimated at the issuance date using an equivalent market interest
rate for a similar bond without a conversion option. The residual
amount is assigned as the equity component and is presented in
equity heading "other reserve”. The early redemption option is
considered as closely related to the host debt. The effective interest

rate of the liability component is 7.69%.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Convertible Bonds
with the principle amount of HKD22,644,000 (equivalent to
RMB19,026,000) was converted into 30,600,000 new shares of the
Company at a conversion price of HKDO.74 per share.

The fair value of the liability component of the Convertible Bonds
at 31 December 2022 amounted to RMB342,379,000 (2021:
RMB341,213,000), which is calculated using cash flows discounted
at the rate of 10.51% (2021: 8.23%) and is within level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy.

34.

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E

TBRRES - AEHD

ARARZZEZ—F=ZA%1T48e
#379,620,000%8 (& N AR
317,702,0007T ) #)5% Al AR E % -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REUBBRRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

34. CONVERTIBLE BONDS - LIABILITY COMPONENT (CONTINUED)

268

The Convertible Bonds issued in 2021 have been split into the liability

and equity components as follows:

(3

34. MBRRESZ-BERD#)
RIFZ—FHETNABRBEFREK
NKEENESD W

RMB'000
ARETR
Nominal value of the Convertible Bonds E-E-—F08TIRRESFEEE

issued in 2021 317,702
Equity component B (22,848)
Liability component at the issuance date ZTRMEERSS 294,854
Interest expenses MEER 16,591
Interest paid/payable Bt/ EMAF B (11,530)
Conversion of the Convertible Bonds AERESRER (17,621)
Exchange alignment BE 5 R (6,610)
Liability component at 31 December 2021 RZBE-_—F+-_A=+—HAMAEDH 275,684
Interest expenses FEER 22,504
Interest paid/payable B/ TEMAF B (15,313)
Exchange alignment BE B 25,821
Liability component at 31 December 2022 RZB-ZF+-A=+-HHWEEHD 308,696
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35. SHARE CAPITAL
(Y

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-_—5+-A=1-BL%E

35. R&
Equivalent
Nominal nominal
Number of value of value of
ordinary ordinary ordinary
shares shares shares
ZREBR
EBRRHE EBEREE HE
(thousands) RMB'000 RMB’'000

(F8&) AR®T R AR®T R

Ordinary shares of HKDO0.01
each, issued and fully paid

Balance as at 1 January 2021

Share issued upon conversion
of Convertible Bonds

ERO0IBINZER
CEITRAZE
RZZE-—F—A—HH&EH® 2,568,893 25,689 21,363

BRATBBEFRETORN
30,600 306 255

Balance as at 31 December 2021

Share issued upon placing

RZF_—F+-A=1+—8H
R 2,599,493 25,995 21,618
B & 3T A0 12 AT RO AR ) (P EE)

of new shares (Note) 459,898 4,599 3,962
Balance as at 31 December 2022 R-Z-~"F+_A=+—HH
e 3,059,391 30,594 25,580
Note: BsE
On 21 July 2022, a total of 459,898,000 placing shares were successfully placed RZZE-_-—F+A=-+—8 A#
to not less than six placees at the placing price of HKD0.425 per placing share. 459,898,000 [RELE M EKNELE T DR
Further details were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 21 July 2022. NEEREA  BEEATRESMRMN0.425%

e BEHBHRARAARA-FT -
TtHAZt+—HHRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z__H+-A=t—HIFE

36.

270

SHARES HELD FOR SHARE AWARD SCHEME
(Y

36.

RROEBRBABZEORD

Number of
Ordinary shares

(thousands)
Egilie 4= RMB'000
(&) ARETT
Balance as at 1 January 2021, N-B-_—-H—-F—F -—8B=—F
31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 +ZB=+—-H -ZBZ-Z=f§
and 31 December 2022 —A—BR=-F=--%
TZ A=+ —-BH&ER 65,626 173,037

On 18 August 2017, the Group adopted a share award scheme for
purposes of (i) encouraging or facilitating the holding of Shares
by the Selected Participants; (ii) encouraging and retaining certain
individuals to work with the Group; and (iii) providing incentive for
the Selected Participants to achieve performance goals. Based on the
rules of the scheme, the Group may grant shares of the Company to
eligible participants in the future.

On 8 September 2017, the Group entered an agreement with the
Trustee to establish the Share Award Trust, where the Trustee may
purchase or subscribe ordinary shares of the Company on behalf
of the Group from the open market, based on the instructions of
the Group. The Share Award Trust is consolidated in the Group's
consolidated financial statements as a special purpose entity.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021,
the Group to any parties under the above mentioned share award

no share has been granted by

scheme.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

37. OTHER RESERVES 37. Hfuf#fs
e
Convertible
Statutory Currency Investment bonds-
Capital surplus translation revaluation equity
reserve reserve reserve reserve  component Total
EE TRRES
EAGE ERAEE  MBRERE  REEMRER -BxH% @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETTR ARETTR ARETTR ARETTR ARETR
(note (i) (note (ii) (note (iii) (note (v)) (note (iv))
(HEEE (1) (B¥E (i) (B (i) (W& (v) (¥ (v)
Balance at 1 January 2021 RIBZ-§-A-R0EH 32,847 185,498 (56,850) 601 - 162,096
Exchange differences on translation from s ERehnzs
functional currency to presentation currency EMMELZE - - 9,211 - - 9,211
Fair value change on financial assets at FVTOCI ~ HALEEEREEH:HA
E2ERENEREAEY
MMEERD - - - 16,216 - 16,216
Transfer of reserve upon disposal of RENAREBESEAAEY
financial assets at FVTOCI SARM2EREN LA
EEBNERESY - - - (16,817) - (16,817)
Convertible bonds - equity component TERES -EETH — — - - 22,848 22,848
Deferred tax arising from Convertible Bonds ThRESELNELHE — — — — (3,770) (3,770)
Shares issued upon conversion of ERmARERNETHRN
Convertible Bonds — — — — (1,161) (1,161)
Balance at 31 December 2021 and RZZZ-FTZA=1-4
1 January 2022 RZZ-Z%-A-AH
i 32,847 185,498 (47,639) - 17,917 188,623
Exchange differences on translation from (R Bt
functional currency to presentation currency  EMMENEH - - (36,512) - - (36,512)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RZB-Z&+ZA=t+-H
fEs 32,847 185,498 (84,151) — 17,917 152,111
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z__H+-A=t—HIFE

37.

272

OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

notes:

(i)

Capital reserve

Excess amounts contributed by shareholders on top of the share capital are
recorded as capital reserve. In addition, the reserve is used to record the
differences arisen as a result of transactions with non-controlling interests

that do not result in a loss of control, if any.
Statutory surplus reserve

According to the provisions of the articles of association of the PRC
subsidiaries, the PRC subsidiaries shall first set aside 10% of its profit
attributable to owners after tax as indicated in their statutory financial
statements for the statutory surplus reserve (except where the reserve
has reached 50% of the entity’s registered share capital) each year. PRC
subsidiaries may also make appropriations from its profit attributable to
shareholders to a discretionary surplus reserve, provided it is approved by a
resolution passed in a shareholders’ general meeting. These reserves cannot
be used for purposes other than those for which they are created and are
not distributable as cash dividends without the prior approval obtained
from the shareholders in a shareholders’ general meeting under specific

circumstances.

When the statutory surplus reserve is not sufficient to make good for any
losses of the PRC subsidiaries from previous years, the current year profit
attributable to the owners shall be used to make good the losses before any

allocations are set aside for the statutory surplus reserve.

The statutory surplus reserve, the discretionary surplus reserve and the
capital reserve of the PRC subsidiaries may be converted into share capital
of the PRC subsidiaries provided it is approved by a resolution passed in
a shareholders' general meeting and meets other regulatory requirements
with the provision that the ending balance of the statutory surplus reserve
does not fall below 25% of the registered share capital amount. As at 31
December 2022 and 2021, the reserve of the PRC subsidiaries has reached
50% of the entity's registered share capital.
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37.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OTHER RESERVES (CONTINUED)

notes: (continued)

(iii)

Currency translation reserve

Exchange differences arising from the difference between functional and
presentation currency are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the reserve.

Convertible bond-equity component

This represents the equity portion of the Convertible Bonds. The entity shall
transfer the part initially included in other reserve to share premium upon
expiry.

Investment revaluation reserve

The FVTOCI reserve represents cumulative gains and losses arising on the
revaluation of equity instruments at FVTOCI that have been recognised
in other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to retained
earnings when those equity instruments at FVTOCI are disposed of or are
determined to be impaired.

REUBBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

Hituf (&)
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(iv)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REUBBRRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

38.

274

SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of significant principal subsidiaries of the Group
as at 31 December 2022 and 2021:

Company name

AR
Indirectly held:
BEEE

Place of incorporation and
business/date

of incorporation/

of legal entities
HRRIREELE/
HRRIAS/ EREREY

Tibet Zhongji Jiahua Industry
Co., Ltd.
ERTBEZEEERARAT

Tibet Glacier Mineral Water
Co., Ltd.

ERKIBRkERAT
Beijing 5100 Management
Consulting Co., Ltd.

IRI-ERERAAERAA

Tibet Glacier Mineral Water
Marketing Co., Ltd.

ERKIBRKEHERAA
Tibet Tiandi Green Beverage

Development Co., Ltd.

BEAEERRERARAA

PRC/1 January 2004/
Limited liability company
78/-53mE-A-B/
BERAA

PRC/31 October 2005/
Limited liability company

P8/-FTRRETAZT-R/

ERAR
PRC/13 July 2007/
Limited liability company

hE/-FSLELATZA/  AR¥1,000,000%

ERAA
PRC/21 April 2010/
Limited liability company

hE/-F-FEMA-+-B/ AR¥3,000,000%

ERAA
PRC/28 April 2009/
Limited liability company

h8/—ERNERAZTAR/

NG

Issued/paid-in capital

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD. | ANNUAL REPORT 2022

BR{T/BERA
2022 2021
—ECCE “E--f
USD16,000,000  USD16,000,000
16,000,000%7%  16,000,000% 7T
RMB118,000,000  RMB118,000,000
ARH ARE
118,000,000 70 118,000,000 ¢
RMB1,000,000 RMB1,000,000
AR 1,000,000
RMB3,000,000 RMB3,000,000
AEE3,000,0007C
RMB200,000,000  RMB200,000,000
ARE ARE
200,000,000 7% 200,000,000

38.

MEAR

JA =

FR-ZFE-—F+=-A

=+—B AEEEXRFENBRA
BB

Effective interest held

Principal activities

Bl AR IEEE
2022 2021
“E-CE CE--E

100% 100%  Investment holding
RERR

100% 100%  Water products
manufacturing and
sales and leasing
2 HERLEKER

100% 100%  Water products market
operation and management
KEmmEEEREE

100% 100%  Water products marketing,
promation, distribution
and relating
g B AHR
2EkEm

100% 100%  Beer manufacturing
and sales
EREEREE



38. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
(Y

Company name

Place of incorporation and
business/date

of incorporation/

type of legal entities

ERRIREELE/
AL ifEL A/ FERREY
Indirectly held:
BRER
Wealth Keeper Limited Hong Kong/30 October 2012/
Limited liability company
Wealth Keeper Limited B%/-F-“%th=tH/

Tibet 5100 Water Resources
(HK) Limited
B S100KER(BR)BRAA
Hong Kong Fairly Well
Capital Limited
BAAREERARAA

Center Faithful Limited

Tibet 5100 Water Resources Ltd.

AES100KERERAH

BRAT

Hong Kong/6 September 2013/
Limited liability company
B#/Z5-ZENARR/
BRAT

Hong Kong/23 May 2016/
Limited liability company
B#/-2-75RAZ1ZR/
BRAT

Hong Kong/2 January 2019/
Limited liability company
BE/-F-NE-AzB/
BRAT

British Virgin Islands/19
January 2006/Limited

liability company
ABRAEE/ZBENF
—ATNB/ERAH

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

38. KMBAR(E)

Issued/paid-in capital Effective interest held  Principal activities

BRI/ BERE Bl IEEY
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-CE -“§--% ZEB-Zf -EZ--£
HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
187 1B 100% 100% RERK
HKD100 HKD100 100% 100%  Investment holding
10087 10077 RERK
HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Lending service
1#7 AT HERH
HKD1 HKD1 100% 100%  Investment holding
187 1787 RERR
UsD1,000 UsD1,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
1,000%% 1,000%7 RERR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REUBBRRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 39. REREINERIA
The Group holds the following financial instruments: AEERETIIERIA :
(3

As at 31 December

R+=—RA=+-—8H
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARBFT
Financial assets CRHEE
Financial assets at amortised cost B A ENEREE
— Trade receivables —EKREHHR 190,499 254,657
— Other financial assets at —DERKAGT ENEMEREE
amortised cost 980,228 986,887
- Cash and cash equivalents -BeRReEEY 58,147 53,818
Financial assets at FVTPL UARBEFEBEEZSFA
BREMTREE — 2,000
1,228,874 1,297,362
Financial liabilities cHas
Financial liabilities at amortised cost NEHKAGTTENSRAE
~ Trade and notes payables —-ENEIRRENER 246,918 277,923
— Accruals and other payables — TR B A REMERNK 161,628 144,244
- Bank borrowings —RITIE 452,000 485,000
~ Lease liabilities —-HE8E 788 —
— Convertible bonds - —ABRRESF -AEHH
liability component 308,696 275,684
1,170,030 1,182,851
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40. SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH TRANSACTION

41.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the consideration for

investment accounted for using the equity method of total amount of
RMB54,000,000 were off-settled by amounts due from third parties
based on the settlement agreement between the Group and the third

party.

NET DEBT RECONCILIATION

This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the movements in

net debt for each of the periods presented.

(4

40.

41.

REUBBRRME
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-_—5+-A=1-BL%E

EXERERS

BE-T-__#H+-A=1T—HL#HF
B REASREEE=TRNEER
& RAERZARNBREREBER

AR#54,000,000 c 2 EHEWE =
FHEIE e

BRFREE R

REEHHNEEFENDOT RS 25
IR F R E

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-RA=T-HLEE

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 28)
Borrowings — repayable within

one year (Note 33)
Borrowings — repayable after

one year (Note 33)
Borrowings from third parties (Note 32)
Convertible bonds - liability component
Lease liabilities (Note 15)

Re RS EEM(IE28)
B — AR —FREE (M 33)

R — AR — FREE (MR 33)

rNa

F=H R (HE32)
AR ES - REED
HERE(HE15)

Net debt

&% FE

2022 2021
—E-F B
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREF T
58,147 53,818
(452,000) (410,000)
= (75,000)

(4,857) (5,175)
(308,696) (275,684)
(788) —
(708,194) (712,041)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

41. NET DEBT RECONCILIATION (CONTINUED) 41. EEZBEEERE)
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising TR AEEREETDELENEE
from financing activities. Liabilities arising from financing activities NEBHE REZDHELENEED
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, EREMEXARRBRNAEELSR
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash EMERPHIERREETHRSAH
flows from financing activities. RemEmasE-
(4
Borrowings
Bank  from third Convertible Lease
borrowings parties Bonds liabilities Total
RITER  B=HRER  TARES HEASE @gt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TR AR®TR ARETR ARET:R

Balance at 1 January 2021 WZE-—F—HA—H
AR (610,000) (301,825) — (147) (911,972)
Cash flows Rene 125,000 296,681 (317,702) 150 104,129
Conversion of the Convertible BRABRES
Bonds — — 17,621 — 17,621
Foreign exchange adjustments M A — 4,239 6,610 — 10,849
Other non-cash movements Hi IR € m e — (4,270) 17,787 3) 13,514
Balance at 31 December 2021 R_Z=——F
and 1 January 2022 +ZA=+—H
k—F-—F—H—H
EOFeT o (485,000) (5,175) (275,684) = (765,859)
New lease entered ¥TEIAEA — — — (1,270) (1,270)
Cash flows RenE 33,000 6,241 — 557 39,798
Foreign exchange adjustments &5 RE = (448) (25,821) (31) (26,300)
Other non-cash movements HtIER LR = (5,475) (7,191) (44) (12,710)

Balance at 31 December 2022 R-E=-=F
+ZB=+—-BM&Es (452,000) (4,857) (308,696) (788) (766,341)
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE 42.

COMPANY

(@) Statement of financial position

(4

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RAMBERRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

ARBAHBRARRIEE

(a) HMBRRE

As at 31 December

R+t=BA=+-H
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFTT
Non-current asset FRBEE
Interest in subsidiaries NGNS O 1,477,375 1,223,791
Current assets REEE
Cash and cash equivalents ReFReEEY 8,705 286
Prepayment R FIE 2,742 4,307
Total current assets RENEEBE 11,447 4,593
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables H A TR 44,636 16,935
Total current liabilities REBEEE 44,636 16,935
Net current liabilities REEETE (33,189) (12,342)
Total assets less current liabilities BEEHAERRBEARE 1,444,186 1,211,449
Non-current liabilities *RBEE
Convertible bonds - liability component [k &% — BEIHH 308,696 275,684
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIEEE 1,700 2,686
Total non-current liabilities FREBEEHEE 310,396 278,370
Net assets EERE 1,133,790 933,079
Capital and reserves EARR#E
Share capital [N 25,580 21,618
Reserves 4 1,108,210 911,461
Total equity R 1,133,790 933,079
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

HE-Z-_—5+-A=t-HL%E

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE OF THE 42.
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

FARMBRR R RIAEE)

MBRRER(E)

(a) Statement of financial position (continued) (a)

280

note: Movement in the Company'’s reserves

iE AATEERD

e
Shares held
for share
Share award Other  Accumulated
premium scheme reserves losses Total
REE HESEORG At RitEE EH)
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET TR ARET T ARET TR NS ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2021 RZBZ—5—-A-BNEH 1,225,214 (173,037) 23,278 (146,889) 928,566
Loss for the year ENEE - — — (31,503) (31,503)
Exchange differences on translation R EBAEE
from functional currency RIEBHELER
to presentation currency — - (22,290) - (22,290)
Total comprehensive loss 2HEREAE — — (22,290) (31,503) (53,793)
Convertible bonds - equity component AR ES —EXTH — — 22,848 — 22,848
Deferred tax arising from THREFEENELHE
Convertible Bonds — - (3,770) - (3,770)
Share issued upon conversion ERARRESRETHRD
of Convertible Bonds 18,771 — (1,161) — 17,610
Balance at 31 December 2021 and AZZZ—4+ZA=+-H
1 January 2022 RZZZZ§-f-H
igkess 1,243,985 (173,037) 18,905 (178,392) 911,461
Loss for the year ENEE = — — (56,546) (56,546)
Exchange differences on translation EVIEA Sk
from functional currency RIEBHERER
to presentation currency = = 90,251 = 90,251
Total comprehensive loss 2HERAT — — 90,251 (56,546) 33,705
Placing of new shares =) 164,405 - — — 164,405
Transaction costs attributable to RERRDEENR KA
placing of new shares (1,361) = = = (1,361)
Balance at 31 December 2022 RoB-Zf
+ZAZ+-BNER 1,407,029 (173,037) 109,156 (234,938) 1,108,210
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

(E-T-E+-A=+-ALERE

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 43. EBEARER
(@) Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (a) EBERTFETHAEME
The remuneration of each Director and the chief executive for REEZRFETBABREZE-ZT
the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below: TZF+-R=+—HLFEN
LI T
(4
Salary, Employer's
allowance, contribution

and benefits Discretionary  to benefit

Name e Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
e 2R
e ENEF A HE LSS @it

RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETR ARMTR AR®TR ARMTR ARETR

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yan Qingjiang BBk — 1,433 113 15 1,561
Mr. Chow Wai Kit (note vi) R 5 2 (Bt vi) — 1,416 113 15 1,544
Mr. Cheng Sing Gwan (note vii) ~ BP$57R 55 4 (B & vii) — 1,035 83 10 1,128
Chief executive Officer THAR
Mr. Wang Dong IELE — 1,292 — 15 1,307
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Jiang Xiaohong FRILT 854 — — — 854
Mr. Xie Kun (note viii) 8 (i eE viii) — = = — =
Mr. Wei Zheming (note ix) REREE(Fiix) = — — — -
Independent Non-executive BUFYTES

Directors
Mr. Tang Zeping (note v) ERT LA () 231 — — — 231
Mr. Lo Wai Hung (note iv) EEHLEE MY 513 — — — 513
Mr. Dai Yang (note v) g5 5E (M) 239 - - - 239
Mr. Lin Ting (note x) WEL T (Fx) 62 — — — 62
Dr. Zhang Chunlong (note x) wAEEBL(MFX) 1,186 — — 8 1,194

3,085 5,176 309 63 8,633
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 43. EBEARERE)
(@) Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (continued) (a) EERFETHAEME(Z)
The remuneration of each Director and the chief executive for REEZRFETBABREZ-ZT
the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out below: Z—F+ZA=T—BILFEH
LI T
(4
Salary, Employer's
allowances, contribution

and benefits  Discretionary to benefit

Name jiE2 Fee in kind bonuses scheme Total
e 2ER
e EWEF BB SRS @5t

RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETT ARETR

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Yan Qingjiang S — 1,054 134 15 1,203
Mr. Yue Zhigiang (note i) F e (i) — 623 — — 623
Chief executive Officer THAR
Mr. Wang Dong FREE — 1,256 — 15 1,271
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Jiang Xiaohong ZRIRT 827 — — — 827
Mr. Wei Cheng Kevin (note iii) Eip S5 (B eEiin) — 498 — — 498
Independent Non-executive BUKHTES

Directors
Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement (note i) E@E £ (M) 231 — — — 231
Mr. Tang Zeping (note v) BERTAE (M) 496 — — — 496
Mr. Lo Wai Hung (note iv) EEESE(FEiv) 117 — — — 117
Mr. Dai Yang (note v) 5% E (M) 455 — — — 455

2,126 3,431 134 30 5721
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive's emoluments (continued)

notes:

(@)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Mr. YUE Zhigiang retired as executive Director on 30 June 2021.

Mr. Hung Ka Hai Clement retired as independent non-executive
Director on 30 June 2021.

Mr. Wei Cheng Kevin retired as non-executive Director on 30 June
2021.

Mr. Lo Wai Hung was appointed as independent non-executive
Director on 28 September 2021.

Mr. Tang Zeping and Mr. Dai Yang retired as independent non-
executive Directors on 30 June 2022.

Mr. Chow Wai Kit was appointed as executive Director with
effect with 1 January 2022. The emolument shown above was the
aggregate amount of RMB250,000 for his services as a Director and
RMB1,294,000 for his services as a Company Secretary.

Mr. Cheng Sing Gwan was appointed as executive Director on 25
May 2022.

Mr. Xie Kun was appointed as non-executive Director with effect
with 1 January 2022.

Mr. Wei Zheming was appointed as non-executive Director on 25
May 2022.

Ms. Lin Ting and Dr. Zhang Chunlong were appointed as independent
non-executive Director on 8 July 2022.

FEMBmRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E

43, EEENRERE)

(a) EBRIETBAEME(E)
P st -

() EEBLER-_Z=-—FXA
ZtHERARTES -

(i HEEELER-_Z=_—F5XA
“THEABUFRTES -

(i) BREEN-Z=-—FXA
T HEIHNMTES -

vy EEEEER-_FT-_-F1A
T NREZERBIFRT
=

v) EEFLERIBAER-Z
——HERNA=ZTHERMEBEIIE
HWITES -

vy AERBLTEEZABATE
£ RZITZ=F-A—HE
Mo FlME BEEENRE
i< A AR®E250,000T KA
ARENREHMEAARKE
1,294,000TTH) 48 %8 -

(vii BHREER-_ZT-_—_FAHHA
“t+RAEZTANTES -

(vii) HELEEZTAIENTE
T RZEZ=ZF—-AF—H&%
-

Il

(ix) BREPFLER-_Z-__FHA
T+ HARZEAERITE
$o

X HEZIRREEELN-F
T CFEANBEZRERBY
FHRITES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FEMBRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z__H+-A=t—HIFE

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

284

(a)

(b)

TIBET WATER RESOURCES LTD.

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors
or the chief executive of the Group or the five highest paid
employees or senior managements as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the non-director, highest paid employees and senior
management waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. There was no
arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to waive
any remuneration during the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the five highest
paid individuals, including Directors, as an inducement to
join the Group or as compensation for loss of office other
than those disclosed above. In addition, during the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no directors waived any
emoluments.

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no retirement
benefits operated by the Group were paid or made, directly
or indirectly, to or receivable by a director in respect of his
services as a director or other services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries
(2021 nil).

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

43, EEENRERE)

(a)

(b)

ESRTETBRAEME(Z)
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TZA=T—BLLEE ' ~5EF
FEAENESSIASEFET
BABESAAGERFMEI LS
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EIREREEEREXRER
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—E-F+ZA=+—HLF
B MEFT AR %H  BFE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

43. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(9

(d)

(e)

(f)

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no payments or
benefits in respect of termination of director's services were
paid or made, directly or indirectly, to or receivable by a
director; nor are any payable (2021: nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making available
directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2022, no consideration
was provided to or receivable by third parties for making
available director’s services (2021: nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of
directors, controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities
(2021: nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or
contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group's business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year (2021: nil).

(0)

(d)

(e)

(f)

FEMBmRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E

43, EEENRERE)

EZBBEAN
BE-T-__%+-H=+—H
HFE BERESRERLE
B EE R E S RN SEL ER
RIESEF - EFTEEKKRIE
SEMREMENK(ZEZ—
FmE)o

HEERBEHAE=FEHNRE
BE-T-__%+-H=+—H
HEE YEAEERERAE=
FREAE  F=AMEERR
B(ZEZ—F:|)-

ERUEE  EE23E5ZE
LHEERASRANER £
EXRHEMRZNER

BENES EF 2 2EHEE
m ARER - &
ERIEMRF(ZE—F:

=
it
i}
i
X
)

EENRE  RUREHMNEKX
i
RERSAERTAERE - HE
BEARRHERTH A AARAT
EENETHRBERNERZ(TH
EERSEE)NEEBEKER
MEARS THRAN(ZE
ZF |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

44. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@) Capital commitments
As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, capital expenditures
contracted for but not yet incurred were as follows:

44, EENHAREE

(a)

BARMRGE
RZEZ—FR-_F-_—F+—
A=+—8 CiIYBEHRREE
ZEARIWT ¢

(3
Year ended 31 December
BE+t-A=t—-HLEE
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R ARETT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB R&E 4,959 45,327
Equity investment BRRE — 16,000
4,959 61,327
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

44, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Contingent liabilities

The Group provided financial guarantee net amounting to
RMB265,000,000 to an associate as at 31 December 2022
(2021: RMB280,000,000). The guarantee was provided for
bank borrowings obtained by the associate in the amount of
RMB135,000,000 and for bank acceptance note in the net
amount of RMB130,000,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
RMB150,000,000 bank borrowings and RMB130,000,000
bank acceptance note). The period of the guarantee for net
amount RMB160,000,000 is from 13 October 2022 to 13
October 2023 (2021: RMB160,000,000 is from 26 October
2021 to 25 October 2022). The period of the remaining
guarantee amounting to RMB105,000,000 is from 15 July 2021
to 15 July 2024 (2021: remaining guarantee amounting to
RMB120,000,000 is from 15 July 2021 to 15 July 2024).

FEMBmRMT
For the year ended 31 December 2022
HE-Z-__#1+-A=1+-HI%E

44, EENBAREEE)

(b)

BREAEFRBRAR | F3R 2022

BREE
RZEZZF+=-A=+—8H"
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280,000,0007T) ° ZERTY A
T+ A=T—HE
ENRIMBHRITERARKE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

45.

288

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are those parties that have the ability to control the

other party or exercise significant influence in making financial and
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they

are subject to common control.

45. BBARS
RARS T R IERE IR B — R H B
BRERERREMERTEMAL -

HREEHERTRE AR -

(@) Transactions with related parties (a) EEBEHENRS
( 4
Year ended 31 December
BZE+-A=t+—HLEE
2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFTT
Revenue RETHIFIEHBA
— Rental income from associates —REE2ARNHESKA 6,744 6,749
- Sales of raw materials and — SN R EKER
consumables used of water BT A R B R R
products to associates 6,032 —
- Sales of water products to —HEKEMmT—HBE AT
an associate 12,198 34,269
- Sales of beer products to —HEBRBRER T —HBELQF
an associate 1,315 —
Purchase of raw materials and BEASUNEIE =0 REY5E =)
consumables from associates 155,992 189,019
Financial guarantee for —EEE R BB RER (N 44(b))
an associate (Note 44(b)) 265,000 280,000

Above were the transactions between the Group and associates
including Highland Natural Water, Fudi Packaging and Life
Water Marketing. The transactions were based on agreed terms

among the parties involved.

19 7€ B IR SRAETT o
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45.

‘

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-—F+-A=t+—HIEE

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 45. BEARZ(#&)
(b) Balances with related parties: (b) ERBEEESHIEER .
The balances with related parties are as follows: HEBANEHRNT
(3

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-HLHFE

2022 2021
—E--F —E-—F
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Prepayment
- Fudi Packaging
- Life Water Marketing

B HIE
— B e 91,176 50,584
— a2 IKE G 451 —

91,627 50,584

Trade receivables
- Life Water Marketing

FEWE S
— a2 IKE 1,929 —

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Amounts due from associates:
- Fudi Packaging
- Highland Natural Water

Dividend receivables from an associate:
- Highland Natural Water (Note 25)

DESR A ENEMSREE

JEWtBsE & A B RO ¢

— R — 2,502
—mRRAK 13,551 —
U & D RIS

—mRARAK(HIEE25) 34,805 48,452

48,356 50,954

Trade payable
- Fudi Packaging
- Life Water Marketing

AN N
—BHeE — 21,272
— 2 KE 2,504 —

Other payable
- Life Water Marketing

H b 5108
—EmZKEH 14,500 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REUBBRRMT

For the year ended 31 December 2022

BE-Z-_F+-A=1+—-HI%E

45. RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 45.

() Key management compensation
The compensation paid/payable to key management is shown

BELXS (&)

() EREBASEHM
B/ BRNEZEEE AL SR

below: 25T
(3
Year ended 31 December
BE+=-BA=1t—BHLEE
2022 2021
—E-F B
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFIT
Salaries and other short-term e REMEHESERN
employee benefits 8,633 6,975
46. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 46. BEMEEE

The Company's rights issue of up to 1,019,797,000 rights shares (the
"Rights Share(s)") at the subscription price of HKD0.385 per Rights
Share on the basis of one (1) Rights Share for every three (3) existing
Shares held by the qualifying shareholders (the “Rights Issue”) was
completed on 30 January 2023, and an aggregate of 1,019,797,000
new shares had been allotted and issued by the Company. As at 30
March 2023, the Company's number of issued ordinary shares was
4,079,188,000.

47. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 47.

The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board
and authorised for issue on 30 March 2023.
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Glossary

In this annual report, unless the context otherwise requires, the following

expressions shall have the following meanings:

“Allowance for “ECL" on
financial assets”

“Audit Committee”

“Board”

“Central Pension Scheme”

“CG Code”

"CGUS"

“China” or "PRC"

“CIP”

“CObDM”

“Company Secretary”

“Company”

Allowance for expected credit loss on
financial assets;

the audit committee of the Company;

the board of Directors;

a central pension scheme operated by the

local municipal governments;

the Corporate Governance Code set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules;

the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units);

the People’s Republic of China which,
for the purpose of this annual report,
excludes Hong Kong, the Macau Special
Administrative Region of the People’s
Republic of China and Taiwan;

Construction-in-progress;

the chief operating decision maker;

the company secretary of the Company;

Tibet Water Resources Ltd. (FARI/K&ERE
[k ~2@]), a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 8 November 2010 as an
exempted company and the issued Shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange;

‘

DEFINITIONS

il
AE
HERFRA  BXESEAEI) - To7A%E
BENTHZ -

[ERMEEEHEE cREERYEER

ER R ] B
300 NTE eSS
[E%8 Exg:
[PREARSTE]  WHTBRFRILAS

RIEARBETE

LR BB 8% 14 FTE
BERERTR

[REeELBM] ReELEM(RRE
EEBRAR)

[ El REARKME 3
AEHME TEE
B PEARAM
BRI 45 5l 1T B I

AN =3
A=

[ERIR
[EBEBREE] EBOBREE
[ARRE)
T EHOKERERA
A -HR=E-F
F+—ANBREE
REEMRLHER

enE - HEHITK
o B R P E AR E

m

AHKERERAT | £ 2022 291



—

DEFINITIONS
AR

“Conceptual Framework”

“Convertible Bonds”

“Defined Contributions

Scheme”

"Director(s)”

“Financial assets at “FVPL

“Financial assets at “"FVTOCI""

“Fudi Packaging”

“Great Wall 5100

“Green Tiandi Marketing”

“Group”

“GT Express”

“Highland Natural Water”

292

"

the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting issued by International
Accounting Standards Board in March
2018;

5% convertible bonds with principal

amount of HK$379,620,000 (equivalent to
RMB317,702,000);

the MPF Scheme and the Central Pension
Scheme;

the director(s) of the Company;

Financial assets at fair value through profit

or loss;

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income;

Tibet Fudi Natural Beverage Packaging Ltd.;

Great Wall 5100 Technology Co., Ltd.;

Green Tiandi Food Marketing (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd.;

the Company and its subsidiaries;

GT Express (Beijing) Information Technology

Co., Ltd.;

Tibet Highland Natural Water Limited,;
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“HKD"

“HKICPA"

“HKSAs"

“HLB"

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”

or “Stock Exchange”

“Hong Kong” or “"HKSAR"

"|ASB"

“IASs”

“IFRSs”

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Rules”

“LPR"

“Mingzhu 5100”

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong;

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants;

Hong Kong Standards on Auditing;

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants;

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited;

the Hong Kong Special Administrative

Region of the People’s Republic of China;

International Accounting Standards Boards;

International Accounting Standards;

International Financial Reporting Standards;
24 April 2023, being the latest practicable
date prior to the printing of this circular

for ascertaining certain information in this
Annual Report;

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

on the Stock Exchange;

Loan Prime Rate;

Guangzhou Mingzhu 5100 Drinking Water
Co., Ltd;
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“MPF Scheme”

“Nomination Committee”

"PPRE"

"PRC subsidiaries”

“Remuneration Committee”

“Reporting Period”

“Risk Management

Committee”

"RMB”

“SFO"

“Shannan Yalaxiangbu”

“Share Award Trust”

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)”

“Tibet Life Water
Marketing”

Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefit scheme;

the nomination committee of the Company;

Property, plant and equipment;

the Group's subsidiaries located in PRC;

the remuneration committee of the

Company;

the year ended 31 December 2022;

the risk management committee of the

Company;

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC;

the Securities and Futures Ordinance,

Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong;

Tibet Shannan Yalaxiangbu Industrial Ltd.;

share award scheme trust;

ordinary share(s) of HKD0.01 each in the

capital of the Company;

holder(s) of Share(s);

Tibet Life Water Marketing Co., Ltd;
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“Trustee”

“usb”

“Water Cards Sales
Arrangement”

"o

"y

Bank of Communications Trustee Ltd.;
United Stated dollars, the lawful currency
of United Stated;

arrangement under which sales of water
products to certain distributors or end
customers are made in form of water cards

per cent; and

for identification purpose only.

References to time and dates in this Annual Report are to Hong Kong time

and dates.

* The English names of the PRC entities, PRC laws or regulations, and the PRC

governmental authorities referred to in this annual report are translations

from their Chinese names and are for identification purposes. If there is any

inconsistency, the Chinese names shall prevail.
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"Protect Shanghai” Specialized Activity of Anti-pandemic and Relief
[F# LB INBEREETH

During the pandemic, 5100 joined hands with the Shanghai Beauty Health Industry Association to join
the “Protect Shanghai” specialized activity of anti-pandemic and relief to provide much-needed supplies
to the frontline staff of the Fudan University Paediatric Hospital and delivered Tibet 5100 glacier mineral
water to the frontline staff working on the anti-pandemic.

EREHR  S1008F LETXBERFEXHBEMA [FELE] ARERFERTY RESRBEHER
RiEfr — i TIEABRESFYWE - 15785851007k IR K RE 5] T EPIE —RMME R IE
AB -
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5100 joined hands with the Shanghai Military
Support Charity Foundation to launch military
support activities

S100BF LETREREARESS  RRAE
EREEY
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